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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. We intend such forward-looking statements to be covered by the safe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements contained in
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”). All statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K other than statements of historical fact, including
statements regarding our future operating results and financial position, our business strategy and plans, market growth, and our objectives for
future operations, are forward-looking statements. The words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “potential,” “continue,” “anticipate,” “intend,”
“expect,” “could,” “would,” “project,” “plan,” “target,” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements.
Forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K include, but are not limited to, statements about:
•

our future financial performance, including our expectations regarding our revenue, cost of revenue, gross profit, Adjusted EBITDA,
operating expenses, including changes in sales and marketing, general and administrative (including any components of the foregoing),
and research and development expenses, and our ability to achieve and maintain future profitability;

•

our business plan and our ability to effectively manage our growth;

•

anticipated trends, growth rates, and challenges in our business and in the markets in which we operate;

•

our international expansion plans and ability to continue to expand internationally;

•

anticipated release dates for new Connected Fitness Products and services;

•

actual or perceived defects in, or safety of, our products, including any impact of product recalls or legal or regulatory claims or
proceedings involving our products;

•

market acceptance of our Connected Fitness Products and services;

•

the expected outcome of legal proceedings or regulatory investigations;

•

beliefs and objectives for future operations;

•

our ability to increase sales of our Connected Fitness Products and services;

•

our ability to further penetrate our existing Subscription base and maintain and expand our Subscription base;

•

the completion and operation of the Peloton Output Park and the expected benefits of this or other manufacturing facilities;

•

the expected benefits of the acquisition of Precor Incorporated, a Delaware corporation ("Precor");

•

the effects of seasonal trends on our results of operations;

•

our expectations regarding content costs for past use;

•

our ability to maintain, protect, and enhance our intellectual property;

•

our ability to partner with third parties such as music licensors, service providers, and suppliers;

•

the effects of increased competition in our markets and our ability to compete effectively;

•

the direct and indirect impacts to our business and financial performance from the COVID-19 pandemic;

•

our ability to stay in compliance with laws and regulations that currently apply or become applicable to our business both in the United
States and internationally; and

•

economic and industry trends, projected growth, or trend analysis.

We caution you that the foregoing list may not contain all of the forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
We have based these forward-looking statements on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe
may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy, short-term and long-term business operations and objectives, and
financial needs. These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties, and assumptions and other factors that could
cause actual results to differ materially from those stated, including those described in the sections titled “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Part II, Item 7 and “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10K, as such factors may be updated in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC. Moreover, we operate in a very
competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for our management to predict all risks, nor
can we assess the impact of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to
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differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. In light of these risks, uncertainties, and assumptions,
the future events and trends discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K may not occur and actual results could differ materially and adversely
from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking statements. In particular, the impact of the current COVID-19 pandemic to economic
conditions and the fitness industry in general and our financial position and operating results in particular have been material, are changing
rapidly, and cannot be predicted.
You should not rely upon forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. The events and circumstances reflected in the forwardlooking statements may not be achieved or occur. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are
reasonable, we cannot guarantee future results, performance, or achievements. Our forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, and we undertake no obligation to update any of these forward-looking statements for any reason after the date of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K or to conform these statements to actual results or revised expectations, except as required by law.
You should read this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and the documents that we reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and have filed with
the SEC, with the understanding that our actual future results, performance, and events and circumstances may be materially different from what
we expect.
In this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the words "we," "us," "our," and "Peloton" refer to Peloton Interactive, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiaries,
unless the context requires otherwise.
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RISK FACTOR SUMMARY
Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, including those described in Part I, Item 1A, "Risk Factors" in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. You should carefully consider these risks and uncertainties when investing in our Class A common stock. Some
of the principal risks and uncertainties include the following:
•

We have incurred operating losses in the past, may incur operating losses in the future, and may not achieve or maintain
profitability in the future.

•

We may be unable to attract and retain Subscribers, which could have an adverse effect on our business and rate of growth.

•

If we are unable to anticipate consumer preferences and successfully develop and introduce new, innovative, and updated
products and services in a timely manner, or effectively manage the introduction of new or enhanced products and services,
our business may be adversely affected.

•

The market for our products and services is still in the early stages of growth and if it does not continue to grow, grows more
slowly than we expect, or fails to grow as large as we expect, our business, financial condition, and operating results may be
adversely affected.

•

We have a limited operating history and our past financial results may not be indicative of our future performance. Further, our
revenue growth rate is likely to slow as our business matures.

•

The full impact of the COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic, or COVID-19, is uncertain and cannot be predicted. The COVID-19
pandemic could worsen or its effects could be prolonged, including as a result of variants, which could have an adverse effect
on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.

•

Our products and services may be affected from time to time by design and manufacturing defects, real or perceived, that
could adversely affect our business and result in harm to our reputation.

•

From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings, regulatory investigations or disputes, and governmental inquiries
that could cause us to incur significant expenses, divert our management’s attention, and materially harm our business,
reputation, financial condition, and operating results.

•

We operate in a highly competitive market and we may be unable to compete successfully against existing and future
competitors.

•

We derive a significant majority of our revenue from sales of our Bike. A decline in sales of our Bike would negatively affect our
future revenue and operating results.

•

We rely on a limited number of suppliers, contract manufacturers, and logistics partners for our Connected Fitness Products. A
loss of any of these partners could negatively affect our business.

•

We have limited control over our suppliers, contract manufacturers, and logistics partners, which may subject us to significant
risks, including the potential inability to produce or obtain quality products and services on a timely basis or in sufficient
quantity.

•

We depend upon third-party licenses for the use of music in our content. An adverse change to, loss of, or claim that we do not
hold necessary licenses may have an adverse effect on our business, operating results, and financial condition.

•

Our success depends on our ability to maintain the value and reputation of the Peloton brand.
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PART I
Item 1. Business
Overview
Peloton is the largest interactive fitness platform in the world with a loyal community of over 5.9 million Members as of June 30, 2021.
We pioneered connected, technology-enabled fitness, and the streaming of immersive, instructor-led boutique classes to our Members
anytime, anywhere. We make fitness entertaining, approachable, effective, and convenient, while fostering social connections that
encourage our Members to be the best versions of themselves. We define a Member as any individual who has a Peloton account
through a paid Connected Fitness Subscription, or a paid Peloton Digital subscription.
We are an innovation company at the nexus of fitness, technology, and media. We have disrupted the fitness industry by developing a
first-of-its-kind subscription platform that seamlessly combines the best equipment, proprietary networked software, and world-class
streaming digital fitness and wellness content, creating a product that our Members love.
Driven by our Members-first mindset, we built a vertically integrated platform that ensures a best-in-class, end-to-end experience. We
have a direct-to-consumer multi-channel sales platform. We had 123 showrooms as of June 30, 2021, with knowledgeable sales
specialists, a high-touch delivery service, and helpful Member support teams.
Our world-class instructors teach classes across a variety of fitness and wellness disciplines, including indoor cycling, indoor/outdoor
running and walking, Bike and Tread bootcamps, yoga, Pilates, Barre, strength training, stretching, meditation, and floor cardio. We
produce hundreds of original programs per month and maintain a vast and constantly updated library of thousands of original fitness
and wellness programs. We make it easy for Members to find a class that fits their interests based on class type, instructor, music
genre, length, available equipment, area of physical focus, and level of difficulty.
Our revenue is primarily generated from the sale of our Connected Fitness Products and associated recurring Subscription revenue. We
have historically experienced significant growth in sales of our Connected Fitness Products, which, when combined with our low
Average Net Monthly Connected Fitness Churn led to significant growth in Connected Fitness Subscriptions. Our Connected Fitness
Subscription base grew by 114% in fiscal 2021.
Our compelling financial profile is characterized by high growth, strong retention, recurring revenue, and efficient subscription
acquisition. When we acquire new Connected Fitness Subscriptions, we are often able to offset our subscription acquisition costs with
the gross profit earned on our Connected Fitness Products. This allows for rapid payback of our sales and marketing investments and
results in a robust unit economic model.
We are a fast-growing and scaled fitness platform. For fiscal years 2021, 2020, and 2019:
•
•
•

We generated total revenue of $4,021.8 million, $1,825.9 million, and $915.0 million, respectively, representing 120% and 100%
year-over-year growth;
We recognized net losses of $(189.0) million, $(71.6) million, and $(195.6) million, respectively; and
Our Adjusted EBITDA was $253.7 million, $117.7 million, and $(71.3) million, respectively.

See Part II, Item 7 "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Non-GAAP Financial
Measures” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information regarding our use of Adjusted EBITDA and a reconciliation of net loss to
Adjusted EBITDA.
For fiscal years 2021, 2020, and 2019, key operational metrics of our business included:
•
•

Connected Fitness Subscriptions of 2,330,700; 1,091,100; and 511,200 respectively; and
Average Net Monthly Connected Fitness Churn of 0.61%; 0.62%; and 0.65%, respectively.

For a definition of Connected Fitness Subscriptions and Average Net Monthly Connected Fitness Churn, see the section titled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Key Operational and Business Metrics.”
Our Products
Connected Fitness Products
Bike
Our current Bike features a carbon steel frame, a nearly silent belt drive, durable magnetic resistance, and a 22” high-definition
touchscreen with built-in stereo speakers to stream live and on-demand classes, all in a compact, 4’ by 2’ footprint. Our Bike is available
in the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, Germany, and Australia.
Bike+
Our new Bike+ provides an immersive cardio experience and seamless transition to floor-based exercises with its 24”, 360 degree
rotating display. Members can easily pivot and tilt the screen to add strength, yoga, and stretching to their routine or take our all new
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Bike Bootcamp class series. Resistance on Bike+ is controlled digitally allowing Members to “Auto Follow” their instructors’ class
programs and control resistance from the touchscreen. A powerful built-in soundbar and subwoofer system offers an improved audio
experience while the integrated Apple GymKit simplifies Apple Watch pairing. Bike+ is currently available for purchase in the United
States, Canada, the United Kingdom, Germany, and Australia.
Tread
The newest addition to our Tread line has all the essential elements of the Tread+ experience but in a more affordable and compact
form factor – maintaining ample running surface area and runner comfort. The Tread features a sleek belt drive, 24” touchscreen with
integrated soundbar and subwoofer, and ergonomic pace and incline control knobs and jump buttons. With an immersive audio and
video experience and heart rate monitor integration, Peloton Tread is designed for both on-Tread as well as floor-based bootcamp
content. Tread is currently available for purchase in the United States, Canada, and the United Kingdom, and will be available for
purchase in Germany in Fall 2021.
Tread+
Tread+ features a shock-absorbing rubber-slat belt and ball bearing system, ideal for low-impact training. Pace and incline ergonomic
control knobs allow for seamless adjustments, and the 32” high-definition touchscreen features a 20-watt sound bar. Tread+ had only
been available for sale in the United States, however, on May 5, 2021, we decided to issue a voluntary product recall on Tread+, which
we are conducting in collaboration with the Consumer Product Safety Commission ("CPSC"). At this time, we are not able to forecast a
date for sales to resume in the United States. See Part II, Item 1A "Risk Factors — Risks Related to Laws, Regulation, and Legal
Proceedings."
Subscriptions
Connected Fitness Subscriptions
Our Connected Fitness Subscriptions are on a month-to-month basis, allow for multiple household users, and provide unlimited access
to all live and on-demand classes. Our Connected Fitness Subscription allows Members to access classes through our Connected
Fitness Products, compete on our motivating leaderboard, track performance metrics, and connect and interact with the broader
Peloton community. Our Connected Fitness Subscription also includes access to our content through Peloton Digital, our digital app,
which is available through iOS and Android mobile devices and most tablets and computers. On average, we had 2.2 Members per
Connected Fitness Subscription as of June 30, 2021.
Peloton Digital
Peloton Digital began as a companion app for Connected Fitness Subscriptions to provide access to our classes while our Members
were away from their Connected Fitness Products. A Peloton Digital Subscriber is an individual who has a paid Peloton Digital
subscription with a successful credit card billing.
Peloton Digital is included with all Connected Fitness Subscriptions. As of June 30, 2021, 69% of our Members on Connected Fitness
Subscriptions used Peloton Digital to supplement their workout regimen. Peloton Digital also helps us attract new Connected Fitness
Subscriptions by serving as an acquisition tool for new Members.
Peloton Digital workouts include indoor/outdoor running and walking, Bike and Tread bootcamps, yoga, Pilates, Barre, strength training,
stretching, meditation, and floor cardio. Our Members have shown strong interest in these new verticals; in fiscal 2021, 42% of workouts
completed were across non-cycling fitness verticals.
Our Vertically Integrated Fitness Platform
Technology
Our content delivery and interactive software platform are critical to our Member experience. We invest substantial resources in
research and development to enhance our platform, develop new products and features, and improve the speed, scalability, and security
of our platform infrastructure. Our research and development organization consists of world-class engineering, product, and design
teams. Our engineering, product, and design teams work together to bring our products to life, from conception and validation to
implementation. We constantly improve our existing Connected Fitness Products through frequent software updates, rapid iteration of
feature enhancements, and new innovations.
Our video streaming pipeline utilizes cloud providers for stream generation, storage, and distribution. The integration with these
providers is customized and developed by our engineering team and is designed to integrate with our product and systems. This
enables a high-quality Member experience and high availability of services across diverse consumer platforms and geographies.
Content and Music
We create engaging, original fitness and wellness content in an authentic live environment that is immersive and motivating while
encouraging a sense of community. We combine high production value content with a broad catalog of music to create a truly unique
fitness experience our Members love.
Content Development
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We use performance data to understand our Members’ workout habits in order to evolve and optimize our programming around class
type, length, music, and other considerations. We have developed a diverse content library with thousands of classes across an
extensive range of class lengths, difficulty levels, and fitness preferences ranging from fun and flexible to structured and highly
technical, all of which our Members easily access through filtering and search capabilities. As of June 30, 2021, we produce original
programs from our production studios in New York City and London, with 40 instructors, and across 11 fitness and wellness disciplines
including indoor cycling, indoor/outdoor running and walking, Bike and Tread bootcamps, yoga, strength training, stretching, meditation,
and floor cardio.
As we further expand internationally, we will develop localized content, as we have done in the United Kingdom and Germany where we
produce content featuring five British and three German instructors from our London studio. Most recently, we onboarded our first
Australian instructor, coinciding with the launch of our Australian operations. As we expand into other non-English-speaking countries,
we will produce classes in local languages from our existing studios and use subtitling for our English-speaking programming. We
currently produce our content in three languages: English, German, and Spanish.
Instructors
In front of the camera, our instructors play a critical role in bringing the Peloton experience to life for our Members. Our instructors are
not only authorities in their respective areas of fitness, but also relatable, magnetic personalities who inspire passionate followings. We
offer a diverse cast of instructors that allows us to appeal to a broad audience of Members. Our instructors inspire our Members offcamera by attending showroom openings and other Member-focused events, like Homecoming, where they meet and interact with our
Members. Our Members feel connected to our instructors and many Members travel long distances to take a live class at our Peloton
studios.
Production Team
Behind the camera, our studio production teams are dedicated to creative excellence. We have top production talent representing
decades of experience at major broadcast and cable networks, some of whom have won Emmy Awards for production excellence. Our
teams provide dedicated creative support to our instructors before, during, and after live productions with the help of content
performance data. All classes are shot in broadcast quality environments with a fraction of the staff and budget typical of a major
network show. This allows us to deliver a constant stream of live-produced, authentic fitness and wellness programming with cinematic
quality that provides clarity of instruction and entertainment value.
Music and Music Technology
We have developed a proprietary music platform that fuels the workout experience with thoughtfully curated playlists that align with our
Members’ musical preferences. As of June 30, 2021, we had over 2.6 million songs under license, representing one of the largest
audiovisual connected fitness music catalogs in the world. Our curated music is as diverse and dynamic as the Members we serve,
delivering a custom-fit-and-finish musical experience created by instructors and music supervisors on our production team.
We control the intersection of fitness and music in a deeply engaging way, motivating Members to achieve their fitness goals while
discovering great music in the process. Peloton is a discovery resource for new artists and songs while also providing the opportunity
for our Members to re-discover music they love. Members consistently rank the music we feature as one of their favorite aspects of the
Peloton experience. We believe we have taken a leading position in the fitness and wellness category by defining new standards for
musical content partnerships which include the development of our signature Artist Series to spotlight the legacy and catalog of some
of the biggest names in the industry, premiering new music exclusives available only on Peloton, and working with artists to co-curate
classes based on their own music or influences.
We have applied, and will continue to apply, technological solutions and an artist-centric partnership strategy to enhance our music
platform including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

data-driven playlist recommendations for our instructors and music supervisors to use in developing class plans;
instructor-facing song search and filtering functions, including the ability to search by song length and beats per minute;
real-time music and content management and reporting;
for Members, a display of every song played in a class, including artist name and associated artwork;
ability for Members to “like” songs they discover anywhere on our platform and save it to their profile;
integrations with Spotify and Apple Music, enabling Members to sync songs they hear on Peloton to their streaming service;
and
strengthening and leveraging artist partnerships on and off-platform for deeper membership engagement and heightened
brand profile.

Music Rights Strategy
We have built a world class music rights content management and reporting system to meet the needs of our music rights holders in
order to support our highly-engaged, growing global community. Peloton is increasingly seen by our partners as an impactful music
discovery platform, which has created opportunities to progressively and meaningfully enhance our classes with custom music
experiences. We expect this to continue as we invest in music-first technology to improve the quality of our Members’ experience,
strengthen our competitive advantage over other fitness platforms, and add value to our Members.
Sales and Marketing
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Our goal is to increase brand awareness and purchase intent for our Connected Fitness Products and Subscriptions. We use a unique
combination of brand and product-specific performance marketing to build brand awareness and generate predictable sales of our
Connected Fitness Products.
Video has been the strongest medium to communicate the features of the Peloton platform. We primarily market through
advertisements on broadcast and cable television, social media, and over-the-top providers such as Hulu and YouTube to reach our
target audience, focusing on incremental return on investment.
Direct to Consumer, Multi-Channel Sales Model
We sell our products directly to customers through a multi-channel sales platform that includes e-commerce, inside sales, showrooms,
and in a small number of cases, a "store within store" concept. Our sales associates use robust customer relationship management
tools to deliver an elevated, personalized, and educational purchase experience, regardless of channel of capture and conversion.
•

E-Commerce and Inside Sales: Our desktop and mobile websites, www.onepeloton.com, www.onepeloton.co.uk,
www.onepeloton.de, www.onepeloton.ca, and www.onepeloton.com.au provide an elevated brand experience where visitors
can learn about our products and services and access product reviews. Our inside sales team engages with customers by
phone, email, and online chat on our websites, and offers one-on-one sales consultations seven days a week.

•

Showrooms: Our showrooms allow customers to experience and try our products. We provide interactive product
demonstrations and many of our showrooms have private areas where customers can do a “test ride” or “test run.” We
frequently host Peloton community events in our showrooms, which help deepen brand engagement and loyalty.

•

Commercial: The commercial and hospitality markets represent a small percentage of sales but are important to driving trial
and brand awareness. Our Bikes in hospitality locations help keep our Members riding when they travel, creating further
Member engagement, loyalty, and convenience. Across our markets as of June 30, 2021, there were approximately 14,000
Peloton Bikes in over 7,000 commercial locations.

•

Corporate Wellness: Our Corporate Wellness program provides employers, insurers, and other partners with the opportunity to
offer their employees and Members subsidized access to Peloton Digital subscriptions, All Access Memberships, and/or
Connected Fitness products and delivers on our oft-stated goal to make Peloton even more accessible.

Showroom Site Strategy
As of June 30, 2021, we operated 123 retail locations across the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, and Germany. Our retail
locations are located primarily in upscale malls, lifestyle centers, and premium street locations. When evaluating potential new markets,
we carefully examine historical sales data, key demographics, traffic patterns, geographic locations, and co-tenancy of other
complementary lifestyle-oriented retailers. In the United States, we attempt to cluster stores around major urban markets and suburbs
while also operating in super regional and regional centers that draw from a greater trade area. In Canada, Germany and the United
Kingdom, we will continue to focus on major urban markets.
We operate three retail formats including our large showrooms which range from 1,500 to 3,000 square feet and “microstores” which
are typically around 300 square feet. Large showrooms comprise 73% of our retail locations and provide space for Connected Fitness
Products and Peloton-branded apparel, as well as private areas for “test rides” and “test runs.” Microstores represent 15% of our retail
locations and are typically placed in highly visible “center court” areas. Concession stores represent 12% of our retail locations and
consist of a presence within a partner's retail space in the U.K. and Germany. Our large showroom leases are typically five to ten years
in lease duration while microstores are typically open for up to 1.5 years. Microstores allow us to test markets and specific shopping
areas, and provide a temporary location while searching for the ideal large showroom space.
As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, we were forced to close our global showrooms in accordance with local state and municipal
guidelines. Though all of our stores have reopened, we will continue to adhere strictly to applicable government protocols regarding
open-status, capacity limits and masking requirements. Should we face pandemic-related showroom closures in the future, our ecommerce and inside sales channels would allow us to remain open to continue to sell our Connected Fitness Products.
Membership & Member Support Services
The Membership team is focused on driving engagement to help us maintain our high Connected Fitness Subscription retention rates.
The team develops new ways to promote engagement with our products and community or help Members reengage with our platform
when activity has lapsed. The Membership team helps curate goal-based challenges, awards digital badges for Member
accomplishments, and sends Peloton-branded “Century Club” shirts after a Member’s 100th class. The team also communicates with
Members with no recent activity through email campaigns that help encourage these Members to get back to their workout routine. The
Membership team also collects and responds to feedback about our platform that is on our primary Facebook group of over 425,000
Members as of June 30, 2021.
In order to bring our community together, we organize several in-person events throughout the year including welcoming Members for
workouts, milestone celebrations, and instructor meet-and-greets at our production studios in New York City and London. We also host
Members at our showrooms, and celebrate our Members with our flagship Member event, Peloton Homecoming, held in New York City
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and remotely each May. All in-person events were cancelled due to the pandemic and will resume when safe to do so in accordance
with our global safety standards and in compliance with all applicable municipal ordinances.
The Member Support team was created to serve all the needs of our customers and Members including sales support, scheduling,
delivery, installation, account and billing inquiries, product trouble-shooting and repair, product education, returns and exchanges, and
anything else our Members need. This team primarily operates in Plano, Texas with additional presence in New York, New York, Tempe,
Arizona, and London, England. We also utilize third-party support services in Europe and North America to help us efficiently scale our
team.
Manufacturing and Logistics
We manufacture and assemble as well as outsource the manufacturing of our Peloton products to multiple contract manufacturers in
Asia. We have recently started to execute our plans to expand our manufacturing and assembly capabilities in North America with
facilities in Washington and North Carolina through the acquisition of Precor and our recently announced plans to build a
manufacturing facility in Ohio called Peloton Output Park. The components used in our products are sourced either directly by us or on
our behalf by our contract manufacturers from a variety of component suppliers. To continue to provide our Members with leading
fitness technology, our supply chain team coordinates the relationships between our contract manufacturers and component suppliers.
We regularly review our existing contract manufacturers and component suppliers, and evaluate new partners and suppliers, to ensure
that we can scale our manufacturing base as we grow.
We purchase from our primary contract manufacturers on a purchase order basis. Under our governing agreements, our contract
manufacturers must follow our established product design specifications, quality assurance programs, and manufacturing standards.
We have developed relationships with our partners to maintain access to the resources needed to scale seasonally and ensure our
partners have the requisite experience to produce our Connected Fitness Products and accessories. We pay for and own certain tooling
and equipment specifically required to manufacture our products to have control of supply and component pipelines.
In order to mitigate against the risks related to a single source of supply, we qualify alternative suppliers and manufacturers when
possible, and develop contingency plans for responding to disruptions, such as maintaining inventory of single source components or
utilizing alternative freight lanes that can have cost implications. However, given the current global supply and freight constraints driven
by the pandemic, as well as natural disasters, we face challenges with various manufacturing related component shortages.
Logistics and Fulfillment
To control every touchpoint of our product and service offering, we have built networks of last mile field operations centers, which have
further expanded from the United States into Canada, Germany, the United Kingdom and Australia. With locations in major markets of
North America and Europe as of June 30, 2021, our field operations team supports in-home delivery of our Connected Fitness Products
with professional high-touch set up service and ongoing in-home service and care. As highly trained experts on our products and
services, our field specialists offer product education, assistance with account set up, and tips and recommendations for product care
and content selection. As we grow our logistics network, we are able to efficiently service, deploy, and install replacement parts to our
Members over time.
With our commitment to our Members-first approach, we will continue to invest to strengthen our field operations’ coverage in locations
we identify as cost-effective delivery markets throughout North America and in new international regions. To further scale our
distribution system and maintain flexibility, we also work with third-party fulfillment partners that deliver our products from multiple
locations in the United States, Canada, the United Kingdom, Germany and Australia. Third-party fulfillment partnerships allow us to
reduce order fulfillment time, reduce shipping costs, and expand our geographical reach.
Intellectual Property
The protection of our technology and intellectual property is an important aspect of our business. We rely upon a combination of
patents, trademarks, trade secrets, copyrights, confidentiality procedures, contractual commitments, and other legal rights to establish
and protect our intellectual property. We generally enter into confidentiality agreements and invention or work product assignment
agreements with our employees and consultants to control access to, and clarify ownership of, our proprietary information.
As of June 30, 2021, we held 116 U.S. issued patents and had 83 U.S. patent applications pending. We also held 101 issued patents in
foreign jurisdictions and 139 patent applications pending in foreign jurisdictions. Our U.S. issued patents expire between November 20,
2021 and January 29, 2039. As of June 30, 2021, we held 42 registered trademarks in the United States, including the Peloton mark and
our “P” logo and also held 362 registered trademarks in foreign jurisdictions. We continually review our development efforts to assess
the existence and patentability of new intellectual property. We intend to continue to file additional patent applications with respect to
our technology.
Intellectual property laws, procedures, and restrictions provide only limited protection and any of our intellectual property rights may be
challenged, invalidated, circumvented, infringed, or misappropriated. Further, the laws of certain countries do not protect proprietary
rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States, and, therefore, in certain jurisdictions, we may be unable to protect our
proprietary technology.
Competition
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We believe that our first-mover advantage, leading market position, brand recognition, and vertically integrated platform set us apart in
the rapidly growing market for connected, technology-enabled fitness. We provide a superior value proposition and benefit from the
clear endorsement of our Connected Fitness Subscriptions, giving us a competitive advantage versus traditional fitness and wellness
products and services, and future potential entrants.
While we believe we are changing the consumption patterns for fitness and growing the market, our main sources of competition
include in-studio fitness classes, fitness clubs, at-home fitness equipment and content, and health and wellness apps.
The areas in which we compete include:
•
•
•

Consumers and Engagement. We compete for consumers to join our platform through Connected Fitness Subscriptions or
Peloton Digital subscriptions, and we seek to engage and retain them through an integrated experience that combines content,
software, service, and community.
Product Offering. We compete with producers of fitness products and work to ensure that our Connected Fitness Products
maintain the most innovative technology and user-friendly features.
Talent. We compete for talent in every vertical across our company including technology, media, fitness, design, supply chain,
logistics, music, marketing, finance, strategy, legal, and retail. As our platform is highly dependent on technology, hardware,
and software, we require a significant base of engineers to continue innovating.

The principal competitive factors that companies in our industry need to consider include, but are not limited to: total cost, supply chain
efficiency across sourcing and procurement, manufacturing, and logistics, enhanced products and services, original content, product
quality and safety, competitive pricing policies, vision for the market and product innovation, strength of sales and marketing strategies,
technological advances, and brand awareness and reputation. We believe we compete favorably across all of these factors and we
have developed a business model that is difficult to replicate.
Government Regulation
We are subject to many varying laws and regulations in the United States, the United Kingdom, the European Union and throughout the
world, including those related to privacy, data protection, content regulation, intellectual property, consumer protection, e-commerce,
marketing, advertising, messaging, rights of publicity, health and safety, employment and labor, product quality and safety, accessibility,
competition, customs and international trade, and taxation. These laws often require companies to implement specific information
security controls to protect certain types of information, such as personal data, “special categories of personal data” or health data.
These laws and regulations are constantly evolving and may be interpreted, applied, created, or amended in a manner that could harm
our current or future business and operations. In addition, it is possible that certain governments may seek to block or limit our
products and services or otherwise impose other restrictions that may affect the accessibility or usability of any or all of our products
and services for an extended period of time or indefinitely.
Seasonality
Historically, we have experienced higher revenue in the second and third quarters of the fiscal year compared to other quarters, due in
large part to seasonal holiday demand, New Year’s resolutions, and cold weather. For example, in fiscal 2018 and 2019, our second and
third quarters combined each represented 63% of our total revenue. We also typically incur higher sales and marketing expenses during
these periods. In fiscal 2021, the COVID-19 pandemic and the recalls of our Tread products in the fourth quarter impacted our
traditional seasonal patterns, with the second and third fiscal quarters accounting for 58% of fiscal 2021 sales (excluding Precor sales
which were consolidated beginning in the fourth fiscal quarter only of 2021). As the pandemic receded in recent months, we
experienced a return to pre-pandemic seasonal trends. However, the COVID-19 pandemic could worsen or its effects could be
prolonged, including due to the impact of variants, which may affect seasonal trends.
Human Capital
Our Culture
Our dynamic culture expresses our expansive vision and passion for community and collaboration, and is shaped by the following
fundamental values:
•

Put Members First: We obsess over every touchpoint of our Member experience. We have a Member-centered mindset that
prioritizes a positive product and brand experience. We are proud to be pioneers and innovators of a global, product-oriented,
fitness-centered community.

•

Operate With a Bias for Action: We value innovation, continuous improvement, and challenging the status quo, all of which are
keys to success in a competitive environment.

•

Empower Teams of Smart Creatives: We hire individuals who are great at what they do, and encourage all of our team
members to think openly and creatively to solve tough, exciting problems. We empower our team members to think and act
like owners.
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•

Together We Go Far: As our company name suggests, we know the value of a well-functioning team. We believe that inclusivity
is essential to success, and are proud when diverse individuals work together to advance our business and generate positive
impact for our Members, our workforce, and the communities where we operate.

We live these values through our approach to human capital management, summarized below.
Employees
As of June 30, 2021, we employed 6,743 individuals in the United States across our New York City headquarters, Plano campus, Atlanta
office, showrooms, and field operations warehouses. Internationally, we had 828 employees in the United Kingdom, Germany, and
Australia across corporate, showroom, and warehouse functions, 135 employees in Canada largely in showroom and warehouse roles,
and 160 individuals in Taiwan across manufacturing, quality engineering and operations functions. In April 2021, we completed our
acquisition of Precor and added Precor's 796 employees located across 14 countries to our team, with most based primarily in
manufacturing facilities in North Carolina and Washington state. We also hire additional seasonal employees in our field operations,
Member support, and showrooms during the holiday season.
Certain of our instructors are covered by collective bargaining agreements with the Screen Actors Guild-American Federation of
Television and Radio Artists, or SAG-AFTRA. However, we are not signatories to any agreements with SAG-AFTRA. With the exception of
SAG-AFTRA, none of our domestic employees are currently represented by a labor organization or a party to any collective bargaining
agreements.
Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion
One of our core tenets is to become an anti-racist organization, and in 2020, we committed ourselves to the Peloton Pledge, our $100
million dollar investment to combat systemic racism. Through the Peloton Pledge we are investing across three areas:
•
•
•

$60 million to substantially increase wages for our hourly employees;
$20 million for learning and development programs to support upward mobility for our hourly employees; and
$20 million to support third party organizations empowering individuals experiencing systemic inequalities through physical
fitness and mental wellness.

For our employees, the Pledge has meant an increased emphasis on delivery of value-added, team-wide Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion
programs, including the appointment of a Senior Vice President and Global Head of Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion. In addition, we are
participating in the Management Leadership for Tomorrow Black Equity at Work Certification, and offer our employees an online
resource, the Antiracism Activation Center, to bolster their journey toward becoming an antiracist ally.
We have also introduced specific learning programs for managers, such as Prototyping Inclusion and Activating Allyship, to help our
leaders support our diversity, inclusion, and belonging goals. We similarly host a “Brave Conversations'' speaker series on race and
equity that provides regular opportunities to gather and learn from world-renowned leaders about what it means to be antiracist.
When it comes to supporting our employees, we are proud to have eight active and engaged Employee Resource Groups (“ERGs”) that
foster a diverse and inclusive workplace. These groups foster belonging and engagement by bringing team members together to create
support, development opportunities, and programming for all of our team members. Our ERGs include:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

ACE@Peloton (Asian)
Black@Peloton
LHIT@Peloton (Latino/Hispanic)
Peloton Pride + Allies
The Parenthood Journey
The Women’s Alliance
Veterans@Peloton
Thrive (mental health, neurodiversity, and disability needs)

To hold ourselves accountable on pay equity, we conduct an annual third-party audit of team members’ pay to confirm that our pay-forperformance philosophy transcends race and gender. If an audit reveals any pay differences between team members who hold similar
jobs, but are of different races or genders, we work to analyze and adjust the affected team members’ compensation as applicable.
Employee Safety
We work to prioritize the health and welfare of our Team, our Members, and our environment. The core elements of our employee health
and safety strategy are risk analysis, incident management, documented processes, environmental programs, training, and
occupational health. Our Global Safety & Security Operations team looks to optimize safe operations, also providing employees with
access to our Risk Operations Center and our Whistleblower Hotline to report risks to health and safety. We continually strive to
improve processes across field safety training, incident training, professional investigations, and standardization of physical security
resources, among other areas.
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With the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, we sought to ensure that the top priority continued to be the safety and security
of our Team and Members by training all field and corporate teams on COVID-19 safety and by requiring utilization of masks, personal
protection equipment, social distancing, and additional safety measures as appropriate.
Training, Development, and Engagement
At Peloton, we have a dedicated global learning and development team that develops and delivers company-wide learning and
development experiences across all functions. These include:
•
•
•
•
•

Connected Leadership for managers, which focuses on Peloton’s approach to leadership, coaching and team member
connectivity
TEMPO internal hiring and mobility program, which supports professional growth
Specialized training programs for field operations, inside sales, retail, and Member support teams
Peloton Academy, which houses training resources for all teams roles across the company
Weekly skills workshops with additional learning opportunities for all employees

We are committed to making Peloton the best place to work by engaging with, and listening to, our employees. We maintain ongoing
connection with our team members through our company intranet, Pelonet; monthly all-hands meetings, and multiple team member
engagement surveys during the year. Recent surveys have led to enhancements across safety and security, employee connection, and
learning and professional development initiatives.
Our Patent Incentive Program provides rewards to and recognition to qualifying team members whose inventions are included in a
patent application submitted by Peloton, and the Peloton High Five Fund, a team member and Peloton-funded grant, enables team
members to provide financial relief to help other team members who are facing hardship resulting from a natural disaster or unforeseen
personal challenge.
Competitive Compensation and Work/Life Harmony
Our compensation program is structured around our overarching philosophy of rewarding demonstrable performance and aligning
employees with our goals and strategy. Consistent with this approach, we provide market competitive compensation and benefits that
will attract, motivate, reward, and retain a highly talented team. We want our employees to feel invested in the future of our company by
sharing in the value they help to create, so we grant all of our full-time employees equity-based compensation. Simply put, we want
everyone to act like an owner, so we make everyone an owner!
We take a comprehensive view of the tools and programs we use to attract, reward, and retain top talent. Our workforce is diverse – so
our benefits must be, too. Peloton offers a broad array of benefits to our team members, including:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Comprehensive health care and mental health benefits
Childcare solutions
Generous parental leave
Referral bonus program
Pre-paid legal assistance
Product and apparel discounts
Access to the Peloton app

At Peloton, we encourage our team members to foster kindness, support, empathy, respect, compassion, and a sense of community in
all interactions every day. To help us reach our goal of maintaining healthy work/life harmony, we have instituted supportive practices
for working and maintain the following policies:
•
•
•
•
•

Flexible work arrangements and flexible paid time off
Camera-free Fridays
Paid volunteer time off
Paid civic time off for select civic activities
Matching program of up to $1,000/year for employee charitable donations

Corporate Information
We were formed in 2012 as Peloton Interactive, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company. Peloton Interactive, Inc., a Delaware
corporation, was incorporated in March 2015, and through a corporate restructuring in April 2015, Peloton Interactive, LLC merged with
and into Peloton Interactive, Inc.
Our principal executive offices are located at 441 Ninth Avenue, Sixth Floor, New York, New York 10001 and our telephone number is
(917) 671-9198. Our website address is www.onepeloton.com. The information contained on, or that can be accessed through, our
website is not incorporated by reference into, and is not a part of, this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Investors should not rely on any
such information in deciding whether to purchase our Class A common stock.
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Peloton, the Peloton logo, Peloton Bike, Peloton Bike+ Peloton Tread, Peloton Tread+, Peloton Digital, and other registered or common
law trade names, trademarks, or service marks of Peloton appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are the property of Peloton.
This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains additional trade names, trademarks, and service marks of other companies that are the
property of their respective owners. We do not intend our use or display of other companies’ trade names, trademarks, or service marks
to imply a relationship with, or endorsement or sponsorship of us by, these other companies. Solely for convenience, our trademarks
and tradenames referred to in this Annual Report on Form 10-K appear without the ® and ™ symbols, but those references are not
intended to indicate, in any way, that we will not assert, to the fullest extent under applicable law, our rights, or the right of the applicable
licensor, to these trademarks and tradenames.
Available Information
Our reports filed with or furnished to the SEC pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
or the Exchange Act, are available, free of charge, on our Investor Relations website at https://investor.onepeloton.com as soon as
reasonably practicable after we electronically file such material with, or furnish it to, the SEC. The SEC maintains a website at http://
www.sec.gov that contains reports, and other information regarding us and other companies that file materials with the SEC
electronically. We use our Investor Relations website as a means of disclosing material information. Accordingly, investors should
monitor our Investor Relations website, in addition to following our press releases, SEC filings, and public conference calls and
webcasts.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors
Investing in our Class A common stock involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below,
together with all of the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our consolidated financial statements and the accompanying notes and the information
contained in our other public filings before deciding whether to invest in shares of our Class A common stock. The risks and uncertainties
described below are not the only ones we face. Additional risks and uncertainties that we are unaware of or that we deem immaterial may also
become important factors that adversely affect our business. If any of the following risks occur, our business, financial condition, operating results,
and future prospects could be materially and adversely affected. In that event, the market price of our Class A common stock could decline, and
you could lose part or all of your investment.
Our Most Material Financial, Operational and Execution Risks
We have incurred operating losses in the past, may incur operating losses in the future, and may not achieve or maintain profitability in the
future.
We have incurred operating losses each year since our inception in 2012, including net losses of $(189.0) million, $(71.6) million, and $(195.6)
million for fiscal 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively, and may continue to incur net losses in the future. We expect our operating expenses to
increase in the future as we continue our sales and marketing efforts, continue to invest in research and development, expand our operating and
retail infrastructure, add content and software features to our platform, expand into new geographies, develop new Connected Fitness Products,
and in connection with legal, accounting, and other expenses related to operating as a public company. These efforts and additional expenses
may be more costly than we expect, and we cannot guarantee that we will be able to increase our revenue to offset our operating expenses. Our
revenue growth may slow or our revenue may decline for a number of other reasons, including reduced demand for our products and services,
increased competition, a decrease in the growth or reduction in size of our overall market, the impacts to our business from the COVID-19
pandemic, or if we cannot capitalize on growth opportunities. If our revenue does not grow at a greater rate than our operating expenses, we will
not be able to achieve and maintain profitability.
We may be unable to attract and retain Subscribers, which could have an adverse effect on our business and rate of growth.
We have experienced significant Subscriber growth over the past several years. Our continued business and revenue growth is dependent on our
ability to continuously attract and retain Subscribers, and we cannot be sure that we will be successful in these efforts, or that Subscriber
retention levels will not materially decline. There are a number of factors that could lead to a decline in Subscriber levels or that could prevent us
from increasing our Subscriber levels, including:
•

our failure to introduce new features, products, or services that Members find engaging or our introduction of new products or services,
or changes to existing products and services that are not favorably received;

•

harm to our brand and reputation;

•

pricing and perceived value of our offerings;

•

our inability to deliver quality products, content, and services;

•

actual or perceived safety concerns regarding our products;

•

unsatisfactory experiences with the delivery, installation, or servicing of our Connected Fitness Products, including due to prolonged
delivery timelines and limitations on or the suspension of the in-home installation, return, and warranty servicing processes as a result
of the current COVID-19 pandemic;
our Members engaging with competitive products and services;

•
•

technical or other problems preventing Members from accessing our content and services in a rapid and reliable manner or otherwise
affecting the Member experience;

•

a decline in the public’s interest in indoor cycling or running, or other fitness disciplines that we invest most heavily in;

•

deteriorating general economic conditions or a change in consumer spending preferences or buying trends, whether as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic or otherwise; and

•

interruptions in our ability to sell or deliver our Connected Fitness Products or to create content and services for our Members as a
result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Additionally, further expansion into international markets such as Canada, the United Kingdom, Germany and Australia will create new challenges
in attracting and retaining Subscribers that we may not successfully address. As a result of these factors, we cannot be sure that our Subscriber
levels will be adequate to maintain or permit the expansion of our operations. A decline in Subscriber levels could have an adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, and operating results.
If we are unable to anticipate consumer preferences and successfully develop and introduce new, innovative, and updated products and services
in a timely manner, or effectively manage the introduction of new or enhanced products and services, our business may be adversely affected.
Our success in maintaining and increasing our Subscriber base depends on our ability to identify and originate trends as well as to anticipate and
react to changing consumer demands in a timely manner. Our products and services are subject to changing consumer preferences that cannot
be predicted with certainty. If we are unable to introduce new or enhanced offerings in a timely manner, or our new or enhanced offerings are not
accepted by our Subscribers, our competitors may introduce similar offerings faster than us, which could negatively affect our rate of growth.
Moreover, our new offerings may not receive consumer acceptance as preferences could shift rapidly to different types of fitness and wellness
offerings or away from these types of offerings altogether, and our future success depends in part on our ability to anticipate and respond to
15

these changes. Failure to anticipate and respond in a timely manner to changing consumer preferences could lead to, among other things, lower
subscription rates, lower sales, pricing pressure, lower gross margins, discounting of our existing Connected Fitness Products, and excess
inventory levels. Even if we are successful in anticipating consumer preferences, our ability to adequately react to and address them will partially
depend upon our continued ability to develop and introduce innovative, high-quality offerings. Development of new or enhanced products and
services may require significant time and financial investment, which could result in increased costs and a reduction in our profit margins. For
example, we have historically incurred higher levels of sales and marketing expenses accompanying each product and service introduction.
Moreover, while we have experienced a significant increase in our Subscriber base since the outbreak of COVID-19, it remains uncertain how the
COVID-19 pandemic will impact consumer demand for our products and services and consumer preferences generally. In addition, we have
experienced and may continue to experience delays in the development and introduction of new or enhanced products and services due to the
effects of the current COVID-19 pandemic.
Moreover, we must successfully manage introductions of new or enhanced products and services, which could adversely impact the sales of our
existing products and services. For instance, consumers may choose to forgo purchasing existing products or services in advance of new
product and service launches and we may experience higher returns from users of existing products. As we introduce new or enhanced products
and services, we may face additional challenges managing a more complex supply chain and manufacturing process, including the time and
cost associated with onboarding and overseeing additional suppliers, contract manufacturers, and logistics providers. We may also face
challenges managing the inventory of new or existing products, which could lead to excess inventory and discounting of such products. In
addition, new or enhanced products or services may have varying selling prices and costs compared to legacy products and services, which
could negatively impact our gross margins and operating results.
The market for our products and services is still in the early stages of growth and if it does not continue to grow, grows more slowly than we
expect, or fails to grow as large as we expect, our business, financial condition, and operating results may be adversely affected.
The connected fitness and wellness market is relatively new, rapidly growing, largely unproven, and it is uncertain whether it will sustain high
levels of demand and achieve wide market acceptance. Our success depends substantially on the willingness of consumers to widely adopt our
products and services. To be successful, we will have to educate consumers about our products and services through significant investment,
and provide quality content that is superior to the content and experiences provided by our competitors. Additionally, the fitness and wellness
market at large is heavily saturated, and the demand for and market acceptance of new products and services in the market is uncertain. It is
difficult to predict the future growth rates, if any, and size of our market. We cannot assure you that our market will develop, that the public’s
interest in connected fitness and wellness will continue, or that our products and services will be widely adopted. If our market does not develop,
develops more slowly than expected, or becomes saturated with competitors, or if our products and services do not achieve market acceptance,
our business, financial condition, and operating results could be adversely affected.
We have a limited operating history and our past financial results may not be indicative of our future performance. Further, our revenue growth
rate is likely to slow as our business matures.
We began operations in 2012, shipped our first Bike in 2014, and shipped our first Tread in 2018. We have a limited history of generating revenue.
As a result of our short operating history, we have limited financial data that can be used to evaluate our current business. Therefore, our
historical revenue growth should not be considered indicative of our future performance. In particular, we have experienced periods of high
revenue growth since we began selling our Bike that we do not expect to continue as our business matures. Estimates of future revenue growth
are subject to many risks and uncertainties and our future revenue may differ materially from our projections. We have encountered, and will
continue to encounter, risks and difficulties frequently experienced by growing companies in rapidly changing industries, including market
acceptance of our products and services, attracting and retaining Subscribers, and increasing competition and expenses as we expand our
business. We cannot be sure that we will be successful in addressing these and other challenges we may face in the future, and our business
may be adversely affected if we do not manage these risks successfully. In addition, we may not achieve sufficient revenue to attain or maintain
positive cash flows from operations or profitability in any given period, or at all.
The full impact of the COVID-19 coronavirus pandemic, or COVID-19, is uncertain and cannot be predicted. The COVID-19 pandemic could
worsen or its effects may be prolonged, including as a result of variants, which could have an adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, and financial condition.
COVID-19 has caused significant volatility in financial markets and has caused what could be an extended global recession. Public health
problems resulting from COVID-19 and precautionary measures instituted by governments and businesses to mitigate its spread, including travel
restrictions and quarantines, could contribute to a general slowdown in the global economy, adversely impact our Members, third-party suppliers,
contract manufacturers, logistics providers and other business partners, and disrupt our operations. Changes in our operations in response to
COVID-19 or employee illnesses resulting from the pandemic has resulted in inefficiencies or delays, including in sales, delivery, and product
development efforts, and additional costs related to business continuity initiatives, that cannot be fully mitigated through succession and
business continuity planning, employees working remotely or teleconferencing technologies.
COVID-19 and related governmental reactions have had and may continue to have a negative impact on our business, liquidity, results of
operations, and stock price due to the occurrence of some or all of the following events or circumstances, among others:
•

our inability to manage our business effectively due to key employees becoming ill, working from home inefficiently, and being unable
to travel to our facilities;

•

our and our third-party suppliers', contract manufacturers', logistics providers', and other business partners' inability to operate
worksites, including manufacturing facilities, shipping and fulfillment centers, and our retail showrooms and production studios, due to
employee illness or reluctance to appear at work, or “stay-at-home” regulations;
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•

our inability to provide our Members with high-quality Member support due to changes to the delivery experience and our inability to
provide in-home servicing of Connected Fitness Products due to safety risks and local government regulations related to COVID-19;

•

a temporary suspension in sales of our Tread due to the Tread installation process requiring our delivery teams to enter the residences
of our Members;

•

prolonged delivery timelines and the implementation of curbside and “threshold” delivery, which requires our Members to self-install
and set up their Bikes, due to work restrictions related to COVID-19;

•

our inability to meet consumer demand and delays in the delivery of our products to our customers, resulting in reputational harm and
damaged customer relationships;

•

increased rates of post-purchase order cancellation, or consumer or consumer protection agency claims and litigation as a result of
long delivery lead times and delivery reschedules;

•

increased return rates due to a decrease in consumer discretionary spending;

•

inventory shortages caused by a combination of increased demand for our Connected Fitness Products that has been difficult to
predict with accuracy, and longer lead-times and component shortages in the manufacturing of our Connected Fitness Products, due to
work restrictions related to COVID-19, import/export conditions such as port congestion, and local government orders;

•

interruptions in our ability to offer live studio classes and produce new content;

•

interruptions in manufacturing (including the sourcing of key components), shipment and delivery of our products; for example, in
certain instances, we have temporarily closed certain of our field operations warehouses for short periods of time for deep cleanings
following confirmed cases of COVID-19;

•

disruptions of the operations of our third-party suppliers, which could impact our ability to purchase components at efficient prices and
in sufficient amounts;

•

reduced demand for our Connected Fitness Products and services, including due to any prolonged economic downturn that may occur;

•

our inability to raise additional capital or the dilution of our common stock if we raise capital by issuing equity securities;

•

volatility in the market price of our Class A common stock; and

•

incurrence of significant increases to employee health care and benefits costs.

Despite the uncertainties caused by COVID-19, sales of our Connected Fitness Products have increased during the pandemic as we saw
consumers invest in at-home fitness equipment with the imposition of government mandated stay-at-home orders. As a result of our increased
sales, the price of our Class A common stock has increased significantly over the course of the past year, but has also fluctuated based on
developments surrounding COVID-19. For example, when the effectiveness of the first COVID-19 vaccination was announced in November 2020,
the stock price of our Class A common stock dropped, and as reports of COVID-19 increased during the 2020 holiday season, the stock price of
our Class A common stock rose.
The full extent of the impact of COVID-19 on our business and financial results will depend largely on future developments, including, without
limitation, the duration of the spread of the outbreak (including the potential impact of variants of the virus) and related stay-at-home orders,
companies' remote work policies, the impact on capital and financial markets and global supply chains, and the related impact on the financial
circumstances of our Members (which may include consumer discretionary spending decreases, or upon the removal of lockdowns may cause
consumers to go back to their pre-COVID routines), all of which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. (See also " - Our operating results
could be adversely affected if we are unable to accurately forecast consumer demand for our products and services and adequately manage our
inventory.") This situation is changing rapidly, and additional impacts may arise that we are not aware of currently.
We operate in a highly competitive market and we may be unable to compete successfully against existing and future competitors.
Our products and services are offered in a highly competitive market. We face significant competition in every aspect of our business, including
at-home fitness equipment and content, fitness clubs, in-studio fitness classes, and health and wellness apps. Moreover, we expect the
competition in our market to intensify in the future as new and existing competitors introduce new or enhanced products and services that
compete with ours.
Our competitors may develop, or have already developed, products, features, content, services, or technologies that are similar to ours or that
achieve greater acceptance, may undertake more successful product development efforts, create more compelling employment opportunities, or
marketing campaigns, or may adopt more aggressive pricing policies. Our competitors may develop or acquire, or have already developed or
acquired, intellectual property rights that significantly limit or prevent our ability to compete effectively in the public marketplace. In addition, our
competitors may have significantly greater resources than us, allowing them to identify and capitalize more efficiently upon opportunities in new
markets and consumer preferences and trends, quickly transition and adapt their products and services, devote greater resources to marketing
and advertising or music licensing rights, or be better positioned to withstand substantial price competition. If we are not able to compete
effectively against our competitors, they may acquire and engage customers or generate revenue at the expense of our efforts, which could have
an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results.
We derive a significant majority of our revenue from sales of our Bike. A decline in sales of our Bike would negatively affect our future revenue
and operating results.
Our Connected Fitness Products are sold in highly competitive markets with limited barriers to entry. Introduction by competitors of comparable
products at lower price points, a maturing product lifecycle, a decline in consumer spending, or other factors (including factors disclosed herein)
could result in a decline in our revenue derived from our Connected Fitness Products, which may have an adverse effect on our business,
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financial condition, and operating results. Because we derive a significant majority of our revenue from the sales of our Bike, any material decline
in sales of our Bike would have a pronounced impact on our future revenue and operating results.
We rely on a limited number of suppliers, contract manufacturers, and logistics partners for our Connected Fitness Products. A loss of any of
these partners could negatively affect our business.
We manufacture certain components of our Connected Fitness Products in-house, and we also rely on a limited number of contract
manufacturers and suppliers to manufacture and transport our Connected Fitness Products. If our internal manufacturing abilities are
compromised in any way, we would be reliant on a limited number of contract manufacturers for all of our manufacturing needs. Our reliance on
a limited number of contract manufacturers for each of our Connected Fitness Products increases our risks, since we do not currently have
alternative or replacement contract manufacturers beyond these key parties. In the event of interruption from any of our contract manufacturers,
our own manufacturing capabilities, or suppliers, we may not be able to increase capacity from other sources or develop alternate or secondary
sources without incurring material additional costs and substantial delays. Furthermore, a large portion of both our own and our contract
manufacturers’ primary facilities are located in Taiwan and China. Thus, our business could be adversely affected if one or more of our suppliers
is impacted by a natural disaster, an epidemic such as the current COVID-19 pandemic, or other interruption at a particular location. In particular,
the current COVID-19 pandemic has caused, and will likely continue to cause, interruptions in the development, manufacturing (including the
sourcing of key components), and shipment of our Connected Fitness Products, which could adversely impact our revenue, gross margins, and
operating results. Such interruptions may be due to, among other things, temporary closures of our facilities or those of our contract
manufacturers, and other vendors in our supply chain; restrictions on travel or the import/export of goods and services from certain ports that
we use; and local quarantines.
If we experience a significant increase in demand for our Connected Fitness Products that cannot be satisfied adequately through our existing
supply channels, or if we need to replace an existing supplier or partner, we may be unable to supplement or replace them on terms that are
acceptable to us, which may undermine our ability to deliver our products to Members in a timely manner. For example, if we require additional
manufacturing support, it may take a significant amount of time to identify a manufacturer that has the capability and resources to build our
products to our specifications in sufficient volume. Identifying suitable suppliers, manufacturers, and logistics partners is an extensive process
that requires us to become satisfied with their quality control, technical capabilities, responsiveness and service, financial stability, regulatory
compliance, and labor and other ethical practices. Accordingly, a loss of any of our significant suppliers, contract manufacturers, or logistics
partners could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results.
We have limited control over our suppliers, contract manufacturers, and logistics partners, which may subject us to significant risks, including
the potential inability to produce or obtain quality products and services on a timely basis or in sufficient quantity.
We have limited control over our suppliers, contract manufacturers, and logistics partners, which subjects us to the following risks, many of
which have materialized due to the COVID-19 pandemic:
•

inability to satisfy demand for our Connected Fitness Products;

•

reduced control over delivery timing and product reliability;

•

reduced ability to monitor the manufacturing process and components used in our Connected Fitness Products;

•

limited ability to develop comprehensive manufacturing specifications that take into account any materials shortages or substitutions;

•

variance in the manufacturing capability of our third-party manufacturers;

•

price increases;

•

failure of a significant supplier, manufacturer, or logistics partner to perform its obligations to us for technical, market, or other reasons;

•

variance in the quality of last mile services provided by our third-party logistics partners;

•

difficulties in establishing additional supplier, manufacturer, or logistics partner relationships if we experience difficulties with our
existing suppliers, manufacturers, or logistics partners;

•

shortages of materials or components;

•

misappropriation of our intellectual property;

•

exposure to natural catastrophes, political unrest, terrorism, labor disputes, and economic instability resulting in the disruption of trade
from foreign countries in which our Connected Fitness Products are manufactured or the components thereof are sourced;

•

changes in local economic conditions in the jurisdictions where our suppliers, manufacturers, and logistics partners are located;

•

the imposition of new laws and regulations, including those relating to labor conditions, quality and safety standards, imports, duties,
tariffs, taxes, and other charges on imports, as well as trade restrictions and restrictions on currency exchange or the transfer of funds;
and

•

insufficient warranties and indemnities on components supplied to our manufacturers or performance by our partners.

We also rely on our logistics partners, including last mile warehouse and delivery partners, to complete a substantial percentage of our deliveries
to customers, with the rest of the deliveries handled by our own last mile team. The current COVID-19 pandemic has required us to rely more
heavily on our last mile delivery partners in certain markets where we have had to temporarily quarantine our in-house delivery teams due to
employee illness or where our in-house delivery teams' capacity is otherwise constrained. Our primary last mile partner relies on a network of
independent contractors to perform last mile services for us in many markets. If any of these independent contractors, or the last mile partner as
a whole, do not perform their obligations or meet the expectations of us or our Members, our reputation and business could suffer.
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The occurrence of any of these risks, especially during seasons of peak demand, could cause us to experience a significant disruption in our
ability to produce and deliver our products to our customers.
We depend upon third-party licenses for the use of music in our content. An adverse change to, loss of, or claim that we do not hold necessary
licenses may have an adverse effect on our business, operating results, and financial condition.
Music is an important element of the overall content that we make available to our Members. To secure the rights to use music in our content,
we enter into agreements to obtain licenses from rights holders such as record labels, music publishers, performing rights organizations,
collecting societies, artists, and other copyright owners or their agents. We pay royalties to such parties or their agents around the world.
The process of obtaining licenses involves identifying and negotiating with many rights holders, some of whom are unknown or difficult to
identify, and implicates a myriad of complex and evolving legal issues across many jurisdictions, including open questions of law as to when and
whether particular licenses are needed. At times, while we may hold the applicable license for certain music in North America, it may be difficult
to obtain the license for the same music from the applicable international rights holders outside of North America. Rights holders also may
attempt to take advantage of their market power to seek onerous financial terms from us. Our relationship with certain rights holders may
deteriorate. Artists and/or artist groups may object and may exert public or private pressure on rights holders to discontinue or to modify license
terms. Additionally, there is a risk that aspiring rights holders, their agents, or legislative or regulatory bodies will create or attempt to create new
rights that could require us to enter into new license agreements with, and pay royalties to, newly defined groups of rights holders, some of
which may be difficult or impossible to identify.
With respect to musical compositions, in addition to obtaining publishing rights, we generally need to obtain separate public performance rights.
In the United States, public performance rights are typically obtained through intermediaries known as performing rights organizations, or PROs,
which (a) issue blanket licenses with copyright users for the public performance of compositions in their repertory, (b) collect royalties under
those licenses, and (c) distribute such royalties to copyright owners. We have agreements with each of the following PROs in the United States:
the American Society of Composers, Authors and Publishers, or ASCAP, and Broadcast Music, Inc., or BMI, Global Music Rights, and SESAC. The
royalty rates available to us from the PROs today may not be available to us in the future. Licenses provided by ASCAP and BMI currently are
governed by consent decrees, which were issued by the U.S. Department of Justice ("DOJ") in an effort to curb anti-competitive conduct.
Removal of or changes to the terms or interpretation of these agreements could affect our ability to obtain licenses from these PROs on current
and/or otherwise favorable terms, which could harm our business, operating results, and financial condition.
In other parts of the world, including in Canada and Europe, we obtain licenses for musical compositions either through local collecting societies
representing publishers, or from publishers directly, or a combination thereof. We cannot guarantee that our licenses with collecting societies
and our direct licenses with publishers provide full coverage for all of the musical compositions we use in our service in the countries in which
we operate, or that we may enter in the future. Publishers, songwriters, and other rights holders who choose not to be represented by major or
independent publishing companies or collecting societies have, and could in the future, adversely impact our ability to secure licensing
arrangements in connection with musical compositions that such rights holders own or control, and could increase the risk of liability for
copyright infringement.
Although we expend significant resources to seek to comply with the statutory, regulatory, and judicial frameworks, we cannot guarantee that we
currently hold, or will always hold, every necessary right to use all of the music that is used on our service, and we cannot assure you that we are
not infringing or violating any third-party intellectual property rights, or that we will not do so in the future.
These challenges, and others concerning the licensing of music on our platform, may subject us to significant liability for copyright infringement,
breach of contract, or other claims. For additional information, see Note 13 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements and the section
titled “Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Our success depends on our ability to maintain the value and reputation of the Peloton brand.
We believe that our brand is important to attracting and retaining Members. Maintaining, protecting, and enhancing our brand depends largely on
the success of our marketing efforts, ability to provide consistent, high-quality products, services, features, content, and support, and our ability
to successfully secure, maintain, and defend our rights to use the “Peloton” mark, our “P” logo, and other trademarks important to our brand. We
believe that the importance of our brand will increase as competition further intensifies and brand promotion activities may require substantial
expenditures. Our brand could be harmed if we fail to achieve these objectives or if our public image were to be tarnished by negative publicity.
Unfavorable publicity about us, including our products, services, technology, customer service, content, personnel, and suppliers could diminish
confidence in, and the use of, our products and services. For example, we have received reports of a number of injuries associated with our
Tread+ product, and as a result, on May 5, 2021, we decided to issue a voluntary product recall of our Tread+, which we are conducting in
collaboration with the CPSC. As discussed further in Part II, Item 1A "Risk Factors — Other Risks Related to Our Connected Fitness Products and
Members" and "Risk Factors — Risks Related to Laws, Regulation, and Legal Proceedings," the legal proceedings in which we have been named,
the regulators’ investigations, and any other claims or proceedings involving us or our products, actions we take to address these matters, and
any further publicity regarding any of the foregoing could harm our brand. Such negative publicity also could have an adverse effect on the size,
engagement and loyalty of our Member base and result in decreased revenue, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, and operating results.
Other Risks Related to Our Business and Financial Condition
We have grown rapidly in recent years and have limited operating experience at our current scale of operations. If we are unable to manage our
growth effectively, our brand, company culture, and financial performance may suffer.
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We have expanded our operations rapidly and have limited operating experience at our current size. For example, between June 30, 2017 and
June 30, 2021, our employee headcount increased from 443 to 8,662, and we expect headcount growth to continue for the foreseeable future.
Further, as we grow, our business becomes increasingly complex. To effectively manage and capitalize on our growth, we must continue to
expand our sales and marketing, focus on innovative product and content development, upgrade our management information systems and
other processes, and obtain more space for our expanding staff. Our continued growth could strain our existing resources, and we could
experience ongoing operating difficulties in managing our business across numerous jurisdictions, including difficulties in hiring, training, and
managing a diffuse and growing employee base. Failure to scale and preserve our company culture with growth could harm our future success,
including our ability to retain and recruit personnel and to effectively focus on and pursue our corporate objectives. Moreover, the vertically
integrated nature of our business, where we design our own Connected Fitness Products, develop our own software, produce original fitness and
wellness programming, sell our products exclusively through our own sales teams and e-commerce site, and assemble, deliver, and service our
Connected Fitness Products, exposes us to risk and disruption at many points that are critical to successfully operating our business and may
make it more difficult for us to scale our business. For example, as a result of the current COVID-19 pandemic we may not be able to manage
our business effectively and, in particular, we may experience difficulties in meeting consumer demand for our Connected Fitness Products and
services, due to our employees becoming ill, being unable to travel to our facilities, and constraints within our supply chain. If we do not adapt to
meet these evolving challenges, or if our management team does not effectively scale with our growth, we may experience erosion to our brand,
the quality of our products and services may suffer, and our company culture may be harmed.
Our growth strategy contemplates a significant increase in our advertising and other marketing spending and expanding our retail showroom
presence. Many of our existing retail showrooms are relatively new and we cannot assure you that these showrooms or that future showrooms
will generate revenue and cash flow comparable with those generated by our more mature locations, especially as we move to new geographic
markets. Moreover, certain occurrences outside of our control may result in the closure of our retail showrooms. For example, as a result of the
ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, we temporarily closed all of our retail showrooms, and while we have reopened retail showrooms, it has at times
been under new operating limitations such as shorter operating hours, mask guidelines for employees and customers, and other constraints on
our previous retail sales strategies. We have also had to temporarily close certain showrooms due to employee illness, and may need to do so in
the future. We are unable to predict whether consumer shopping behaviors will change as we make these changes to adjust to the COVID-19
pandemic. Further, many of our retail showrooms are leased pursuant to multi-year short-term leases, and our ability to negotiate favorable
terms on an expiring lease or for a lease renewal option may depend on factors that are not within our control. We may also open additional
production studios as we expand internationally, which will require significant additional investment. Successful implementation of our growth
strategy will require significant expenditures before any substantial associated revenue is generated and we cannot guarantee that these
increased investments will result in corresponding and offsetting revenue growth.
Because we have a limited history operating our business at its current scale, it is difficult to evaluate our current business and future prospects,
including our ability to plan for and model future growth. Our limited operating experience at this scale, combined with the rapidly evolving nature
of the market in which we sell our products and services, substantial uncertainty concerning how these markets may develop, and other
economic factors beyond our control, reduces our ability to accurately forecast quarterly or annual revenue. Failure to manage our future growth
effectively could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results.
Increases in component costs, long lead times, supply shortages, and supply changes could disrupt our supply chain and have an adverse effect
on our business, financial condition, and operating results.
Meeting customer demand partially depends on our ability to obtain timely and adequate delivery of components for our Connected Fitness
Products. All of the components that go into the manufacturing of our Connected Fitness Products are sourced from a limited number of thirdparty suppliers, and some of these components are provided by a single supplier. Our contract manufacturers generally purchase these
components on our behalf, subject to certain approved supplier lists, and we do not have long-term arrangements with most of our component
suppliers. We are therefore subject to the risk of shortages and long lead times in the supply of these components and the risk that our suppliers
discontinue or modify components used in our Connected Fitness Products. In addition, the lead times associated with certain components are
lengthy and preclude rapid changes in design, quantities, and delivery schedules. Our ability to meet temporary unforeseen increases in demand
has been, and may in the future be, impacted by our reliance on the availability of components from these sub-suppliers. We may in the future
experience component shortages, and the predictability of the availability of these components may be limited. In the event of a component
shortage or supply interruption from suppliers of these components, we may not be able to develop alternate sources in a timely manner.
Developing alternate sources of supply for these components may be time-consuming, difficult, and costly and we may not be able to source
these components on terms that are acceptable to us, or at all, which may undermine our ability to fill our orders in a timely manner. Any
interruption or delay in the supply of any of these parts or components, or the inability to obtain these parts or components from alternate
sources at acceptable prices and within a reasonable amount of time, would harm our ability to meet our scheduled Connected Fitness Product
deliveries to our customers.
Moreover, volatile economic conditions may make it more likely that our suppliers and logistics providers may be unable to timely deliver
supplies, or at all, and there is no guarantee that we will be able to timely locate alternative suppliers of comparable quality at an acceptable
price. In addition, international supply chains may be impacted by events outside of our control and limit our ability to procure timely delivery of
supplies or finished goods and services. Importing and exporting has involved more risk, since the beginning of 2018, as there has been
increasing rhetoric, in some cases coupled with legislative or executive action, from several U.S. and foreign leaders regarding tariffs against
foreign imports of certain materials. Several of the components that go into the manufacturing of our Connected Fitness Products are sourced
internationally, including from China, where the United States has imposed tariffs on specified products imported therefrom following the U.S.
Trade Representative Section 301 Investigation. These issues could be further exacerbated by the continuation of the COVID-19 pandemic. We
have seen, and may continue to see, increased congestion and/or new import/export restrictions implemented at ports that we rely on for our
business. In many cases, we have had to secure alternative transportation, such as air freight, or use alternative routes, at increased costs to run
our supply chain. These tariffs have an impact on our component costs and have the potential to have an even greater impact depending on the
outcome of the current trade negotiations, which have been protracted and recently resulted in increases in U.S. tariff rates on specified
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products from China. Increases in our component costs could have a material effect on our gross margins. The loss of a significant supplier, an
increase in component costs, or delays or disruptions in the delivery of components, could adversely impact our ability to generate future
revenue and earnings and have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results.
Our business could be adversely affected from an accident, safety incident, or workforce disruption.
Our internal manufacturing processes and related activities, as well as our in-house warehousing and last-mile logistics activities, could expose
us to significant personal injury claims that could subject us to substantial liability. The COVID-19 pandemic increases our exposure to these
risks; for example, various local government orders have been implemented in areas where we operate that require us to secure personal
protective equipment, such as face masks and gloves, for our delivery teams, and to implement new methods of monitoring employee health,
such as temperature checks. Our inability to timely adapt to changing norms and requirements around maintaining a safe workplace during the
COVID-19 pandemic could cause employee illness, accidents, or team discontent if it is perceived that we are failing to protect the health and
safety of our employees. While we maintain liability insurance in amounts and of the type generally consistent with industry practice, the amount
of such coverage may not be adequate to cover fully all claims, and we may be forced to bear substantial losses from an accident or safety
incident resulting from our manufacturing, warehousing, or last-mile activities. Additionally, if our employees decide to join or form a labor union,
we may become party to a collective bargaining agreement, which could result in higher employee costs and increased risk of work stoppages. It
is also possible that a union seeking to organize one subset of our employee population, such as the employees in our manufacturing facility,
could also mount a corporate campaign, resulting in negative publicity or other actions that require attention by our management team and our
employees. Negative publicity, work stoppages, or strikes by unions could have an adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition,
and operating results.
Our business is affected by seasonality.
Our business has historically been influenced by seasonal trends common to traditional retail selling periods, and we generate a
disproportionate amount of sales activity related to our Connected Fitness Products during the period from November through February due in
large part to seasonal holiday demand, New Year’s resolutions, and cold weather. For example, in fiscal 2018 and 2019, our second and third
quarters combined each represented 63% of our total revenue. In fiscal 2020, we saw a significant increase in demand in the fourth quarter
related to COVID-19, and therefore only 54% of our total revenue was generated in our second and third quarters. In fiscal 2021, the COVID-19
pandemic and the recalls of our Tread products in the fourth quarter impacted our traditional seasonal patterns, with the second and third fiscal
quarters accounting for 58% of fiscal 2021 sales (excluding Precor sales which were consolidated beginning in the fourth fiscal quarter only of
2021). Over time, we expect the seasonality of our business to return, with pronounced increases in demand during our second and third
quarters. Moreover, as a result of higher sales during the period from November through February, our working capital needs are greater during
the second and third quarters of the fiscal year. As a result of quarterly fluctuations caused by these and other factors, comparisons of our
operating results across different fiscal quarters may not be accurate indicators of our future performance. Furthermore, our rapid growth in
recent years may obscure the extent to which seasonality trends have affected our business and may continue to affect our business.
Accordingly, yearly or quarterly comparisons of our operating results may not be useful and our results in any particular period will not
necessarily be indicative of the results to be expected for any future period. Seasonality in our business can also be affected by introductions of
new or enhanced products and services, including the costs associated with such introductions.
Our passion and focus on delivering a high-quality and engaging Peloton experience may not maximize short-term financial results, which may
yield results that conflict with the market’s expectations and could result in our stock price being negatively affected.
We are passionate about continually enhancing the Peloton experience with a focus on driving long-term Member engagement through
innovation, immersive content, technologically advanced Connected Fitness Products, and community support, which may not necessarily
maximize short-term financial results. We frequently make business decisions that may reduce our short-term financial results if we believe that
the decisions are consistent with our goals to improve the Peloton experience, which we believe will improve our financial results over the long
term. For example, in the second quarter of fiscal 2021, we committed to incrementally invest over $100 million in air freight and expedited
ocean freight over the subsequent six months to shorten our order-to-delivery windows in order to improve our Member experience, despite the
potential impact on our near-term profitability. These decisions may not be consistent with the short-term expectations of our stockholders and
may not produce the long-term benefits that we expect, in which case our membership growth and Member engagement, and our business,
financial condition, and operating results could be harmed.
Our quarterly operating results and other operating metrics may fluctuate from quarter to quarter, which makes these metrics difficult to predict.
Our quarterly operating results and other operating metrics have fluctuated in the past and may continue to fluctuate from quarter to quarter.
Additionally, our limited operating history makes it difficult to forecast our future results. As a result, you should not rely on our past quarterly
operating results as indicators of future performance. You should take into account the risks and uncertainties frequently encountered by
companies in rapidly evolving markets. Our financial condition and operating results in any given quarter can be influenced by numerous factors,
many of which we are unable to predict or are outside of our control, including:
•

the continued market acceptance of, and the growth of the connected fitness and wellness market;

•

our ability to maintain and attract new Subscribers;

•

our development and improvement of the quality of the Peloton experience, including, enhancing existing and creating new Connected
Fitness Products, services, technology, features, and content;

•

the continued development and upgrading of our proprietary technology platform;

•

the timing and success of new product, service, feature, and content introductions by us or our competitors or any other change in the
competitive landscape of our market;
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•

pricing pressure as a result of competition or otherwise;

•

the timing and our ability to develop certain product solutions to enhance the safety of our Tread+ product to the satisfaction of the
CPSC in connection with our voluntary product recall, which we are conducting in collaboration with the CPSC;

•

delays or disruptions in our supply chain;

•

errors in our forecasting of the demand for our products and services, which could lead to lower revenue or increased costs, or both;

•

increases in marketing, sales, and other operating expenses that we may incur to grow and expand our operations and to remain
competitive;

•

the ability to maintain and open new showrooms;

•

the continued maintenance and expansion of last mile delivery and maintenance services for our Connected Fitness Products;

•

successful expansion into international markets, including Canada, the United Kingdom, Germany, and Australia;

•

seasonal fluctuations in subscriptions and usage of Connected Fitness Products by our Members, each of which may change as our
products and services evolve or as our business grows;

•

the diversification and growth of our revenue sources;

•

our ability to maintain gross margins and operating margins;

•

constraints on the availability of consumer financing or increased down payment requirements to finance purchases of our Connected
Fitness Products;

•

system failures or breaches of security or privacy;

•

adverse litigation judgments, settlements, or other litigation-related costs, including content costs for past use;

•

changes in the legislative or regulatory environment, including with respect to privacy, consumer product safety, and advertising, or
enforcement by government regulators, including fines, orders, or consent decrees;

•

fluctuations in currency exchange rates and changes in the proportion of our revenue and expenses denominated in foreign currencies;

•

changes in our effective tax rate, including as a result of potential changes in tax laws proposed by the Biden administration and
Democratic controlled Congress;

•

changes in accounting standards, policies, guidance, interpretations, or principles; and

•

changes in business or macroeconomic conditions, including the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, lower consumer confidence,
recessionary conditions, increased unemployment rates, or stagnant or declining wages.

Any one of the factors above or the cumulative effect of some of the factors above may result in significant fluctuations in our operating results.
The variability and unpredictability of our quarterly operating results or other operating metrics could result in our failure to meet our
expectations or those of analysts that cover us or investors with respect to revenue or other operating results for a particular period. If we fail to
meet or exceed such expectations, the market price of our Class A common stock could fall substantially, and we could face costly lawsuits,
including securities class action suits.
We rely on access to our production studios and the creativity of our fitness instructors to generate our class content. If we are unable to access
or use our studios or if we are unable to attract and retain high-quality fitness instructors, we may not be able to generate interesting and
attractive content for our classes.
Most of the fitness and wellness content offered on our platform is produced in one of our four production studios, three of which are located in
New York City, with some content produced outdoors or in non-Peloton studios. Due to our reliance on a limited number of studios in a
concentrated location, any incident involving our studios, or affecting New York City at-large, including COVID-19 related restrictions, could
render our studios inaccessible or unusable and could inhibit our ability to produce and deliver new fitness and wellness content for our
Members. For example, in April 2020, we decided to temporarily pause live production at both our New York and London studios to reduce the
risk of exposure to our employees and their families to COVID-19. While we have since reopened our studios for live production, and taken a
number of precautions in doing so, there is no guarantee that the COVID-19 pandemic will not result in future pauses to live production from our
studios or other locations. Production of the fitness and wellness content on our platform is further reliant on the creativity of our fitness
instructors who, with the support of our production team, plan and lead our classes. Our standard employment contract with our fitness
instructors has a fixed, multi-year term, however, our instructors may leave Peloton prior to the end of their contracts. If we are unable to attract
or retain creative and experienced instructors, we may not be able to generate content on a scale or of a quality sufficient to grow our business.
If we fail to produce and provide our Members with interesting and attractive content led by instructors who they can relate to, then our business,
financial condition, and operating results may be adversely affected.
The recently completed acquisition of Precor presents risks and we may not realize our anticipated strategic and financial goals from the
acquisition.
Risks we may face in connection with our acquisition and integration of Precor include:
•

We may not realize the benefits we expect to receive from the transaction, such as anticipated synergies;

•

We may have difficulties managing Precor’s technologies and lines of business or retaining key personnel from Precor;

•

The acquisition may not further our business strategy as we expected, we may not successfully integrate Precor as planned, there could
be unanticipated adverse impacts on Precor’s business, or we may otherwise not realize the expected return on our investments, which
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could adversely affect our business or operating results and potentially cause impairment to assets that we record as a part of an
acquisition including intangible assets and goodwill;
•

Our operating results or financial condition may be adversely impacted by (i) claims or liabilities related to Precor’s business including,
among others, claims from government agencies, terminated employees, current or former customers, consumers or business partners,
or other third parties; (ii) pre-existing contractual relationships or lines of business of Precor that we would not have otherwise entered
into, the termination or modification of which may be costly or disruptive to our business; (iii) unfavorable accounting treatment as a
result of Precor’s practices; and (iv) intellectual property claims or disputes;

•

Precor has not been required to maintain an internal control infrastructure that would meet the standards of a public company,
including the requirements of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. The costs that we may incur to implement such controls and procedures
may be substantial and we could encounter unexpected delays and challenges in this integration. In addition, we may discover
significant deficiencies or material weaknesses in the quality of Precor’s financial and disclosure controls and procedures;

•

As a result of the acquisition we now own and operate our first U.S.-based manufacturing facilities and we may have difficultly
incorporating Precor’s manufacturing and supply chain operations into our existing manufacturing and supply chain infrastructure,
potentially resulting in new and unexpected operational complexities and costs;

•

Precor operates in segments of the commercial market that we have less experience with, including traditional gyms, multifamily
residences, hotels and college and corporate campuses, and expansion of our operations in these segments through the acquisition
could present various integration challenges and result in increased costs and other unforeseen challenges;

•

Precor serves customers in more than 100 countries worldwide, and as a result of the acquisition our operations have expanded into
new jurisdictions, which could present significant integration challenges and result in significant increased risks and costs inherent in
doing business in international markets (see “—We plan to expand into international markets, which will expose us to significant risks”);

•

Precor's employees in a number of countries around the world are now Peloton employees, and we may face new and unanticipated
challenges in employing this significant workforce, including integrating these employees into our existing business units, providing
benefits and working conditions that comply with the laws in jurisdictions in which we haven't operated before, and maintaining our One
Peloton culture; and

•

We may have failed to identify or assess the magnitude of certain liabilities, shortcomings or other risks in Precor's business prior to
closing our acquisition of Precor, which could result in unexpected litigation or regulatory exposure, unfavorable accounting treatment,
a diversion of management’s attention and resources, and other adverse effects on our business, financial condition, and operating
results.

The occurrence of any of these risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results. See “—We
may engage in merger and acquisition activities, which could require significant management attention, disrupt our business, dilute stockholder
value, and adversely affect our operating results.
We may experience delays and disruptions in the development and construction of our U.S. manufacturing facility and, once operational, we may
not be successful operating such facility or our other manufacturing facilities, which could adversely impact our business and prospects. Any
such delays or disruptions or failure to successfully operate our manufacturing facilities could result in interruptions in the development,
manufacturing, and shipment of our Connected Fitness Products.
In May 2021, we announced our plans to build a U.S.-based manufacturing facility in Troy Township, Ohio, which we named “Peloton Output
Park.” We intend to invest approximately $400 million to build the facility, which we intend to use to manufacture our Connected Fitness
Products in addition to our existing manufacturing facilities in Taiwan and our recently acquired Precor manufacturing facilities in North Carolina
and Washington state. The process of developing and constructing Peloton Output Park and moving manufacturing operations to such facility,
as well as operating our manufacturing facilities in Taiwan and the acquired Precor manufacturing facilities, is inherently complex. The
development and construction of the new facility and our expansion of our manufacturing operations may cause significant disruption to our
operations, divert management's attention and resources and will require significant capital expenditure, all of which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results. If we encounter significant delays, cost overruns, engineering
problems, equipment supply constraints, difficulty obtaining licenses and permits, or other serious challenges in making Peloton Output Park
operational, we may be unable to meet our production goals in the time frame we have planned. We may not be successful in producing the
amount and quality of Connected Fitness Products we anticipate across our manufacturing facilities and our operating results may suffer as a
result. Our experience operating and manufacturing Connected Fitness Products at scale continues to evolve, and any delays or disruptions
could result in interruptions in the development, manufacturing, and shipment of our Connected Fitness Products. We can give no assurance that
the development of Peloton Output Park will be completed as planned or within the anticipated timeframe, or that we will fully realize the
expected benefits of such facility or any additional manufacturing facilities that we seek to open.
We plan to expand into international markets, which will expose us to significant risks.
We are currently expanding our operations to other countries, which requires significant resources and management attention and subjects us to
regulatory, economic, and political risks in addition to those we already face in the United States. There are significant risks and costs inherent in
doing business in international markets, including:
•

difficulty establishing and managing international operations and the increased operations, travel, infrastructure, including
establishment of local delivery service and customer service operations, and legal compliance costs associated with locations in
different countries or regions;

•

the need to vary pricing and margins to effectively compete in international markets;
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•

the need to adapt and localize products for specific countries, including obtaining rights to third-party intellectual property, including
music, used in each country;

•

increased competition from local providers of similar products and services;

•

the ability to protect and enforce intellectual property rights abroad;

•

the need to offer content and customer support in various languages;

•

difficulties in understanding and complying with local laws, regulations, and customs in other jurisdictions;

•

compliance with anti-bribery laws, such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, and the U.K. Bribery Act 2010, or U.K. Bribery
Act, by us, our employees, and our business partners;

•

complexity and other risks associated with current and future legal requirements in other countries, including legal requirements related
to consumer protection, consumer product safety, and data privacy frameworks, such as the E.U. General Data Protection Regulation;

•

varying levels of internet technology adoption and infrastructure, and increased or varying network and hosting service provider costs;

•

tariffs and other non-tariff barriers, such as quotas and local content rules, as well as tax consequences;

•

fluctuations in currency exchange rates and the requirements of currency control regulations, which might restrict or prohibit
conversion of other currencies into U.S. dollars; and

•

political or social unrest or economic instability in a specific country or region in which we operate, including, for example, the effects of
“Brexit,” which could have an adverse impact on our operations in that location.

In addition to expanding our operations into international markets through the sale of our Connected Fitness Products and the production of our
platform content, we have, and may in the future, expand our international operations through acquisitions of, or investments in, foreign entities,
which may result in additional operational costs and risks. For example, as a result of our October 2019 acquisition of Tonic, one of our
manufacturing partners and a Taiwanese entity, we own and are responsible for managing manufacturing plants in Taiwan. This acquisition
requires us to, among other things, fulfill Tonic’s obligations under existing service contracts that are unrelated to our current business, address
the difficulties of managing a workforce in a foreign country with different labor laws, customs, and language barriers, and successfully maintain
relationships with Tonic’s current suppliers and contract partners. Additionally, in April 2021, we completed our acquisition of Precor which
serves customers in more than 100 countries worldwide. As a result, we need to increase our operations and efforts abroad, which could result
in various integration challenges and amplify the various risks and costs of doing business in international markets described above.
We have limited experience with international regulatory environments and market practices and may not be able to penetrate or successfully
operate in the markets we choose to enter. In addition, we may incur significant expenses as a result of our international expansion, and we may
not be successful. We may face limited brand recognition in certain parts of the world that could lead to non-acceptance or delayed acceptance
of our products and services by consumers in new markets. We may also face challenges to acceptance of our fitness and wellness content in
new markets. Our failure to successfully manage these risks could harm our international operations and have an adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, and operating results.
We may engage in merger and acquisition activities, which could require significant management attention, disrupt our business, dilute
stockholder value, and adversely affect our operating results.
As part of our business strategy, we have made and, in the future, intend to continue to make investments in other companies, products, or
technologies, including acquisitions that may result in our entering markets or lines of business in which we do not currently have expertise. For
example, in June 2018, we acquired Neurotic Media to develop a proprietary music platform that our instructors use to curate class playlists, and
in October 2019, we acquired Tonic, one of our manufacturing partners. In addition, in April 2021, we acquired Precor in order to establish U.S.
manufacturing capacity, boost research and development capabilities, and accelerate our penetration of the commercial market.
We may not be able to find suitable acquisition candidates and we may not be able to complete acquisitions on favorable terms, if at all, in the
future. If we do complete acquisitions, we may not ultimately strengthen our competitive position or achieve our goals, and any acquisitions we
complete could be viewed negatively by Members, prospective Members, employees, or investors. Moreover, an acquisition, investment, or
business relationship may result in unforeseen operating difficulties and expenditures, including disrupting our ongoing operations, diverting
management from their primary responsibilities, subjecting us to additional liabilities, increasing our expenses, and adversely impacting our
business, financial condition, and operating results. Some acquisitions may require us to spend considerable time, effort, and resources to
integrate employees from the acquired business into our teams, and acquisitions of companies in lines of business in which we lack expertise
may require considerable management time, oversight, and research before we see the desired benefit of such acquisitions. Therefore, we may
be exposed to unknown liabilities and the anticipated benefits of any acquisition, investment, or business relationship may not be realized, if, for
example, we fail to successfully integrate such acquisitions, or the technologies associated with such acquisitions, into our company.
To pay for any such acquisitions, we would have to use cash, incur debt, or issue equity securities, each of which may affect our financial
condition or the value of our capital stock and could result in dilution to our stockholders. If we incur more debt it would result in increased fixed
obligations and could also subject us to covenants or other restrictions that would impede our ability to manage our operations. Additionally, we
may receive indications of interest from other parties interested in acquiring some or all of our business. The time required to evaluate such
indications of interest could require significant attention from management, disrupt the ordinary functioning of our business, and could have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results.
Any major disruption or failure of our information technology systems or websites, or our failure to successfully implement upgrades and new
technology effectively, could adversely affect our business and operations.
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Certain of our information technology systems are designed and maintained by us and are critical for the efficient functioning of our business,
including the manufacture and distribution of our Connected Fitness Products, online sales of our Connected Fitness Products, and the ability of
our Members to access content on our platform. Our rapid growth has, in certain instances, strained these systems. As we grow, we continue to
implement modifications and upgrades to our systems, and these activities subject us to inherent costs and risks associated with replacing and
upgrading these systems, including, but not limited to, impairment of our ability to fulfill customer orders and other disruptions in our business
operations. Further, our system implementations may not result in productivity improvements at a level that outweighs the costs of
implementation, or at all. If we fail to successfully implement modifications and upgrades or expand the functionality of our information
technology systems, we could experience increased costs associated with diminished productivity and operating inefficiencies related to the
flow of goods through our supply chain.
In addition, any unexpected technological interruptions to our systems or websites would disrupt our operations, including our ability to timely
ship and track product orders, project inventory requirements, manage our supply chain, sell our Connected Fitness Products online, provide
services to our Members, and otherwise adequately serve our Members.
Online sales of our Connected Fitness Products through www.onepeloton.com represented a majority of our units sold in the United States for
fiscal 2021. The operation of our direct to consumer e-commerce business through our website depends on our ability to maintain the efficient
and uninterrupted operation of online order-taking and fulfillment operations. Any system interruptions or delays could prevent potential
customers from purchasing our Connected Fitness Products.
Moreover, the ability of our Members to access the content on our platform could be diminished by a number of factors, including Members’
inability to access the internet, the failure of our network or software systems, security breaches, or variability in Member traffic for our platform.
Platform failures would be most impactful if they occurred during peak platform use periods, which generally occur before and after standard
work hours. During these peak periods, there are a significant number of Members concurrently accessing our platform and if we are unable to
provide uninterrupted access, our Members’ perception of our platform’s reliability may be damaged, our revenue could be reduced, our
reputation could be harmed, and we may be required to issue credits or refunds, or risk losing Members.
In the event we experience significant disruptions, we may be unable to repair our systems in an efficient and timely manner which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results.
Our Member engagement on mobile devices depends upon effective operation with mobile and streaming device operating systems, networks,
and standards that we do not control.
A significant and growing portion of our Members access our platform through the Peloton App and there is no guarantee that popular mobile
devices or television streaming devices will continue to support the Peloton App or that device users will use the Peloton App rather than
competing products. We are dependent on the interoperability of the Peloton App with popular mobile and television streaming operating
systems that we do not control, such as Android and iOS, and any changes in such systems that degrade the functionality of our digital offering
or give preferential treatment to competitors could adversely affect our platform’s usage on mobile devices and televisions. Additionally, in order
to deliver high-quality content, it is important that our digital offering is designed effectively and works well with a range of mobile and streaming
technologies, systems, networks, and standards that we do not control. We may not be successful in developing relationships with key
participants in the mobile and streaming industry or in developing products that operate effectively with these technologies, systems, networks,
or standards. In the event that it is more difficult for our Members to access and use our platform on their mobile devices or TVs, or Members
find our App does not effectively meet their needs, our competitors develop products and services that are perceived to operate more effectively
on mobile devices or TVs, or if our Members choose not to access or use our platform on their mobile devices or TVs or use products that do not
offer access to our platform, our Member growth and Member engagement could be adversely impacted.
Our operating results could be adversely affected if we are unable to accurately forecast consumer demand for our products and services and
adequately manage our inventory.
To ensure adequate inventory supply, we must forecast inventory needs and expenses and place orders sufficiently in advance with our
suppliers and contract manufacturers, based on our estimates of future demand for particular products and services. Failure to accurately
forecast our needs may result in manufacturing delays or increased costs. Our ability to accurately forecast demand could be affected by many
factors, including changes in consumer demand for our products and services, changes in demand for the products and services of our
competitors, unanticipated changes in general market conditions, and the weakening of economic conditions or consumer confidence in future
economic conditions, such as those caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. This risk will be exacerbated by the fact that we may not carry a
significant amount of inventory and may not be able to satisfy short-term demand increases. For example, we experienced an unexpected
increase in demand for our Connected Fitness Products as a result of government shelter-in-place orders and other stay-at-home dynamics in
response to the COVID-19 pandemic, which resulted in inventory shortages, delayed delivery timelines and delays in fulfilling support requests. If
we fail to accurately forecast consumer demand, we may experience excess inventory levels or a shortage of products available for sale.
Inventory levels in excess of consumer demand may result in inventory write-downs or write-offs and the sale of excess inventory at discounted
prices, which would cause our gross margins to suffer and could impair the strength and premium nature of our brand. Further, lower than
forecasted demand could also result in excess manufacturing capacity or reduced manufacturing efficiencies, which could result in lower
margins. Conversely, if we underestimate consumer demand, our suppliers and manufacturers may not be able to deliver products to meet our
requirements or we may be subject to higher costs in order to secure the necessary production capacity. An inability to meet consumer demand
and delays in the delivery of our products to our customers could result in reputational harm and damaged customer relationships and have an
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results.
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If we are unable to anticipate appropriate pricing levels for our Connected Fitness Products and subscriptions, our business could be adversely
affected.
If we are unable to anticipate appropriate pricing levels for our portfolio of Connected Fitness Products and subscription services, whether due to
consumer sentiment, brand perception, competitive pressure, or otherwise, our revenues and/or gross margins could be significantly reduced.
Further, our decisions around the development of new products and services are in part based upon assumptions around pricing levels. If there
is price compression in the market after these decisions are made, it could have a negative effect on our business.
Changes in how we market our products and services could adversely affect our marketing expenses and subscription levels.
We use a broad mix of marketing and other brand-building measures to attract Members. We use traditional television and online advertising, as
well as third-party social media platforms such as Facebook, Twitter, and Instagram, as marketing tools. As television advertising, online, and
social media platforms continue to rapidly evolve or grow more competitive, we must continue to maintain a presence on these platforms and
establish a presence on new or emerging popular social media and advertising and marketing platforms. If we cannot cost effectively use these
marketing tools, if we fail to promote our products and services efficiently and effectively, or if our marketing campaigns attract negative media
attention, our ability to acquire new Members and our financial condition may suffer and the price of our Class A common stock could decline. In
addition, an increase in the use of television, online, and social media for product promotion and marketing may increase the burden on us to
monitor compliance of such materials and increase the risk that such materials could contain problematic product or marketing claims in
violation of applicable regulations.
An economic downturn or economic uncertainty may adversely affect consumer discretionary spending and demand for our products and
services.
Our products and services may be considered discretionary items for consumers. Factors affecting the level of consumer spending for such
discretionary items include general economic conditions, and other factors, such as consumer confidence in future economic conditions, fears
of recession, the availability and cost of consumer credit, levels of unemployment, and tax rates. In particular, we believe that the COVID-19
pandemic and its resulting global macroeconomic impact may adversely affect consumer discretionary spending and, though demand for our
Connected Fitness Products and services has been high due to government shelter-in-place orders and other stay at home trends, may result in
decreased demand for our Connected Fitness Products in the long-term. In recent years, the United States and other significant economic
markets have experienced cyclical downturns and worldwide economic conditions remain uncertain. As global economic conditions continue to
be volatile or economic uncertainty remains, including due to the COVID-19 pandemic, trends in consumer discretionary spending also remain
unpredictable and subject to reductions. To date, our business has operated almost exclusively in a relatively strong economic environment and,
therefore, we cannot be sure the extent to which we may be affected by recessionary conditions. Unfavorable economic conditions may lead
consumers to delay or reduce purchases of our products and services and consumer demand for our products and services may not grow as we
expect. Our sensitivity to economic cycles and any related fluctuation in consumer demand for our products and services could have an adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results.
Our revenue could decline due to changes in credit markets and decisions made by credit providers.
Historically, a majority of our customers have financed their purchase of our Connected Fitness Products through third-party credit providers
with whom we have existing relationships. If we are unable to maintain our relationships with our financing partners, there is no guarantee that
we will be able to find replacement partners who will provide our customers with financing on similar terms, and our ability to sell our Connected
Fitness Products may be adversely affected. Further, reductions in consumer lending and the availability of consumer credit could limit the
number of customers with the financial means to purchase our products. Higher interest rates could increase our costs or the monthly payments
for consumer products financed through other sources of consumer financing. In the future, we cannot be assured that third-party financing
providers will continue to provide consumers with access to credit or that available credit limits will not be reduced. Such restrictions or
reductions in the availability of consumer credit, or the loss of our relationship with our current financing partners, could have an adverse effect
on our business, financial conditions, and operating results.
We have a limited operating history with which to evaluate and predict the profitability of our subscription model. Additionally, we may introduce
new revenue models in the future.
The majority of our Subscribers are on month-to-month subscription terms and may cancel their subscriptions at any time. We have limited
historical data with respect to subscription renewals, so we may be unable to accurately predict customer renewal rates. Additionally, prior
renewal rates may not accurately predict future Subscriber renewal rates for a variety of reasons, such as Subscribers’ dissatisfaction with our
offerings and the cost of our subscriptions, macroeconomic conditions, or new offering introductions by us or our competitors. If our
Subscribers do not renew their subscriptions, our revenue may decline and our business will suffer. Moreover, while we have experienced a
significant increase in our Subscriber base since the outbreak of COVID-19, it remains uncertain how the COVID-19 pandemic will impact
Subscriber renewal rates in the long-term.
Furthermore, in the future, we may offer new subscription products, implement promotions, or replace or modify current subscription models,
any of which could result in additional costs. It is unknown how our Subscribers will react to new models and whether the costs or logistics of
implementing these models will adversely impact our business. If the adoption of new revenue models adversely impacts our Subscriber
relationships, then Subscriber growth, Subscriber engagement, and our business, financial condition, and operating results could be harmed.
We track certain operational and business metrics with internal methods that are subject to inherent challenges in measurement, and real or
perceived inaccuracies in such metrics may harm our reputation and negatively affect our business.
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We track certain operational and business metrics, including Total Workouts and Average Monthly Workouts per Connected Fitness
Subscription, with internal methods, which are not independently verified by any third party and, in particular for Peloton Digital, are often reliant
upon an interface with mobile operating systems, networks and standards that we do not control. Our internal methods have limitations and our
process for tracking these metrics may change over time, which could result in unexpected changes to our metrics, including the metrics we
report. If the internal methods we use under-count or over-count metrics related to our Total Workouts, Average Monthly Workouts per
Connected Fitness Subscription or other metrics as a result of algorithm or other technical errors, the operational and business metrics that we
report may not be accurate. In addition, limitations or errors with respect to how we measure certain operational and business metrics may
affect our understanding of certain details of our business, which could affect our longer term strategies. If our operational and business metrics
are not accurate representations of our business, market penetration, retention or engagement; if we discover material inaccuracies in our
metrics; or if the metrics we rely on to track our performance do not provide an accurate measurement of our business, our reputation may be
harmed, and our operating and financial results could be adversely affected.
The forecasts of market growth may prove to be inaccurate, and even if the market in which we compete achieves the forecasted growth, we
cannot assure you that our business will grow at a similar rate, if at all.
Growth forecasts are subject to significant uncertainty and are based on assumptions and estimates that may not prove to be accurate. The
forecasts relating to the expected growth in the connected fitness and wellness market, including estimates based on our own internal survey
data, may prove to be inaccurate. Even if the market experiences the growth we forecast, we may not grow our business at a similar rate, or at
all. Our growth is subject to many factors, including our success in implementing our business strategy, which is subject to many risks and
uncertainties.
We or our Subscribers may be subject to sales and other taxes, and we may be subject to liabilities on past sales for taxes, surcharges, and fees.
The application of indirect taxes, such as sales and use tax, subscription sales tax, value-added tax, provincial taxes, goods and services tax,
business tax, and gross receipt tax, to businesses like ours and to our Subscribers is a complex and evolving issue. Significant judgment is
required to evaluate applicable tax obligations. In many cases, the ultimate tax determination is uncertain because it is not clear how existing
statutes apply to our business. One or more states, the federal government, or other countries may seek to impose additional reporting, recordkeeping, or indirect tax collection obligations on businesses like ours that offer subscription services and other fitness offerings. New taxes
could also require us to incur substantial costs to capture data and collect and remit taxes. If such obligations were imposed, the additional
costs associated with tax collection, remittance, and audit requirements could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and
operating results.
Covenants in the loan and security agreement governing our revolving credit facility may restrict our operations, and if we do not effectively
manage our business to comply with these covenants, our financial condition could be adversely impacted.
We entered into the Amended Credit Agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Bank of America, N.A., Barclays Bank PLC, Citibank, N.A.,
Goldman Sachs Lending Partners LLC, and Silicon Valley Bank in June 2019 (as amended by the First Amendment, dated February 8, 2021 and
the Joinder Agreement, dated March 18, 2021), which amended and restated the loan and security agreement that we previously entered into in
November 2017, providing for a $285.0 million secured revolving line of credit. The term loan and revolving credit facility contains various
restrictive covenants, including, among other things, minimum liquidity and revenue requirements, restrictions on our ability to dispose of assets,
make acquisitions or investments, incur debt or liens, make distributions to our stockholders, or enter into certain types of related party
transactions. These restrictions may restrict our current and future operations, particularly our ability to respond to certain changes in our
business or industry, or take future actions. Pursuant to the agreement, we granted the parties thereto a security interest in substantially all of
our assets. See Note 12 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements and the section titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Liquidity and Capital Resources - Amended Credit Agreement” in Part II, Item 7 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
Our ability to meet these restrictive covenants can be impacted by events beyond our control and we may be unable to do so. Our loan and
security agreement provide that our breach or failure to satisfy certain covenants constitutes an event of default. Upon the occurrence of an
event of default, our lenders could elect to declare all amounts outstanding under its debt agreements to be immediately due and payable. In
addition, our lenders would have the right to proceed against the assets we provided as collateral pursuant to the loan and security agreement. If
the debt under our loan and security agreement was to be accelerated, we may not have sufficient cash on hand or be able to sell sufficient
collateral to repay it, which would have an immediate adverse effect on our business and operating results. This could potentially cause us to
cease operations and result in a complete loss of your investment in our Class A common stock.
We have identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, and if our remediation of such material weakness is not
effective, or if we fail to develop and maintain an effective system of disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting, our ability
to produce timely and accurate financial statements or comply with applicable laws and regulations could be impaired.
In the course of preparing our financial statements for fiscal 2021, we identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial
reporting. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely
basis. The material weakness identified related to reporting involving inventory. We have concluded that this material weakness arose because
our controls were not effectively designed, documented and maintained to verify that our physical inventory counts were correctly counted and
communicated for reporting in our financial statements.
To address our material weakness, we are evaluating our program and controls to automate inventory count and reporting, implementing a
global inventory count policy and standard operating procedures, training on these standard operating procedures and implementing enhanced
document review for validating the accuracy of key reports used in the inventory process. We will not be able to fully remediate this material
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weakness until these steps have been completed and have been operating effectively for a sufficient period of time. See Part II, Item 9A
“Controls and Procedures” for additional information about this material weakness and our remediation efforts.
If we are unable to further implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting or disclosure controls and procedures, our
ability to record, process and report financial information accurately, and to prepare financial statements within required time periods could be
adversely affected, which could subject us to litigation or investigations requiring management resources and payment of legal and other
expenses, negatively affect investor confidence in our financial statements and adversely impact our stock price. If we are unable to assert that
our internal control over financial reporting is effective, or if our independent registered public accounting firm is unable to express an
unqualified opinion as to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting, investors may lose confidence in the accuracy and
completeness of our financial reports, the market price of our Class A common stock could be adversely affected and we could become subject
to litigation or investigations by the stock exchange on which our securities are listed, the SEC or other regulatory authorities, which could require
additional financial and management resources.
Furthermore, we cannot assure you that the measures we have taken to date, and actions we may take in the future, will be sufficient to
remediate the control deficiencies that led to our material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting or that they will prevent or
avoid potential future material weaknesses. Our current controls and any new controls that we develop may become inadequate because of
changes in conditions in our business. Further, weaknesses in our disclosure controls and internal control over financial reporting may be
discovered in the future. Any failure to develop or maintain effective controls or any difficulties encountered in their implementation or
improvement could harm our operating results or cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations and may result in a restatement of our
financial statements for prior periods.
Any failure to implement and maintain effective internal control over financial reporting could adversely affect the results of periodic
management evaluations and annual independent registered public accounting firm attestation reports regarding the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting that we are required to include in our periodic reports that are filed with the SEC. Ineffective disclosure
controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting could also cause investors to lose confidence in our reported financial and
other information, which would likely have a negative effect on the trading price of our Class A common stock. In addition, if we are unable to
continue to meet these requirements, we may not be able to remain listed on the Nasdaq Global Select Market.
Other Risks Related to Our Connected Fitness Products and Members
Our products and services may be affected from time to time by design and manufacturing defects, real or perceived, that could adversely affect
our business and result in harm to our reputation.
We offer complex hardware and software products and services that can be affected by design and manufacturing defects. Sophisticated
operating system software and applications, such as those offered by us, often have issues that can unexpectedly interfere with the intended
operation of hardware or software products. Defects may also exist in components and products that we source from third parties. Any defects
could make our products and services unsafe and create a risk of environmental or property damage and/or personal injury. We may also
become subject to the hazards and uncertainties of product liability claims and related litigation. For example, we have received reports of
injuries associated with our Tread+ product, one of which led to the death of a child. As a result of the aforementioned injuries associated with
these reported Tread+ incidents, in April 2021, CPSC unilaterally issued a warning to consumers about the safety hazards associated with the
Tread+ and is continuing to investigate the matter. While we do not agree with all of the assertions in CPSC’s warning, we announced on May 5,
2021 that we will initiate a voluntary recall of our Tread+ product in collaboration with the CPSC. The recall, the possibility that the CPSC or other
regulators could assess penalties or fines against us, and the risk that the CPSC or we could determine to recall any other product now or in the
future, may adversely impact our operating results, brand reputation, and business. For example, in connection with the voluntary recall of the
Tread+, we developed and released additional safety features, such as a passcode to protect against unauthorized use, and we are working to
develop additional physical hardware to further enhance the safety of the product. If we are unable to develop a product solution to further
enhance the safety of our Tread+ product, we may not be able to sell that product for a significant period of time, if ever, and may face
substantial costs associated with the development of such features and implementation of the recall. In addition to the CPSC investigation, we
are presently subject to class action litigation, private personal injury claims, and regulatory proceedings related to the Tread+ and Tread recalls
that, regardless of their merits, could harm our reputation, divert management’s attention from our operations, and result in substantial legal
fees, judgments, fines, penalties, and other costs. Given that such proceedings are subject to uncertainty, there can be no assurance that such
legal and regulatory proceedings, either individually or in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations, financial condition or cash flows. Furthermore, the occurrence of real or perceived defects in any of our products, now or in the
future, could result in additional negative publicity, regulatory investigations, or lawsuits filed against us, particularly if Members or others who
use or purchase our Connected Fitness Products are injured. Even if injuries are not the result of any defects, if they are perceived to be, we may
incur expenses to defend or settle any claims and our brand and reputation may be harmed.
In addition, from time to time we may experience outages, service slowdowns, hardware issues, or software errors that affect our ability to
deliver our fitness and wellness programming through our Connected Fitness platform. As a result, our services may not perform as anticipated
and may not meet our expectations, or legal or regulatory requirements, or the expectations of our Members. There can be no assurance that we
will be able to detect and fix all issues and defects in the hardware, software, and services we offer. Failure to do so could result in widespread
technical and performance issues affecting our products and services and could lead to claims or investigations against us.
We maintain general liability insurance; however, design and manufacturing defects, real or perceived, and claims related thereto, may subject us
to judgments or settlements that result in damages materially in excess of the limits of our insurance coverage. In addition, we may be exposed
to recalls, product replacements or modifications, write-offs of inventory, property and equipment, or intangible assets, and significant warranty
and other expenses such as litigation costs and regulatory fines. If we cannot successfully defend any large claim, maintain our general liability
insurance on acceptable terms, or maintain adequate coverage against potential claims, our financial results could be adversely impacted.
28

Further, quality problems could adversely affect the experience for users of our products and services, and result in harm to our reputation, loss
of competitive advantage, poor market acceptance, reduced demand for our products and services, delay in new product and service
introductions, and lost revenue.
Our Members use their Connected Fitness Products, subscriptions, and fitness accessories to track and record their workouts. If our products
fail to provide accurate metrics and data to our Members, our brand and reputation could be harmed and we may be unable to retain our
Members.
Our Members use their Connected Fitness Products, subscriptions, and fitness accessories, such as our heart rate monitor, to track and record
certain metrics related to their workouts. Examples of metrics tracked on our platform includes heart rate, calories burned, distance traveled and
Strive Score, and, in the case of the Bike, cadence, resistance, and output, and, in the case of the Tread, pace, speed, and elevation. Taken
together, these metrics assist our Members in tracking their fitness journey and understanding the effectiveness of their Peloton workouts, both
during and after a workout. We anticipate introducing new metrics and features in the future. If the software used in our Connected Fitness
Products or on our platform malfunctions and fails to accurately track, display, or record Member workouts and metrics, we could face claims
alleging that our products and services do not operate as advertised. Such reports and claims could result in negative publicity, product liability
and/or product safety claims, and, in some cases, may require us to expend time and resources to refute such claims and defend against
potential litigation. If our products and services fail to provide accurate metrics and data to our Members, or if there are reports or claims of
inaccurate metrics and data or claims of inaccuracy regarding the overall health benefits of our products and services in the future, we may
become the subject of negative publicity, litigation, regulatory proceedings, and warranty claims, and our brand, operating results, and business
could be harmed.
If we fail to offer high-quality Member support, our business and reputation will suffer.
Once our Connected Fitness Products are purchased, our Members rely on our high-touch delivery and set up service to deliver and install their
equipment in a professional and efficient manner. Our Members also rely on our support services to resolve any issues related to the use of our
Connected Fitness Products and content. Providing a high-quality Member experience is vital to our success in generating word-of-mouth
referrals to drive sales and for retaining existing Members. Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, our ability to provide high-quality Member support
has been significantly impacted. For example, due to COVID-19, we have at times been unable to provide in-home servicing of our Connected
Fitness Products, we have at times had to pause and temporarily suspend the sale, delivery, and installation of the Tread, and delivery
procedures for the Bike have been limited in some locations where we are unable to provide in-home delivery and set up services. In addition, the
closure of our offices has forced our Member support staff to work from home, which may result in work-productivity issues or a decrease in
efficiencies, particularly during times of high call volume as we have seen when delivery lead times get longer. The importance of high-quality
support will increase as we expand our business and introduce new products and services. If we do not help our Members quickly resolve issues
and provide effective ongoing support, our reputation may suffer and our ability to retain and attract Members, or to sell additional products and
services to existing Members, could be harmed.
We may be subject to warranty claims that could result in significant direct or indirect costs, or we could experience greater product returns than
expected, either of which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results.
We generally provide a minimum 12-month limited warranty on all of our Connected Fitness Products. In addition, we permit returns of our Bikes
or Treads by first-time purchasers for a full refund within 30 days of delivery. The occurrence of any defects, real or perceived, in our Connected
Fitness Products could result in an increase in returns or make us liable for damages and warranty claims in excess of our current reserves,
which could result in an adverse effect on our business prospects, liquidity, financial condition, and cash flows if returns or warranty claims were
to materially exceed anticipated levels. Due to the current COVID-19 pandemic, we may experience higher product returns as consumer
discretionary spending decreases, or as the removal of lockdowns drive consumers to go back to their pre-COVID routines. Moreover, in light of
changes we have made to our delivery procedures in connection with the COVID-19 pandemic, it is possible that warranty claims may increase
above historical rates, and we may be unable to satisfactorily validate and resolve warranty claims where the COVID-19 pandemic or other
factors prevent us from performing in-home deliveries and/or service appointments. For example, if we are unable to resolve warranty claims
through in-home service appointments, in some cases we have sent the Member a replacement Bike frame and have requested that they hold
the impaired Bike frame until a later date when we can safely retrieve it.
In addition, we have been, and in the future could be, subject to costs related to product recalls, and we could incur significant costs to correct
any defects, warranty claims, or other problems. Any negative publicity related to the perceived quality and safety of our products could affect
our brand image, decrease consumer and Member confidence and demand, and adversely affect our financial condition and operating results.
Also, while our warranty is limited to repairs and returns, warranty claims may result in litigation, the occurrence of which could have an adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results. For example, we have received reports of a number of injuries associated with
our Tread+ product, one of which led to the death of a child. As a result of the aforementioned injuries associated with these reported Tread+
incidents, in April 2021, CPSC unilaterally issued a warning to consumers about the safety hazards associated with the Tread+ and is continuing
to investigate the matter. After further discussion with the CPSC, on May 5, 2021, we decided to issue a voluntary product recall of our Tread+,
which we are conducting in collaboration with the CPSC. The Tread+ recall, the possibility that the CPSC could assess penalties or fines against
us, and the risk that the CPSC or we could determine to recall any other product now or in the future, may adversely impact our operating results,
brand reputation, and business. Furthermore, we are presently, and may in the future be, subject to warranty claims and lawsuits related to
injuries sustained by Members or their friends and family members, or others who use or purchase the Tread+ and other Connected Fitness
Products, that regardless of their merits, could harm our reputation, divert management’s attention from our operations and result in substantial
legal fees and other costs.
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In addition to warranties supplied by us, we also offer the option for customers to purchase third-party extended warranty and services contracts
in some markets, which creates an ongoing performance obligation over the warranty period. Extended warranties are regulated in the United
States on a state level and are treated differently by state. Outside the United States, regulations for extended warranties vary from country to
country. Changes in interpretation of the insurance regulations or other laws and regulations concerning extended warranties on a federal, state,
local, or international level may cause us to incur costs or have additional regulatory requirements to meet in the future. Our failure to comply
with past, present, and future similar laws could result in reduced sales of our products, reputational damage, penalties, and other sanctions,
which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results.
Regulations related to conflict minerals may cause us to incur additional expenses and could limit the supply and increase the costs of certain
metals used in the manufacturing of our products.
We are subject to requirements under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, which will require us to conduct
due diligence on and disclose whether or not our products contain conflict minerals. The implementation of these requirements could adversely
affect the sourcing, availability, and pricing of the materials used in the manufacture of components used in our products. In addition, we will
incur additional costs to comply with the disclosure requirements, including costs related to conducting diligence procedures to determine the
sources of minerals that may be used or necessary to the production of our products and, if applicable, potential changes to products,
processes, or sources of supply as a consequence of such due diligence activities. It is also possible that we may face reputational harm if we
determine that certain of our products contain minerals not determined to be conflict free or if we are unable to alter our products, processes, or
sources of supply to avoid such materials.
Risks Related to Laws, Regulation, and Legal Proceedings
From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings, regulatory investigations or disputes, and governmental inquiries that could cause us
to incur significant expenses, divert our management’s attention, and materially harm our business, financial condition, and operating results.
From time to time, we may be subject to claims, lawsuits, government investigations, and other proceedings involving products liability,
competition and antitrust, intellectual property, privacy, consumer protection, securities, tax, labor and employment, commercial disputes, and
other matters that could adversely affect our business operations and financial condition. As we have grown, we have seen a rise in the number
and significance of these disputes and inquiries. Injuries sustained by Members or their friends and family members, or others who use or
purchase our Connected Fitness Products, could subject us to regulatory proceedings and litigation by governance agencies and private litigants
brought against us, that regardless of their merits, could harm our reputation, divert management’s attention from our operations and result in
substantial legal fees and other costs. For example, we are presently subject to a CPSC investigation and other litigation related to injuries
sustained by Members and others who use or purchase the Tread+, and we have reporting obligations to safety regulators in all jurisdictions
where we sell Connected Fitness Products, where reporting may trigger further regulatory investigations. In addition, the DOJ and U.S.
Department of Homeland Security ("DHS") have subpoenaed us for documents and other information related to our reporting of the injuries
associated with our products and the SEC is also investigating our public disclosures concerning these matters. We have also been named in
several lawsuits related to these recalls. In April 2021, purported Peloton Member Shannon Albright filed a putative class action lawsuit against
us, alleging violations of various California state laws related to the Tread+ and the matters contained in the CPSC warning, and plaintiff Ashley
Wilson filed (and later amended) a putative securities class action lawsuit against us, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer ,
purportedly on behalf of a class consisting of those individuals who purchased or otherwise acquired our Class A common stock between
September 11, 2020 and May 24, 2021, alleging that the defendants made false and/or misleading statements in violations of Sections 10(b) and
20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. In May 2021, Leigh Drori filed a putative securities class action lawsuit
against us, our Chief Executive Officer, and our Chief Financial Officer purportedly on behalf of a class consisting of those individuals who
purchased or otherwise acquired our common stock between September 11, 2020 and May 5, 2021 similarly alleging that the defendants made
false and/or misleading statements in violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder, and
Alan Chu filed a verified shareholder derivative action lawsuit purportedly on behalf of the Company against certain of our executive officers and
the members of our board of directors alleging breaches of fiduciary duties, unjust enrichment, abuse of control, gross mismanagement, waste,
and violations of Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act, as well as a claim for contribution under Sections 10(b) and 21D of the Exchange Act
against our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. In August 2021, Moshe Genack and Xingqi Liu filed verified shareholder derivative
action lawsuits purportedly on behalf of the Company against certain of our executive officers and the members of our board of directors. The
Genack action alleges breaches of fiduciary duties, unjust enrichment, abuse of control, gross mismanagement, waste, and violations of Section
14(a) of the Exchange Act, as well as a claim for contribution under Sections 10(b) and 21D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 against our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. The Liu action alleges breaches of fiduciary duties and violations of Section 14(a) of the
Exchange Act.
Litigation, regulatory proceedings, such as the investigations described above, as well as related personal injury or class action claims and
lawsuits, and securities and intellectual property infringement matters that we are currently facing or could face, can be protracted and
expensive, and the results are difficult to predict. Certain of these matters include speculative claims for substantial or indeterminate amounts of
damages and include claims for injunctive relief. Additionally, our legal costs for any of these matters, either alone or in the aggregate could be
significant. Adverse outcomes with respect to any of these legal or regulatory proceedings may result in significant settlement costs or
judgments, penalties and fines, or require us to modify our products or services, make content unavailable, or require us to stop offering certain
products, components, or features, all of which could negatively affect our membership and revenue growth. See Note 13 of the notes to our
consolidated financial statements and the section titled “—Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
The results of litigation, investigations, claims, and regulatory proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, and determining reserves for
pending litigation and other legal and regulatory matters requires significant judgment. There can be no assurance that our expectations will
prove correct, and even if these matters are resolved in our favor or without significant cash settlements, these matters, and the time and
resources necessary to litigate or resolve them, could harm our business, financial condition, and operating results.
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We collect, store, process, and use personal information and other Member data, which subjects us to legal obligations and laws and regulations
related to security and privacy, and any actual or perceived failure to meet those obligations could harm our business.
We collect, process, store, and use a wide variety of data from current and prospective Members, including personal information, such as home
addresses and geolocation. Federal, state, and international laws and regulations governing privacy, data protection, and e-commerce
transactions require us to safeguard our Members’ personal information. Although we have established security procedures to protect Member
information, our or our third-party service providers’ security and testing measures may not prevent security breaches. Further, advances in
computer capabilities, new discoveries in the field of cryptography, inadequate facility security, or other developments may result in a
compromise or breach of the technology we use to protect Member data. Any compromise of our security or breach of our Members’ privacy
could harm our reputation or financial condition and, therefore, our business.
In addition, a party who circumvents our security measures or exploits inadequacies in our security measures, could, among other effects,
misappropriate Member data or other proprietary information, cause interruptions in our operations, or expose Members to computer viruses or
other disruptions. Actual or perceived vulnerabilities may lead to claims against us. To the extent that the measures we or our third-party
business partners have taken prove to be insufficient or inadequate, we may become subject to litigation, breach notification obligations, or
regulatory or administrative sanctions, which could result in significant fines, penalties, or damages and harm to our reputation. Depending on
the nature of the information compromised, in the event of a data breach or other unauthorized access to our Member data, we may also have
obligations to notify Members about the incident and we may need to provide some form of remedy, such as a subscription to a credit
monitoring service, for the individuals affected by the incident. A growing number of legislative and regulatory bodies have adopted consumer
notification requirements in the event of unauthorized access to or acquisition of certain types of personal data. Such breach notification laws
continue to evolve and may be inconsistent from one jurisdiction to another. Complying with these obligations could cause us to incur
substantial costs and could increase negative publicity surrounding any incident that compromises Member data.
Furthermore, we may be required to disclose personal data pursuant to demands from individuals, privacy advocates, regulators, government
agencies, and law enforcement agencies in various jurisdictions with conflicting privacy and security laws. This disclosure or refusal to disclose
personal data may result in a breach of privacy and data protection policies, notices, laws, rules, court orders, and regulations and could result in
proceedings or actions against us in the same or other jurisdictions, damage to our reputation and brand, and inability to provide our products
and services to consumers in certain jurisdictions. Additionally, changes in the laws and regulations that govern our collection, use, and
disclosure of Member data could impose additional requirements with respect to the retention and security of Member data, could limit our
marketing activities, and have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results.
We are subject to governmental export and import controls and economic sanction laws that could subject us to liability and impair our ability to
compete in international markets.
The United States and various foreign governments have imposed controls, export license requirements, and restrictions on the import or export
of certain technologies. Our products may be subject to U.S. export controls, which may require submission of a product classification and
annual or semi-annual reports. Compliance with applicable regulatory requirements regarding the export of our products and services may
create delays in the introduction of our products and services in international markets, prevent our international Members from accessing our
products and services, and, in some cases, prevent the export of our products and services to some countries altogether.
Furthermore, U.S. export control laws and economic sanctions prohibit the provision of products and services to countries, governments, and
persons targeted by U.S. sanctions. Even though we take precautions to prevent our products from being provided to targets of U.S. sanctions,
our products and services, including our firmware updates, could be provided to those targets or provided by our Members. Any such provision
could have negative consequences, including government investigations, penalties, reputational harm. Our failure to obtain required import or
export approval for our products could harm our international and domestic sales and adversely affect our revenue.
We could be subject to future enforcement action with respect to compliance with governmental export and import controls and economic
sanctions laws that result in penalties, costs, and restrictions on export privileges that could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, and operating results.
Failure to comply with anti-corruption and anti-money laundering laws, including the FCPA and similar laws associated with our activities outside
of the United States, could subject us to penalties and other adverse consequences.
We operate a global business and may have direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or state-owned
or affiliated entities. We are subject to the FCPA, the U.S. domestic bribery statute contained in 18 U.S.C. § 201, the U.S. Travel Act, the USA
PATRIOT Act, the U.K. Bribery Act, and possibly other anti-bribery and anti-money laundering laws in countries in which we conduct activities.
These laws that prohibit companies and their employees and third-party intermediaries from corruptly promising, authorizing, offering, or
providing, directly or indirectly, improper payments or anything of value to foreign government officials, political parties, and private-sector
recipients for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business, directing business to any person, or securing any advantage. In addition, U.S. public
companies are required to maintain records that accurately and fairly represent their transactions and have an adequate system of internal
accounting controls. In many foreign countries, including countries in which we may conduct business, it may be a local custom that businesses
engage in practices that are prohibited by the FCPA or other applicable laws and regulations. We face significant risks if we or any of our
directors, officers, employees, agents or other partners or representatives fail to comply with these laws and governmental authorities in the
United States and elsewhere could seek to impose substantial civil and/or criminal fines and penalties which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, reputation, operating results and financial condition.
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We have implemented an anti-corruption compliance program and policies, procedures and training designed to foster compliance with these
laws, however, our employees, contractors, and agents, and companies to which we outsource certain of our business operations, may take
actions in violation of our policies or applicable law. Any such violation could have an adverse effect on our reputation, business, operating
results and prospects.
Any violation of the FCPA, other applicable anti-corruption laws, or anti-money laundering laws could result in whistleblower complaints, adverse
media coverage, investigations, loss of export privileges, severe criminal or civil sanctions and, in the case of the FCPA, suspension or
debarment from U.S. government contracts, any of which could have a materially adverse effect on our reputation, business, operating results,
and prospects. In addition, responding to any enforcement action may result in a significant diversion of management’s attention and resources
and significant defense costs and other professional fees.
Changes in legislation in U.S. and foreign taxation of international business activities or the adoption of other tax reform policies, as well as the
application of such laws, could adversely impact our financial position and operating results.
Recent or future changes to U.S., U.K. and other foreign tax laws could impact the tax treatment of our foreign earnings. We generally conduct
our international operations through wholly owned subsidiaries, branches, or representative offices and report our taxable income in various
jurisdictions worldwide based upon our business operations in those jurisdictions. Further, we are in the process of implementing an
international structure that aligns with our financial and operational objectives as evaluated based on our international markets, expansion plans,
and operational needs for headcount and physical infrastructure outside the United States. The intercompany relationships between our legal
entities are subject to complex transfer pricing regulations administered by taxing authorities in various jurisdictions. Although we believe we are
compliant with applicable transfer pricing and other tax laws in the United States, the United Kingdom, and other relevant countries, changes in
such laws and rules may require the modification of our international structure in the future, which will incur costs, may increase our worldwide
effective tax rate, and may adversely affect our financial position and operating results. In addition, significant judgment is required in evaluating
our tax positions and determining our provision for income taxes.
During the ordinary course of business, there are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. For
example, our effective tax rates could be adversely affected by earnings being lower than anticipated in countries where we have lower statutory
rates and higher than anticipated in countries where we have higher statutory rates, by changes in foreign currency exchange rates, or by
changes in the relevant tax, accounting, and other laws, regulations, principles, and interpretations. As we operate in numerous taxing
jurisdictions, the application of tax laws can be subject to diverging and sometimes conflicting interpretations by tax authorities of these
jurisdictions. It is not uncommon for taxing authorities in different countries to have conflicting views with respect to, among other things, the
manner in which the arm’s-length standard is applied for transfer pricing purposes, or with respect to the valuation of intellectual property.
If U.S., U.K., or other foreign tax laws further change, if our current or future structures and arrangements are challenged by a taxing authority, or
if we are unable to appropriately adapt the manner in which we operate our business, we may have to undertake further costly modifications to
our international structure and our tax liabilities and operating results may be adversely affected.
Risks Related to Intellectual Property
Our intellectual property rights are valuable, and any inability to protect them could reduce the value of our products, services, and brand.
Our success depends in large part on our proprietary technology and our patents, trade secrets, trademarks, and other intellectual property
rights. We rely on, and expect to continue to rely on, a combination of trademark, trade dress, domain name, copyright, trade secret and patent
laws, as well as confidentiality and license agreements with our employees, contractors, consultants, and third parties with whom we have
relationships, to establish and protect our brand and other intellectual property rights. However, our efforts to protect our intellectual property
rights may not be sufficient or effective, especially as incidents of infringement on the Peloton brand increase, and any of our intellectual
property rights may be challenged, which could result in them being narrowed in scope or declared invalid or unenforceable. There can be no
assurance that our intellectual property rights will be sufficient to protect against others offering products, services, or technologies that
fraudulently infringe on our rights or are substantially similar to ours and that compete with our business.
Effective protection of patents, trademarks, and domain names is expensive and difficult to maintain, both in terms of application and
registration costs as well as the costs of defending and enforcing those rights. As we have grown, we have sought to obtain and protect our
intellectual property rights in an increasing number of countries, a process that can be expensive and may not always be successful. For
example, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of
procedural requirements to complete the patent application process and to maintain issued patents, and noncompliance or non-payment could
result in abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in a relevant jurisdiction.
Further, intellectual property protection may not be available to us in every country in which our products and services are available. For example,
some foreign countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner must grant licenses to third parties. In addition, many
countries limit the enforceability of patents against certain third parties, including government agencies or government contractors. In these
countries, patents may provide limited or no benefit.
In order to protect our brand and intellectual property rights, we spend significant resources to monitor and protect these rights. Litigation
brought to protect and enforce our intellectual property rights can be costly, time-consuming, and distracting to management and could result in
the impairment or loss of portions of our intellectual property. Furthermore, our efforts to enforce our intellectual property rights may be met with
defenses, counterclaims, and countersuits attacking the validity and enforceability of our intellectual property rights. Accordingly, we may not be
able to prevent third parties from infringing upon or misappropriating our intellectual property. Our failure to secure, protect, and enforce our
intellectual property rights could seriously damage our brand and our business.
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We have been, and in the future may be, sued by third parties for alleged infringement of their proprietary rights.
There is considerable patent and other intellectual property development activity in our market, and litigation, based on allegations of
infringement or other violations of intellectual property, is frequent in the fitness and technology industries. Furthermore, it is common for
individuals and groups to purchase patents and other intellectual property assets for the purpose of making claims of infringement to extract
settlements from companies like ours. Our use of third-party content, including music content, software, and other intellectual property rights
may be subject to claims of infringement or misappropriation. We cannot guarantee that our internally developed or acquired technologies and
content do not or will not infringe the intellectual property rights of others. From time to time, our competitors or other third parties may claim
that we are infringing upon or misappropriating their intellectual property rights, and we may be found to be infringing upon such rights. Any
claims or litigation could cause us to incur significant expenses and, if successfully asserted against us, could require that we pay substantial
damages or ongoing royalty payments, prevent us from offering our platform or services or using certain technologies, force us to implement
expensive work-arounds, or impose other unfavorable terms. We expect that the occurrence of infringement claims is likely to grow as the
market for fitness products and services grows and as we introduce new and updated products and offerings. Accordingly, our exposure to
damages resulting from infringement claims could increase and this could further exhaust our financial and management resources. Further,
during the course of any litigation, we may make announcements regarding the results of hearings and motions, and other interim developments.
If securities analysts and investors regard these announcements as negative, the market price of our Class A common stock may decline. Even if
intellectual property claims do not result in litigation or are resolved in our favor, these claims, and the time and resources necessary to resolve
them, could divert the resources of our management and require significant expenditures. Any of the foregoing could prevent us from competing
effectively and could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results.
We cannot compel third parties to license their music to us, and our business may be adversely affected if our access to music is limited. The
concentration of control of content by major music licensors means that the actions of one or a few licensors may adversely affect our ability to
provide our service.
We enter into license agreements to obtain rights to use music in our service, including with major record companies (Sony Music Entertainment,
Universal Music Group, and Warner Music Group), independent record labels, major music publishers (Sony/ATV Music Publishing, Universal
Music Publishing Group, and Warner/Chappell Music), and independent music publishers and administrators who collectively hold the rights to a
significant number of sound recordings and musical compositions.
Comprehensive and accurate ownership information for the musical compositions embodied in sound recordings is sometimes unavailable, or in
some cases, impossible to obtain if withheld by the owners or administrators of such rights. In some cases, we obtain ownership information
directly from music publishers, and in other cases we rely on the assistance of third parties to determine ownership information.
If the information provided to us or obtained by such third parties does not comprehensively or accurately identify the ownership of musical
compositions, if we are unable to determine which musical compositions correspond to specific sound recordings, or if the same party does not
own administer, control or own all rights on a worldwide basis, it becomes difficult or impossible to identify the appropriate rights holders to
whom to pay royalties. This may make it difficult to comply with the obligations of any agreements with those rights holders or to secure the
appropriate licenses with all necessary parties.
Given the high level of content concentration in the music industry, the market power of a few licensors, and the lack of transparent ownership
information for compositions, including on a worldwide basis, we may be unable to license a large amount of music or the music of certain
popular artists, and our business, financial condition, and operating results could be materially harmed.
We are a party to many music license agreements that are complex and impose numerous obligations upon us that may make it difficult to
operate our business, and a breach of such agreements could adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition.
Our license agreements are complex and impose numerous obligations on us, including obligations to, among other things:
•

calculate and make payments based on complex royalty structures, which requires tracking usage of content in our service that may
have inaccurate or incomplete metadata necessary for such calculation;

•

provide periodic reports on the exploitation of the content in specified formats;

•

represent that we will obtain all necessary publishing licenses and consents and pay all associated fees, royalties, and other amounts
due for the licensing of musical compositions;

•

comply with certain marketing and advertising restrictions;

•

grant the licensor the right to audit our compliance with the terms of such agreements; and

•

comply with certain security and technical specifications.

Certain of our license agreements also contain minimum guarantees or require that we make minimum guarantee or advance payments, which
are not always tied to our number of Subscribers or stream counts for music used in our service. Accordingly, our ability to achieve and sustain
profitability and operating leverage in part depends on our ability to increase our revenue through increased sales of Subscriptions on terms that
maintain an adequate gross margin. Our license agreements that contain minimum guarantees typically have terms of between one and three
years, but our Subscribers may cancel their subscriptions at any time. We rely on estimates to forecast whether such minimum guarantees and
advances against royalties could be recouped against our actual content costs incurred over the term of the license agreement. To the extent
that our estimates underperform relative to our expectations, and our content costs do not exceed such minimum guarantees and advance
payments, our margins may be adversely affected.
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Some of our license agreements also include so-called “most-favored nations” provisions, which require that certain terms (including material
financial terms) are no less favorable than those provided to any similarly situated licensor. If agreements are amended or new agreements are
entered into on more favorable terms, these most-favored nations provisions could cause our payment or other obligations to escalate
substantially. Additionally, some of our license agreements require consent to undertake new business initiatives utilizing the licensed content
(e.g., alternative distribution models), and without such consent, our ability to undertake new business initiatives may be limited and our
competitive position could be impacted.
If we breach any obligations in any of our license agreements, or if we use content in ways that are found to exceed the scope of such
agreements, we could be subject to monetary penalties or claims of infringement, and our rights under such agreements could be terminated.
In the past, we have entered into agreements that required us to make substantial payments to licensors to resolve instances of past use at the
same time that we enter into go-forward licenses. These agreements may also include most-favored nations provisions. If triggered, these most
favored nations provisions could cause our payments or other obligations under those agreements to escalate substantially. If we need to enter
into additional similar agreements in the future, it could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating
results.
We face risks, such as unforeseen costs and potential liability in connection with content we produce, license, and distribute through our
platform.
As a producer and distributor of content, we face potential liability for negligence, copyright, and trademark infringement, or other claims based
on the nature and content of materials that we produce, license, and distribute. We also may face potential liability for content used in promoting
our service, including marketing materials. We may decide to remove content from our service, not to place certain content on our service, or to
discontinue or alter our production of certain types of content if we believe such content might not be well received by our Members or could be
damaging to our brand and business.
To the extent we do not accurately anticipate costs or mitigate risks, including for content that we obtain but ultimately does not appear on or is
removed from our service, or if we become liable for content we produce, license or distribute, our business may suffer. Litigation to defend
these claims could be costly and the expenses and damages arising from any liability could harm our results of operations. We may not be
indemnified against claims or costs of these types and we may not have insurance coverage for these types of claims.
Some of our products and services contain open source software, which may pose particular risks to our proprietary software, technologies,
products, and services in a manner that could harm our business.
We use open source software in our products and services and anticipate using open source software in the future. Some open source software
licenses require those who distribute open source software as part of their own software product to publicly disclose all or part of the source
code to such software product or to make available any derivative works of the open source code on unfavorable terms or at no cost. The terms
of many open source licenses to which we are subject have not been interpreted by U.S or foreign courts, and there is a risk that open source
software licenses could be construed in a manner that imposes unanticipated conditions or restrictions on our ability to provide or distribute our
products or services. Additionally, we could face claims from third parties claiming ownership of, or demanding release of, the open source
software or derivative works that we developed using such software, which could include our proprietary source code, or otherwise seeking to
enforce the terms of the applicable open source license. These claims could result in litigation and could require us to make our software source
code freely available, purchase a costly license, or cease offering the implicated products or services unless and until we can re-engineer them to
avoid infringement. This re-engineering process could require us to expend significant additional research and development resources, and we
cannot guarantee that we will be successful.
Additionally, the use of certain open source software can lead to greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source
licensors generally do not provide warranties or controls on the origin of software. There is typically no support available for open source
software, and we cannot ensure that the authors of such open source software will implement or push updates to address security risks or will
not abandon further development and maintenance. Many of the risks associated with the use of open source software, such as the lack of
warranties or assurances of title or performance, cannot be eliminated, and could, if not properly addressed, negatively affect our business. We
have processes to help alleviate these risks, including a review process for screening requests from our developers for the use of open source
software, but we cannot be sure that all open source software is identified or submitted for approval prior to use in our products and services.
Any of these risks could be difficult to eliminate or manage, and, if not addressed, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial
condition, and operating results.
Risks Related to Service Providers and Our Employees
We rely heavily on third parties for most of our computing, storage, processing, and similar services. Any disruption of or interference with our
use of these third-party services could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results.
We have outsourced our cloud infrastructure to third-party providers, and we currently use these providers to host and stream our services and
content. We are therefore vulnerable to service interruptions experienced by these providers and we expect to experience interruptions, delays, or
outages in service availability in the future due to a variety of factors, including infrastructure changes, human, hardware or software errors,
hosting disruptions, and capacity constraints. Outages and capacity constraints could arise from a number of causes such as technical failures,
natural disasters and global pandemics, fraud, or security attacks. The level of service provided by these providers, or regular or prolonged
interruptions in that service, could also affect the use of, and our Members’ satisfaction with, our products and services and could harm our
business and reputation. In addition, hosting costs will increase as membership engagement grows, which could harm our business if we are
unable to grow our revenue faster than the cost of using these services or the services of similar providers.
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Furthermore, our providers have broad discretion to change and interpret the terms of service and other policies with respect to us, and those
actions may be unfavorable to our business operations. Our providers may also take actions beyond our control that could seriously harm our
business, including discontinuing or limiting our access to one or more services, increasing pricing terms, terminating or seeking to terminate our
contractual relationship altogether, or altering how we are able to process data in a way that is unfavorable or costly to us. Although we expect
that we could obtain similar services from other third parties, if our arrangements with our current providers were terminated, we could
experience interruptions on our platform and in our ability to make our content available to Members, as well as delays and additional expenses
in arranging for alternative cloud infrastructure services.
Any of these factors could further reduce our revenue, subject us to liability, and cause our Subscribers to decline to renew their subscriptions,
any of which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results.
In addition, customers of certain of our providers have been subject to litigation by third parties claiming that the service and basic HTTP
functions infringe their patents. If we become subject to such claims, although we expect our provider to indemnify us with respect to at least a
portion of such claims, the litigation may be time consuming, divert management’s attention, and, if our provider failed to indemnify us, adversely
impact our operating results.
Our future success depends on the continuing efforts of our key employees and our ability to attract and retain highly skilled personnel and
senior management.
Our future success depends, in part, on our ability to continue to identify, attract, develop, integrate, and retain qualified and highly skilled
personnel, including senior management, engineers, producers, designers, product managers, logistics and supply chain personnel, retail
managers, and fitness instructors. In particular, we are highly dependent on the services of John Foley, our Chief Executive Officer and cofounder, who is critical to the development of our business, future vision, and strategic direction. We also heavily rely on the continued service
and performance of our senior management team, which provides leadership, contributes to the core areas of our business and helps us to
efficiently execute our business. If members of our senior management team become ill due to the current COVID-19 pandemic, we may not be
able to manage our business effectively and, as a result, our business and operating results could be harmed.
Also imperative to our success are our fitness instructors, who we rely on to bring new, exciting, and innovative fitness and wellness content to
our platform, and who act as brand ambassadors. If the senior management team, including any new hires that we make, fails to work together
effectively and to execute our plans and strategies on a timely basis then our business and future growth prospects could be harmed.
Additionally, the loss of any key personnel could make it more difficult to manage our operations and research and development activities,
reduce our employee retention and revenue, and impair our ability to compete. Although we have entered into employment offer letters with our
key personnel, these agreements have no specific duration and constitute at-will employment. We do not maintain key person life insurance
policies on any of our employees.
Competition for highly skilled personnel is often intense, especially in New York City, where we have a substantial presence and need for highly
skilled personnel. We may not be successful in attracting, integrating, or retaining qualified personnel to fulfill our current or future needs. We
have from time to time experienced, and we expect to continue to experience, difficulty in hiring and retaining highly skilled employees with
appropriate qualifications. In addition, job candidates and existing employees often consider the value of the equity awards they receive in
connection with their employment. If the perceived value of our Class A common stock declines, it may adversely affect our ability to hire or
retain highly skilled employees. In addition, we may periodically change our equity compensation practices, which may include reducing the
number of employees eligible for equity awards or reducing the size of equity awards granted per employee. If we are unable to attract, integrate,
or retain the qualified and highly skilled personnel required to fulfill our current or future needs, our business and future growth prospects could
be harmed.
If we cannot maintain our “One Peloton” culture as we grow, we could lose the innovation, teamwork, and passion that we believe contribute to
our success and our business may be harmed.
We believe that a critical component of our success has been our corporate culture. We have invested substantial time and resources in building
our “One Peloton” culture, which is based on the idea that if we work together, we will be more efficient and perform better because of one
another. As we continue to grow, including geographically expanding our presence outside of our headquarters in New York City, and developing
the infrastructure associated with being a public company, we will need to maintain our “One Peloton” culture among a larger number of
employees, dispersed across various geographic regions. The widespread stay-at-home orders and other limitations requiring work from
home resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic have required us to make substantial changes to the way that the vast majority of our employee
population does their work, and we have faced new and unforeseen challenges arising from the management of remote, geographically
dispersed teams. Our response to the changing work environment has included a number of employee-focused benefits initiatives, such as child
care and work from home technology reimbursements, which are aimed at increasing productivity and employee morale and which have
increased our costs. Any failure to preserve our culture could negatively affect our future success, including our ability to retain and recruit
personnel and to effectively focus on and pursue our corporate objectives.
Other General Risk Factors
We may require additional capital to support business growth and objectives, and this capital might not be available to us on reasonable terms, if
at all, and may result in stockholder dilution.
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We expect that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash needs for the foreseeable future. However,
we intend to continue to make investments to support our business growth and may require additional capital to fund our business and to
respond to competitive challenges, including the need to promote our products and services, develop new products and services, enhance our
existing products, services, and operating infrastructure, and potentially to acquire complementary businesses and technologies. Accordingly,
we may need to engage in equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. There can be no assurance that such additional funding will be
available on terms attractive to us, or at all. Our inability to obtain additional funding when needed could have an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, and operating results. If additional funds are raised through the issuance of equity or convertible debt securities, holders of
our Class A common stock could suffer significant dilution, and any new shares we issue could have rights, preferences, and privileges superior
to those of our Class A common stock. Any debt financing secured by us in the future could involve restrictive covenants relating to our capital
raising activities and other financial and operational matters, which may make it more difficult for us to obtain additional capital and to pursue
business opportunities, including potential acquisitions.
We are subject to payment processing risk.
Our customers pay for our products and services using a variety of different payment methods, including credit and debit cards, gift cards, and
online wallets. We rely on internal systems as well as those of third parties to process payment. Acceptance and processing of these payment
methods are subject to certain rules and regulations and require payment of interchange and other fees. To the extent there are disruptions in
our payment processing systems, increases in payment processing fees, material changes in the payment ecosystem, such as large reissuances of payment cards, delays in receiving payments from payment processors, or changes to rules or regulations concerning payment
processing, our revenue, operating expenses and results of operation could be adversely impacted. We leverage our third-party payment
processors to bill Subscribers on our behalf. If these third parties become unwilling or unable to continue processing payments on our behalf, we
would have to find alternative methods of collecting payments, which could adversely impact Subscriber acquisition and retention. In addition,
from time to time, we encounter fraudulent use of payment methods, which could impact our results of operation and if not adequately
controlled and managed could create negative consumer perceptions of our service.
Cybersecurity risks could adversely affect our business and disrupt our operations.
Threats to network and data security are increasingly diverse and sophisticated. Despite our efforts and processes to prevent breaches, our
products and services, as well as our servers, computer systems, and those of third parties that we use in our operations are vulnerable to
cybersecurity risks, including cyber-attacks such as viruses and worms, phishing attacks, denial-of-service attacks, physical or electronic breakins, third-party or employee theft or misuse, and similar disruptions from unauthorized tampering with our servers and computer systems or
those of third parties that we use in our operations, which could lead to interruptions, delays, loss of critical data, unauthorized access to
Member data, and loss of consumer confidence. In addition, we may be the target of email scams that attempt to acquire personal information
or company assets. Despite our efforts to create security barriers to such threats, we may not be able to entirely mitigate these risks.
Additionally, due to the current COVID-19 pandemic, there is an increased risk that we may experience cybersecurity related incidents as a result
of our employees, service providers, and third parties working remotely on less secure systems during government mandated shelter-in-place
orders. Any cyber-attack that attempts to obtain our or our Members’ data and assets, disrupt our service, or otherwise access our systems, or
those of third parties we use, if successful, could adversely affect our business, and financial condition and operating results, be expensive to
remedy, and damage our reputation. In addition, any such breaches may result in negative publicity, and adversely affect our brand, impacting
demand for our products and services, and could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results.
Our ability to use our net operating loss to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.
As of June 30, 2021, we had U.S. federal net operating loss carryforwards, or NOLs, and state NOLs of approximately $1,086.5 million and $706.2
million, respectively, due to prior period losses which if not utilized will begin to expire for federal and state tax purposes beginning in 2036 and
2021, respectively. Realization of these NOLs depends on future income, and there is a risk that our existing NOLs could expire unused and be
unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities, which could adversely affect our operating results.
In general, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership
change” is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its NOLs to offset future taxable income. We have undergone three ownership changes on
November 30, 2015 and April 18, 2017 and February 24, 2020 and our NOLs arising before those dates are subject to one or more Section 382
limitations which may materially limit the use of such NOLs to offset our future taxable income. In addition, future changes in our stock
ownership, the causes of which may be outside of our control, could result in an additional ownership change under Section 382 of the Code. Our
NOLs may also be impaired under state laws. In addition, under the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, or Tax Act, tax losses generated in taxable
years beginning after December 31, 2017 may be utilized to offset no more than 80% of taxable income annually. This change may require us to
pay federal income taxes in future years despite generating a loss for federal income tax purposes. There is also a risk that due to regulatory
changes, such as suspensions on the use of NOLs, or other unforeseen reasons, our existing NOLs could expire or otherwise be unavailable to
offset future income tax liabilities. On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security, or CARES Act, was signed into law.
The CARES Act changes certain provisions of the Tax Act. Under the CARES Act, NOLs arising in taxable years beginning after December 31,
2017 and before January 1, 2021 may be carried back to each of the five taxable years preceding the tax year of such loss, but NOLs arising in
taxable years beginning after December 31, 2020 may not be carried back. In addition, the CARES Act eliminates the limitation on the deduction
of NOLs to 80% of current year taxable income for taxable years beginning before January 1, 2021. It is uncertain if and to what extent various
states will conform to the Tax Act, as modified by the CARES Act. For these reasons, we may not be able to realize a tax benefit from the use of
our NOLs, whether or not we attain profitability.
We may face exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations.
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While we have historically transacted in U.S. dollars with the majority of our Subscribers and suppliers, we have transacted in some foreign
currencies, such as the Euro, Canadian Dollar and U.K Pound Sterling, and may transact in more foreign currencies in the future. Further, certain
of our manufacturing agreements provide for fixed costs of our Connected Fitness Products and hardware in Taiwanese dollars but provide for
payment in U.S. dollars based on the then-current Taiwanese dollar to U.S. dollar spot rate. Accordingly, changes in the value of foreign
currencies relative to the U.S. dollar can affect our revenue and operating results. As a result of such foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations,
it could be more difficult to detect underlying trends in our business and operating results. In addition, to the extent that fluctuations in currency
exchange rates cause our operating results to differ from our expectations or the expectations of our investors, the trading price of our Class A
common stock could be lowered. We use derivative instruments, such as foreign currency forward and option contracts, to hedge certain
exposures to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. The use of such hedging activities may not offset any or more than a portion of the
adverse financial effects of unfavorable movements in foreign exchange rates over the limited time the hedges are in place and may introduce
additional risks if we are unable to structure effective hedges with such instruments.
The requirements of being a public company, including maintaining adequate internal control over our financial and management systems, may
strain our resources, divert management’s attention, and affect our ability to attract and retain executive management and qualified board
members.
We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the rules
subsequently implemented by the SEC, the rules and regulations of the listing standards of The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC and other applicable
securities rules and regulations. Compliance with these rules and regulations has increased our legal and financial compliance costs and strains
our financial and management systems, internal controls, and employees.
The Exchange Act requires, among other things, that we file annual, quarterly, and current reports with respect to our business and operating
results. Moreover, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures, and
internal control, over financial reporting. This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains a formal assessment by management on the effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting, as well as management's assessment of our disclosure controls and procedures. In order to
maintain and, if required in the future, improve our disclosure controls and procedures, and internal control over, financial reporting to meet this
standard, significant resources and management oversight may be required. In the course of preparing our financial statements for fiscal 2021,
we identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting. If, in the future, we have a material weakness or deficiencies in
our internal control over financial reporting, we may not detect errors on a timely basis and our consolidated financial statements may be
materially misstated. Effective internal control is necessary for us to produce reliable financial reports and is important to prevent fraud.
Pursuant to Sections 302 and 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, our independent registered public accounting firm has provided an attestation
report regarding our internal control over financial reporting. We have incurred and expect to continue to incur significant expenses and devote
substantial management effort toward ensuring compliance with the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.
As a result of the complexity involved in complying with the rules and regulations applicable to public companies, our management’s attention
may be diverted from other business concerns, which could harm our business, operating results, and financial condition. Although we have
already hired additional employees to assist us in complying with these requirements, our finance team is small and we may need to hire more
employees in the future, or engage outside consultants, which will increase our operating expenses.
The rules and regulations applicable to public companies, and stockholder litigation brought recently against public companies, including us,
have made it more expensive for us to obtain and maintain director and officer liability insurance, and we may be required to incur substantially
higher costs to obtain and maintain the same or similar coverage. These factors could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain
qualified members on our board of directors, or our Board of Directors, and qualified executive officers.
If our estimates or judgments relating to our critical accounting policies prove to be incorrect, our operating results could be adversely affected.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. We base our estimates on historical experience and on
various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, as provided in the section titled “Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates” in Part II, Item 7 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. The results of these estimates form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets, liabilities,
and stockholders’ equity/deficit, and the amount of revenue and expenses that are not readily apparent from other sources. Significant
assumptions and estimates used in preparing our consolidated financial statements include those related to revenue related reserves, the
realizability of inventory, content costs for past use reserve, fair value measurements including common stock valuations, the incremental
borrowing rate associated with lease liabilities, useful lives of property and equipment, product warranty, goodwill and finite-lived intangible
assets, accounting for income taxes, stock-based compensation expense and commitments and contingencies. Our operating results may be
adversely affected if our assumptions change or if actual circumstances differ from those in our assumptions, which could cause our operating
results to fall below the expectations of securities analysts and investors, resulting in a decline in the price of our Class A common stock.
Our reported financial results may be negatively impacted by changes in GAAP.
GAAP is a combination of accepted ways of recording and reporting accounting information and authoritative standards set by the Financial
Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, the SEC and various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. A
change in these principles or interpretations could have a significant effect on our reported financial results, and may even affect the reporting of
transactions completed before the announcement or effectiveness of a change.
Our business is subject to the risk of earthquakes, fire, power outages, floods, public health crises, including the current COVID-19 pandemic, and
other catastrophic events, and to interruption by man-made problems such as terrorism.
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Our business is vulnerable to damage or interruption from earthquakes, fires, floods, power losses, telecommunications failures, terrorist
attacks, acts of war, human errors, break-ins, public health crises, including the COVID-19 pandemic, and similar events. The third-party systems
and operations and contract manufacturers we rely on are subject to similar risks. Our insurance policies may not cover losses from these
events or may provide insufficient compensation that does not cover our total losses. For example, a significant natural disaster, such as an
earthquake, fire, or flood, could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and operating results, and our insurance coverage
may be insufficient to compensate us for losses that may occur. Another example is the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on major construction
projects, including our New York headquarters and London studio projects, both of which were delayed due to local government orders. Acts of
terrorism, which may be targeted at metropolitan areas that have higher population density than rural areas, could also cause disruptions in our
or our suppliers’ and contract manufacturers’ businesses or the economy as a whole. We may not have sufficient protection or recovery plans in
some circumstances, such as natural disasters affecting locations that store significant inventory of our products, that house our servers, or
from which we generate content. As we rely heavily on our computer and communications systems, and the internet to conduct our business
and provide high-quality customer service, these disruptions could negatively impact our ability to run our business and either directly or
indirectly disrupt suppliers’ and our contract manufacturers’ businesses, which could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
and operating results.
Risks Related to the Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock
The stock price of our Class A common stock has been, and will likely continue to be, volatile and you could lose all or part of your investment.
The market price of our Class A common stock has been, and will likely continue to be, volatile. Since shares of our Class A common stock were
sold in our IPO in September 2019 at a price of $29.00 per share, our stock price has ranged from $17.70 to $171.09 through July 30, 2021. In
addition, the trading prices of securities of technology companies in general have been highly volatile. Moreover, while the market price of the
common stock of many technology companies have fallen significantly since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, the trading price of our
Class A common has increased. There are no assurances that the trading price of our Class A common stock will continue at this level for any
period of time and the extent to which, and for how long, the COVID-19 pandemic may impact the market price of our Class A common stock is
unclear. Moreover, the trading price of our Class A common stock could experience a significant decrease once the longer-term scope and
impact of COVID-19 is better understood.
In addition to the factors discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, the market price of our Class A common stock may fluctuate
significantly in response to numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, including:
•

the COVID-19 pandemic and any associated economic downturn;

•

overall performance of the equity markets and the performance of technology companies in particular;

•

variations in our operating results, cash flows, and other financial metrics and non-financial metrics, and how those results compare to
analyst expectations;

•

changes in the financial projections we may provide to the public or our failure to meet these projections;

•

the timing and our ability to develop certain product solutions to enhance the safety of our Tread+ product to the satisfaction of the
CPSC in connection with the Company’s voluntary safety recall, which it is conducting in collaboration with the CPSC;

•

failure of securities analysts to initiate or maintain coverage of us, changes in financial estimates by any securities analysts who follow
our company, or our failure to meet these estimates or the expectations of investors;

•

recruitment or departure of key personnel;

•

the economy as a whole and market conditions in our industry;

•

our acquisition of Precor or other investments or acquisitions in the future;

•

negative publicity related to problems in our manufacturing or the real or perceived quality of our products, as well as the failure to
timely launch new products or services that gain market acceptance;

•

rumors and market speculation involving us or other companies in our industry;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of new products, services, features and content, significant technical innovations,
acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, or capital commitments;

•

new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our business;

•

lawsuits threatened or filed against us, litigation involving our industry, or both;

•

developments or disputes concerning our or other parties’ products, services, or intellectual property rights;

•

other events or factors, including those resulting from war, incidents of terrorism, or responses to these events;

•

the expiration of contractual lock-up or market standoff agreements; and

•

sales of shares of our Class A common stock by us or our stockholders.

In addition, the stock markets have experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have affected and continue to affect the market
prices of equity securities of many companies. Stock prices of many companies have fluctuated in a manner unrelated or disproportionate to the
operating performance of those companies. In the past, stockholders have instituted securities class action litigation following periods of
market volatility. In April and May 2021, two shareholders filed putative class actions against the Company, our Chief Executive Officer, and our
Chief Financial Officer, purportedly on behalf of a class consisting of those individuals who purchased or otherwise acquired our Class A
common stock between September 11, 2020 and May 5, 2021, alleging that the defendants made false and/or misleading statements in
violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. In addition, in May and August 2021, three
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shareholders filed verified shareholder derivative action lawsuits purportedly on behalf of the Company against certain of our executive officers
and the members of our board of directors alleging breaches of fiduciary duties and violations of Section 14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act,
and, for two of the lawsuits, unjust enrichment, abuse of control, gross mismanagement, waste, and a claim for contribution under Sections
10(b) and 21D of the Exchange Act against our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. These lawsuits and any other securities
litigation actions could subject us to substantial costs, divert resources and the attention of management from our business, and adversely
affect our business.
Sales of a substantial amount of our Class A common stock in the public markets, or the perception that such sales might occur, could cause the
price of our Class A common stock to decline.
The market price of our Class A common stock could decline as a result of sales of a substantial number of shares of our Class A common
stock in the public market in the near future, or the perception that these sales might occur. Many of our existing security holders have
substantial unrecognized gains on the value of the equity they hold, and may take, or attempt to take, steps to sell, directly or indirectly, their
shares or otherwise secure, or limit the risk to, the value of their unrecognized gains on those shares.
There were a total of 300,147,130 shares of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock outstanding as of June 30, 2021. All shares
of our Class A common stock and Class B common stock are freely tradable, except for any shares purchased by our “affiliates” as defined in
Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act.
Further, certain holders of our common stock have rights, subject to some conditions, to require us to file registration statements for the public
resale of the Class A common stock issuable upon conversion of such shares or to include such shares in registration statements that we may
file for us or other stockholders. Sales of our shares pursuant to registration rights may make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities in
the future at a time and at a price that we deem appropriate. These sales also could cause the trading price of our Class A common stock to fall
and make it more difficult for you to sell shares of our Class A common stock.
In addition, as of June 30, 2021, we had options outstanding that, if fully exercised, would result in the issuance of 43,719,765 shares of Class B
common stock and 14,226,843 shares of Class A common stock. Subject to the satisfaction of applicable vesting requirements, the shares
issued upon exercise of outstanding stock options will be available for immediate resale in the open market.
The dual class structure of our common stock has the effect of concentrating voting control with our directors, executive officers, and certain
other holders of our Class B common stock; this will limit or preclude your ability to influence corporate matters, including the election of
directors and the approval of any change of control transaction.
Our Class B common stock has 20 votes per share and our Class A common stock has one vote per share. As of June 30, 2021, our directors,
executive officers, and holders of more than 5% of our common stock, and their respective affiliates, held a majority of the voting power of our
capital stock. Because of the twenty-to-one voting ratio between our Class B and Class A common stock, the holders of our Class B common
stock collectively control a substantial majority of the combined voting power of our common stock and therefore are able to control all matters
submitted to our stockholders for approval until the earlier of (i) the date specified by a vote of the holders of 66 2/3% of the then outstanding
shares of Class B common stock, (ii) ten years from the closing of the IPO, and (iii) the date the shares of Class B common stock cease to
represent at least 1% of all outstanding shares of our common stock. This concentrated control limits or precludes your ability to influence
corporate matters for the foreseeable future, including the election of directors, amendments of our organizational documents, and any merger,
consolidation, sale of all or substantially all of our assets, or other major corporate transaction requiring stockholder approval. In addition, this
may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for our capital stock that you may feel are in your best interest as one of
our stockholders.
Future transfers by holders of Class B common stock will generally result in those shares converting to Class A common stock, subject to limited
exceptions, such as certain permitted transfers effected for estate planning purposes. The conversion of Class B common stock to Class A
common stock will have the effect, over time, of increasing the relative voting power of those holders of Class B common stock who retain their
shares in the long term.
The dual class structure of our common stock may adversely affect the trading market for our Class A common stock.
Certain stock index providers, such as S&P Dow Jones, exclude companies with multiple classes of shares of common stock from being added
to certain stock indices, including the S&P 500. In addition, several stockholder advisory firms and large institutional investors oppose the use of
multiple class structures. As a result, the dual class structure of our common stock may prevent the inclusion of our Class A common stock in
such indices, may cause stockholder advisory firms to publish negative commentary about our corporate governance practices or otherwise
seek to cause us to change our capital structure, and may result in large institutional investors not purchasing shares of our Class A common
stock. Any exclusion from stock indices could result in a less active trading market for our Class A common stock. Any actions or publications
by stockholder advisory firms or institutional investors critical of our corporate governance practices or capital structure could also adversely
affect the value of our Class A common stock.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research, or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research, about our business, the price of our
Class A common stock and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our Class A common stock depends in part on the research and reports that securities or industry analysts publish about
us or our business, our market, and our competitors. We do not have control over these securities analysts. If industry analysts cease coverage
of us, the trading price for our Class A common stock would be negatively affected. If one or more of the analysts who cover us downgrade our
Class A common stock or publish inaccurate or unfavorable research about our business, our Class A common stock price would likely decline.
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If one or more of these analysts cease coverage of us or fail to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our Class A common stock could
decrease, which might cause our Class A common stock price and trading volume to decline.
We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreseeable future.
We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock and do not intend to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.
Additionally, our ability to pay dividends on our common stock is limited by the restrictions under the terms of our loan and security agreement.
We anticipate that for the foreseeable future we will retain all of our future earnings for use in the development of our business and for general
corporate purposes. Any determination to pay dividends in the future will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors. Accordingly, investors
must rely on sales of their Class A common stock after price appreciation, which may never occur, as the only way to realize any future gains on
their investments.
Provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of us, which may be beneficial to our stockholders, more
difficult and may limit attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management.
Provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws may have the effect of delaying or preventing a merger,
acquisition or other change of control of our company that the stockholders may consider favorable. In addition, because our Board of Directors
is responsible for appointing the members of our management team, these provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders
to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of our Board of Directors. Among
other things, our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws include provisions that:
•

provide that our Board of Directors is classified into three classes of directors with staggered three-year terms;

•

permit the Board of Directors to establish the number of directors and fill any vacancies and newly-created directorships;

•

require super-majority voting to amend some provisions in our restated certificate of incorporation and restated bylaws;

•

authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that our Board of Directors could use to implement a stockholder rights plan;

•

provide that only the chairman of our Board of Directors, our chief executive officer, or a majority of our Board of Directors will be
authorized to call a special meeting of stockholders;

•

eliminate the ability of our stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders;

•

prohibit cumulative voting;

•

provide that directors may only be removed “for cause” and only with the approval of two-thirds of our stockholders;

•

provide for a dual class common stock structure in which holders of our Class B common stock may have the ability to control the
outcome of matters requiring stockholder approval, even if they own significantly less than a majority of the outstanding shares of our
common stock, including the election of directors and significant corporate transactions, such as a merger or other sale of our
company or its assets;

•

prohibit stockholder action by written consent, which requires all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;

•

provide that the Board of Directors is expressly authorized to make, alter, or repeal our bylaws; and

•

establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our Board of Directors or for proposing matters that can be acted
upon by stockholders at annual stockholder meetings.

Moreover, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, or DGCL, may discourage, delay, or prevent a change in control of our company.
Section 203 imposes certain restrictions on mergers, business combinations, and other transactions between us and holders of 15% or more of
our common stock.
Our restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws contain exclusive forum provisions for certain claims, which may limit
our stockholders' ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or employees.
Our restated certificate of incorporation provides that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, to the fullest extent permitted by law, will
be the exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty, any action
asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to the DGCL, our restated certificate of incorporation, or our amended and restated bylaws, or any
action asserting a claim against us that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine.
Moreover, Section 22 of the Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all claims brought to enforce any duty
or liability created by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. In April 2020, we amended and restated our restated bylaws to
provide that the federal district courts of the United States of America will, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the exclusive forum for
resolving any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act (a Federal Forum Provision). Our decision to adopt a Federal
Forum Provision followed a decision by the Supreme Court of the State of Delaware holding that such provisions are facially valid under
Delaware law. While there can be no assurance that federal or state courts will follow the holding of the Delaware Supreme Court or determine
that the Federal Forum Provision should be enforced in a particular case, application of the Federal Forum Provision means that suits brought by
our stockholders to enforce any duty or liability created by the Securities Act must be brought in federal court and cannot be brought in state
court.
Section 27 of the Exchange Act creates exclusive federal jurisdiction over all claims brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the
Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. In addition, neither the exclusive forum provision nor the Federal Forum Provision applies
to suits brought to enforce any duty or liability created by the Exchange Act. Accordingly, actions by our stockholders to enforce any duty or
liability created by the Exchange Act or the rules and regulations thereunder must be brought in federal court.
40

Our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliance with the federal securities laws and the regulations promulgated
thereunder.
Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring or holding any interest in any of our securities shall be deemed to have notice of and
consented to our exclusive forum provisions, including the Federal Forum Provision. These provisions may limit a stockholders’ ability to bring a
claim in a judicial forum of their choosing for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or employees, which may discourage lawsuits against us
and our directors, officers, and employees. Alternatively, if a court were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our restated certificate
of incorporation and/or amended and restated bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated
with resolving such action in other jurisdictions, which could harm our business, financial condition, and operating results.
Risks Related to the Ownership of Our Convertible Senior Notes
The Notes are effectively subordinated to our existing and future secured indebtedness and structurally subordinated to the liabilities of our
subsidiaries.
Our 0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 (the "Notes") are our senior, unsecured obligations and rank equal in right of payment with our
existing and future senior, unsecured indebtedness, senior in right of payment to our existing and future indebtedness that is expressly
subordinated to the Notes and effectively subordinated to our existing and future secured indebtedness, to the extent of the value of the
collateral securing that indebtedness. In addition, because none of our subsidiaries guarantee the Notes, the Notes are structurally subordinated
to all existing and future indebtedness and other liabilities, including trade payables, and (to the extent we are not a holder thereof) preferred
equity, if any, of our subsidiaries. As of June 30, 2021, we had approximately $1.0 billion in total indebtedness and approximately $280.2 million
of available borrowing capacity under our Amended Credit Agreement (after deducting $4.8 million of outstanding letters of credit). Our
subsidiaries had no outstanding indebtedness as of June 30, 2021. The indenture governing the Notes does not prohibit us or our subsidiaries
from incurring additional indebtedness, including senior or secured indebtedness, in the future.
If a bankruptcy, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or similar proceeding occurs with respect to us, then the holders of any of our secured
indebtedness may proceed directly against the assets securing that indebtedness. Accordingly, those assets will not be available to satisfy any
outstanding amounts under our unsecured indebtedness, including the Notes, unless the secured indebtedness is first paid in full. The remaining
assets, if any, would then be allocated pro rata among the holders of our senior, unsecured indebtedness, including the Notes. There may be
insufficient assets to pay all amounts then due.
If a bankruptcy, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or similar proceeding occurs with respect to any of our subsidiaries, then we, as a direct or
indirect common equity owner of that subsidiary (and, accordingly, holders of our indebtedness, including the Notes), will be subject to the prior
claims of that subsidiary’s creditors, including trade creditors and preferred equity holders. We may never receive any amounts from that
subsidiary to satisfy amounts due under the Notes.
We may be unable to raise the funds necessary to repurchase the Notes for cash following a fundamental change or to pay any cash amounts due
upon conversion, and our other indebtedness limits our ability to repurchase the Notes or pay cash upon their conversion.
Noteholders may require us to repurchase their Notes following a fundamental change at a cash repurchase price generally equal to the principal
amount of the Notes to be repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid special interest, if any. In addition, upon conversion, we will satisfy part or all of
our conversion obligation in cash unless we elect to settle conversions solely in shares of our Class A common stock. We may not have enough
available cash or be able to obtain financing at the time we are required to repurchase the Notes or pay the cash amounts due upon conversion.
In addition, applicable law, regulatory authorities and the agreements governing our other indebtedness may restrict our ability to repurchase the
Notes or pay the cash amounts due upon conversion. Our failure to repurchase Notes or to pay the cash amounts due upon conversion when
required will constitute a default under the indenture.
A default under the indenture or the fundamental change itself could also lead to a default under agreements governing our other indebtedness,
which may result in that other indebtedness becoming immediately payable in full. We may not have sufficient funds to satisfy all amounts due
under the other indebtedness and the Notes.
Our indebtedness and liabilities could limit the cash flow available for our operations, expose us to risks that could adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations and impair our ability to satisfy our obligations under the Notes.
As of June 30, 2021, we had $1.0 billion of indebtedness. We may also incur additional indebtedness to meet future financing needs. Our
indebtedness could have significant negative consequences for our security holders and our business, results of operations and financial
condition by, among other things:
•

increasing our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions;

•

limiting our ability to obtain additional financing;

•

requiring the dedication of a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to service our indebtedness, which will reduce the
amount of cash available for other purposes;

•

limiting our flexibility to plan for, or react to, changes in our business;

•

diluting the interests of our existing stockholders as a result of issuing shares of our Class A common stock upon conversion of the
notes; and

•

placing us at a possible competitive disadvantage with competitors that are less leveraged than us or have better access to capital.
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Our business may not generate sufficient funds, and we may otherwise be unable to maintain sufficient cash reserves, to pay amounts due under
our indebtedness, including the notes, and our cash needs may increase in the future. In addition, our existing $285.0 million revolving credit
facility contains, and any future indebtedness that we may incur may contain, financial and other restrictive covenants that limit our ability to
operate our business, raise capital or make payments under our other indebtedness. If we fail to comply with these covenants or to make
payments under our indebtedness when due, then we would be in default under that indebtedness, which could, in turn, result in that and our
other indebtedness becoming immediately payable in full.
The accounting method for the Notes could adversely affect our reported financial condition and results.
The accounting method for reflecting the Notes on our balance sheet, accruing interest expense for the Notes and reflecting the underlying
shares of our Class A common stock in our reported diluted earnings per share may adversely affect our reported earnings and financial
condition.
Under applicable accounting principles, the initial liability carrying amount of the Notes is the fair value of a similar debt instrument that does not
have a conversion feature, valued using our cost of capital for straight, non-convertible debt. We reflected the difference between the net
proceeds from our offering of the Notes and the initial carrying amount as a debt discount for accounting purposes, which will be amortized into
interest expense over the term of the Notes. As a result of this amortization, the interest expense that we expect to recognize for the Notes for
accounting purposes will be greater than the cash interest payments we will pay on the Notes, which will result in lower reported income or
higher reported loss. The lower reported income or higher reported loss resulting from this accounting treatment could depress the trading price
of our Class A common stock and the Notes. However, in August 2020, the Financial Accounting Standards Board published an Accounting
Standards Update, which we refer to as ASU 2020-06, that in certain cases will eliminate the separate accounting for the debt and equity
components as described above. ASU 2020-06 will be effective for SEC-reporting entities for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021 (or,
in the case of smaller reporting companies, December 15, 2023), including interim periods within those fiscal years. However, early adoption is
permitted in certain circumstances for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim periods within those fiscal years. When
effective, we expect to qualify for the elimination of the separate accounting described above which, as a result, will reduce the interest expense
that we expect to recognize for the Notes for accounting purposes.
In addition, because we intend to settle conversions by paying the conversion value in cash up to the principal amount being converted and any
excess in shares, we expect to be eligible to use the treasury stock method to reflect the shares underlying the Notes in our diluted earnings per
share. Under this method, if the conversion value of the Notes exceeds their principal amount for a reporting period, then we will calculate our
diluted earnings per share assuming that all the Notes were converted and that we issued shares of our Class A common stock to settle the
excess. However, if reflecting the Notes in diluted earnings per share in this manner is anti-dilutive, or if the conversion value of the Notes does
not exceed their principal amount for a reporting period, then the shares underlying the Notes will not be reflected in our diluted earnings per
share. In addition, when accounting standards change in the future and we are not permitted to use the treasury stock method, then our diluted
earnings per share may decline. ASU 2020-06 amends these accounting standards, effective as of the dates referred to above, to eliminate the
treasury stock method for convertible instruments and instead require application of the “if-converted” method. Under that method, diluted
earnings per share would generally be calculated assuming that all the Notes were converted solely into shares of Class A common stock at the
beginning of the reporting period, unless the result would be anti-dilutive. The application of the if-converted method may reduce our reported
diluted earnings per share.
Furthermore, if any of the conditions to the convertibility of the Notes is satisfied, then we may be required under applicable accounting
standards to reclassify the liability carrying value of the Notes as a current, rather than a long-term, liability. This reclassification could be
required even if no noteholders convert their Notes and could materially reduce our reported working capital.
The capped call transactions may affect the value of the Notes and our Class A common stock.
In connection with the Notes, we entered into capped call transactions with certain financial institutions (the option counterparties). The capped
call transactions are expected generally to reduce the potential dilution to our Class A common stock upon any conversion of the Notes and/or
offset any potential cash payments we are required to make in excess of the principal amount upon conversion of any Notes, with such
reduction and/or offset subject to a cap.
In connection with establishing their initial hedges of the capped call transactions, the option counterparties and/or their respective affiliates
purchased shares of our Class A common stock and/or entered into various derivative transactions with respect to our Class A common stock.
This activity could have increased (or reduced the size of any decrease in) the market price of our Class A common stock or the Notes at that
time.
In addition, the option counterparties and/or their respective affiliates may modify their hedge positions by entering into or unwinding various
derivatives with respect to our Class A common stock and/or purchasing or selling our Class A common stock in secondary market transactions
(and are likely to do so following any conversion of Notes, any repurchase of the Notes by us on any fundamental change repurchase date, any
redemption date or any other date on which the Notes are retired by us). This activity could also cause or avoid an increase or a decrease in the
market price of our Class A common stock or the Notes.
The potential effect, if any, of these transactions and activities on the market price of our Class A common stock or the Notes will depend in part
on market conditions and cannot be ascertained at this time. Any of these activities could adversely affect the value of our Class A common
stock.
We are subject to counterparty risk with respect to the capped call transactions, and the capped call may not operate as planned
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The option counterparties are financial institutions, and we will be subject to the risk that they might default under the capped call transactions.
Our exposure to the credit risk of the option counterparties will not be secured by any collateral. Global economic conditions have from time to
time resulted in the actual or perceived failure or financial difficulties of many financial institutions, including the bankruptcy filing by
Lehman Brothers Holdings Inc. and its various affiliates. If an option counterparty becomes subject to insolvency proceedings, we will become
an unsecured creditor in those proceedings with a claim equal to our exposure at that time under our transactions with that option counterparty.
Our exposure will depend on many factors, but, generally, the increase in our exposure will be correlated with increases in the market price or the
volatility of our Class A common stock. In addition, upon a default by an option counterparty, we may suffer adverse tax consequences and more
dilution than we currently anticipate with respect to our Class A common stock. We can provide no assurances as to the financial stability or
viability of any option counterparty.
In addition, the capped call transactions are complex, and they may not operate as planned. For example, the terms of the capped call
transactions may be subject to adjustment, modification or, in some cases, renegotiation if certain corporate or other transactions occur.
Accordingly, these transactions may not operate as we intend if we are required to adjust their terms as a result of transactions in the future or
upon unanticipated developments that may adversely affect the functioning of the capped call transactions.
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
Item 2. Properties
Our corporate headquarters are located in New York City, where we occupy facilities totaling approximately 323,000 rentable square
feet under a lease that expires in 2037. We use these facilities primarily for technology, product design, research and development,
sales and marketing, supply chain and logistics, finance, legal, human resources, and information technology. We also have Member
support and sales teams located in Plano, Texas, where we occupy approximately 28,000 rentable square feet under a lease that
expires in 2029.
In addition to our corporate headquarters and regional campus, in December 2017, we entered into a twenty-year lease for
approximately 36,000 rentable square feet in New York City, which includes four production studios and adjacent office space where we
produce our content and offer fitness classes. In September 2018, we entered into a lease for 11 Floral Street in London, which will
serve as our content production hub for Europe and has 20,000 rentable square feet. We expect to begin production from this London
location in the first quarter of fiscal 2022. We currently operate a temporary production studio in London where we produce local indoor
cycling content.
In October 2019, we acquired a manufacturing plant in Taiwan, as part of the acquisition of Tonic Fitness Technology. We also
completed construction of a second manufacturing plant in Shin Ji, Taiwan during the second quarter of fiscal 2021. We have recently
expanded our manufacturing and assembly capabilities in North America by occupying facilities totaling approximately 459,000
rentable square feet in Washington and approximately 518,000 rentable square feet in North Carolina through the acquisition of Precor.
In addition, we recently announced plans to build a U.S. manufacturing facility in Troy Township, Ohio, which we named "Peloton Output
Park" and is where we will manufacture Connected Fitness products in addition to our existing manufacturing facilities. We also lease
office space, warehouses and showrooms for our products in various locations, including in the United States and the United Kingdom
as of June 30, 2021.
We intend to procure additional space as we add employees and expand geographically. We believe that our facilities are adequate to
meet our needs for the immediate future and that suitable additional space will be available to accommodate any expansion of our
operations as needed.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings
From time to time, we may be involved in claims and proceedings arising in the course of our business. The outcome of any such
claims or proceedings, regardless of the merits, is inherently uncertain.
For a discussion of legal proceedings in which we are involved, see Note 13 in the “Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements” included in Part
II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
In addition, as previously disclosed, we have received reports of a number of injuries associated with our Tread+ product, one of which led to the
death of a child. In April 2021, the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission (“CPSC”) issued a warning to consumers about the safety hazards
associated with the Tread+ and is continuing to investigate the matter. We are also subject to investigations by DOJ, DHS, and the SEC related to
this matter. We intend to cooperate fully with each of these investigations, and at this time, we are unable to predict the eventual scope, duration
or outcome of the investigations. See also Part I, Item 1A "Risk Factors — Risks Related to Laws, Regulation, and Legal Proceedings" for more
information on these matters.
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Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.
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PART II
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Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
Market Information for Common Stock
Our Class A common stock began trading on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol "PTON" on September 26, 2019. Prior
to that date, there was no public trading market for our Class A common stock.
Our Class B common stock is not listed or traded on any stock exchange.
Holders of Record
As of July 30, 2021, there were 32 registered holders of our Class A common stock and 107 registered holders of our Class B common
stock. Because many of our shares of Class A common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we
are unable to estimate the total number of stockholders represented by these record holders.
Dividend Policy
We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We do not expect to pay dividends on our capital stock for the
foreseeable future. Instead, we anticipate that all of our earnings for the foreseeable future will be used for the operation and growth of
our business. Any future determination to declare cash dividends would be subject to the discretion of our Board of Directors and would
depend upon various factors, including our operating results, financial condition, and capital requirements, restrictions that may be
imposed by applicable law, and other factors deemed relevant by our Board of Directors. In addition, our ability to pay dividends on our
common stock is limited by the restrictions under the terms of our loan and security agreement.
Performance Graph
The following performance graph shall not be deemed soliciting material or to be filed with the SEC for purposes of Section 18 of the
Exchange Act, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any of our other filings under the Exchange Act or the
Securities Act.
The graph below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our Class A common stock with the cumulative total return on
the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index and the Nasdaq Composite Index. The graph assumes an initial investment of $100 in our common
stock at the market close on September 26, 2019, which was our initial trading day. Data for the Standard & Poor’s 500 Index and the
Nasdaq Composite Index assume reinvestment of dividends.
The comparisons in the graph below are based upon historical data and are not indicative of, nor intended to forecast, future
performance of our common stock.
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Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. As discussed in the section titled "Special Note
Regarding Forward Looking Statements," the following discussion and analysis contains forward looking statements that involve risks and
uncertainties, as well as assumptions that, if they never materialize or prove incorrect, could cause our results to differ materially from those
expressed or implied by such forward looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences include, but are not limited
to, those identified below and those discussed in the section titled "Risk Factors" in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Overview
Peloton is the largest interactive fitness platform in the world with a loyal community of over 5.9 million Members as of June 30, 2021. We
pioneered connected, technology-enabled fitness, and the streaming of immersive, instructor-led boutique classes to our Members anytime,
anywhere. We make fitness entertaining, approachable, effective, and convenient, while fostering social connections that encourage our
Members to be the best versions of themselves. We define a Member as any individual who has a Peloton account through a paid Connected
Fitness Subscription, or a paid Peloton Digital subscription.
Our Connected Fitness Product portfolio includes the Peloton Bike, Bike+, and the Peloton Tread and Tread+. Our revenue is generated primarily
from the sale of our Connected Fitness Products and associated recurring subscription revenue. We have historically experienced significant
growth in sales of our Connected Fitness Products, which, when combined with our low Average Net Monthly Connected Fitness Churn has led
to significant growth in Connected Fitness Subscriptions. From fiscal year 2020 to fiscal year 2021, total revenue grew 120%, and our Connected
Fitness Subscription base grew 114%.
Our compelling financial profile is characterized by high growth, strong retention, recurring revenue, and efficient customer acquisition. Our low
Average Net Monthly Connected Fitness Churn, together with our high Subscription Contribution Margin, allows us to generate attractive value
from our Connected Fitness Subscriptions. When we acquire new Connected Fitness Subscriptions, we are often able to offset our subscription
acquisition costs with the gross profit earned on our Connected Fitness Products. This allows for rapid payback of our sales and marketing
investments and results in a robust unit economic model.
For fiscal years 2021, 2020 and 2019:
•
•
•
•
•
•

We generated total revenue of $4,021.8 million, $1,825.9 million and $915.0 million respectively, representing 120% and 100% yearover-year growth;
As of June 30, 2021, 2020 and 2019, we had 2,330,700, 1,091,100 and 511,200 Connected Fitness Subscriptions, respectively,
representing 114% and 113% year-over-year growth;
Our Average Net Monthly Connected Fitness Churn was 0.61%, 0.62% and 0.65%, respectively;
We recognized net losses of $189.0 million, $71.6 million and $195.6 million, respectively;
Our Adjusted EBITDA was $253.7 million, $117.7 million and $(71.3) million, respectively; and
Our Subscription Contribution Margin was 67.2%, 63.8%, and 50.8%, respectively.

For a definition of Connected Fitness Subscriptions and Average Net Monthly Connected Fitness Churn, see the section titled “—Key Operational
and Business Metrics”.
See the section titled “—Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for definitions of and information regarding our use of Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted
EBITDA Margin, Subscription Contribution and Subscription Contribution Margin, and a reconciliation of each of net loss to Adjusted EBITDA and
Subscription Gross Profit to Subscription Contribution.
Fourth quarter fiscal 2021 update and recent developments
The past fiscal year represented an inflection point for the connected fitness industry, with significant increases in awareness and demand
following the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic. As we have discussed in the past, this necessitated significant investments in manufacturing
capacity, logistics and expedited shipping to reduce order-to-delivery windows, which we were pleased to restore to pre-pandemic levels during
the fourth quarter.
To support our large long-term growth opportunity, on May 24, 2021, we announced plans to build our first U.S. factory. Peloton Output Park will
sit on over 200 acres of land in Troy Township, Ohio and will feature more than a million square feet of manufacturing, office, and amenities
space, making it one of the largest connected fitness plants in the world. This state-of-the-art factory will diversify our manufacturing footprint,
provide additional capacity to support our growth, drive production efficiencies through automation and scale, and accelerate our speed-tomarket. Peloton Output Park will complement our existing manufacturing assets and contract partnerships in Taiwan and the recently acquired
Precor assets in North Carolina and Washington state. We expect to begin producing Bike, Bike+, and Tread products at POP starting in calendar
2023.
Since our founding, Peloton's mission has been to help people be the best version of themselves by making it easier to access world-class
fitness and wellness content. Today, we announced our latest step in making Peloton more attainable by lowering the price of our original,
award-winning Peloton Bike across all of our markets to $1,495 USD, or $39 per month with our 39-month financing plan. We know price remains
a barrier to purchase and are pleased to offer our most popular product at an attractive everyday price point. We are also introducing a longer 43month 0% financing term option for Bike+ and Tread across all regions, which equates to $59 per month.
During the fourth fiscal quarter, we also celebrated the first anniversary of the Peloton Pledge, our four-year, $100 million investment to support
the fight against racial injustice and inequality and promote health and well-being for all. In fiscal 2021, we expanded our Diversity, Equity, and
Inclusion team, increased starting wages for our hourly team members, launched new learning and development programs for our team, and
updated our recruiting, hiring, and onboarding practices to make them even more inclusive. We intend to continue to raise awareness of and
reaffirm our commitment to becoming an anti-racist organization and hold ourselves accountable to ongoing progress.
Content
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On April 30, 2021, during our virtual Peloton Homecoming 2021, we were pleased to announce the expansion of Peloton Programs, curated
collections of exclusive classes designed to make it easier for Members to meet their fitness goals. Spanning nearly 190 classes across nine
disciplines, Programs are sortable based on instructor, duration, modality and number of classes, while featuring sequential classes, a progress
bar, and achievement badges. Since re-launch, Members have taken over 3 million classes as part of a Program.
Strength remains our fastest-growing modality, demonstrating the effectiveness of our content investments and cementing our position as a fullbody fitness solution. During fiscal 2021, total connected fitness Strength workouts grew 256% year-on-year and now represent 18% of the total
mix, up from 13% in fiscal 2020. We continue to invest in content to support this demand and during Q4 added our inaugural Strength First
instructors, Callie Gullickson and Rad Lopez, both of whom have been extremely well-received by our community.
We also relaunched our Yoga content, adding three new instructors, introducing content in additional languages, and debuting a Beginner Yoga
program to help newcomers learn the discipline. These changes have made our content more accessible and approachable to a wider audience;
for example, Mariana Fernández, our first Spanish language instructor, had her classes taken over 200,000 times by well over 100,000 Members
in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2021.
Our teams also reimagined our Scenic rides from the ground up and during Homecoming launched refreshed content to provide distance-based,
time-based, and guided workouts featuring responsive video, curated and ever-changing playlists, and new locations. We are pleased with the
initial reception during the quarter, with roughly 20% of our active Bike / Bike+ Members taking at least one scenic ride after the re-launch.
Software
We continue to invest heavily in software development and this quarter we were excited to introduce Strive Score, a personal, non-competitive
metric that utilizes a compatible heart rate monitor to track effort. Many of our most popular workout modalities -- such as strength, HIIT, and
bootcamp classes -- don’t have easily comparable power-based outputs from a connected device, but can be measured via Strive Score, which
awards points based on the length of time spent in different Heart Rate zones. Since its launch, over 850 thousand Members have utilized Strive
Score to enhance their workouts.
Corporate Wellness
We have long believed that Peloton provides a perfect solution for corporations and organizations looking to provide wellness benefits for their
employees, and on June 22nd, we officially launched the Peloton Corporate Wellness program. This initiative will provide employers, insurers,
and other partners the ability to offer their employees and Members subsidized access to Peloton Digital subscriptions, All Access
Memberships, and/or Connected Fitness Products.
The corporate wellness market is large and growing, and we are uniquely positioned to add value through our proven ability to drive high
engagement and Member satisfaction, while also offering back-end enterprise features that reduce administrative load, including tools to
measure program impact via a secure, easy-to-use portal. Our initial launch partners include Wayfair, Samsung, SAP, Accenture Interactive, and
Sky (in the U.K.) and on July 20th we announced our first partnership with a health insurer, United Healthcare, the largest provider in the U.S.
Product recall update
In April 2021, the U.S. Consumer Product Safety Commission (“CPSC”) unilaterally issued a warning to consumers about the safety hazards
associated with the Tread+. Thereafter, on May 5, 2021, we announced separate, voluntary recalls of each of our Tread+ and Tread products in
collaboration with the CPSC and halted sales of these products to work on product enhancements. Members were notified that they could
return their Tread or Tread + for a full refund, have the unit moved to another location or wait until a solution is available. During the fourth
quarter of fiscal 2021, we accrued for a reduction to connected fitness products revenue for actual and estimated future returns of
approximately $81 million. We also expect to continue to incur additional costs which could include costs for which we have not accrued or
established adequate reserves, including increases to the return reserves, inventory write-downs, logistics costs associated with Member
requests to return or move their hardware, subscription waiver variable costs of service, anticipated recall-related hardware development and
repair costs, and related legal and advisory fees. Recall charges are based upon estimates associated with our expected and historical
consumer response rates. Our plans for the recalls are still being finalized and actual costs related to this matter may vary from the estimate,
and may result in further impacts to our future results of operations and business.
Key Operational and Business Metrics
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In addition to the measures presented in our consolidated financial statements, we use the following key operational and business metrics to
evaluate
our
business,
measure
our
performance,
develop
financial
forecasts,
and
make
strategic
decisions.
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021
Ending Connected Fitness Subscriptions

2020

2,330,700

Average Net Monthly Connected Fitness Churn

1,091,100

0.61 %

Total Workouts (in millions)
Average Monthly Workouts per Connected Fitness Subscription
Subscription Gross Profit (in millions)
(1)

Subscription Contribution (in millions)

0.65 %

459.7

164.5

52.2

22.0

17.9

11.5

541.7

$

208.0

$

$

586.5

$

232.1

$

62.1 %

Subscription Contribution Margin(1)

57.2 %

67.2 %

Adjusted EBITDA (in millions)(2)

511,200

0.62 %

$

Subscription Gross Margin
Net loss (in millions)

2019

77.4
91.9
42.7 %

63.8 %

50.8 %

$

(189.0)

$

(71.6)

$

(195.6)

$

253.7

$

117.7

$

(71.3)

(2)

6.3 %

Adjusted EBITDA Margin

6.4 %

(7.8)%

______________________________
(1) Please see the section titled “Non-GAAP Financial Measures—Subscription Contribution and Subscription Contribution Margin” for a reconciliation of Subscription Gross Profit to
Subscription Contribution and an explanation of why we consider Subscription Contribution and Subscription Contribution Margin to be helpful metrics for investors.
(2) Please see the section titled “Non-GAAP Financial Measures—Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin” for a reconciliation of net loss to Adjusted EBITDA and an explanation of
why we consider Adjusted EBITDA to be a helpful metric for investors.

Connected Fitness Subscriptions
Our ability to expand the number of Connected Fitness Subscriptions is an indicator of our market penetration and growth. We define a
Connected Fitness Subscription as a person, household, or commercial property, such as a hotel or residential building, who has either paid for a
subscription to a Connected Fitness Product (a Connected Fitness Subscription with a successful credit card billing or with prepaid subscription
credits or waivers) or requested a "pause" to their subscription for up to 3 months. We do not include canceled or unpaid Connected Fitness
Subscriptions in the Connected Fitness Subscription count.
Average Net Monthly Connected Fitness Churn
We use Average Net Monthly Connected Fitness Churn to measure the retention of our Connected Fitness Subscriptions. We define Average Net
Monthly Connected Fitness Churn as Connected Fitness Subscription cancellations, net of reactivations, in the quarter, divided by the average
number of beginning Connected Fitness Subscriptions in each month, divided by three months. This metric does not include data related to our
Peloton Digital subscriptions for Members who pay a monthly fee for access to our content library on their own devices.
Total Workouts and Average Monthly Workouts per Connected Fitness Subscription
We review Total Workouts and Average Monthly Workouts per Connected Fitness Subscription to measure engagement, which is the leading
indicator of retention for our Connected Fitness Subscriptions. We define Total Workouts as all workouts completed during a given period. We
define a Workout as a Connected Fitness Subscription for Members either completing at least 50% of an instructor-led or scenic ride or run, or
ten or more minutes of “Just Ride” or “Just Run” mode. We define Average Monthly Workouts per Connected Fitness Subscription as the Total
Workouts completed in the quarter divided by the average number of Connected Fitness Subscriptions in each month, divided by three months.
Components of our Results of Operations
Revenue
Connected Fitness Products
Connected Fitness Product revenue consists of sales of our portfolio of Connected Fitness Products and related accessories, delivery and
installation services, branded apparel, extended warranty agreements, and the sale, service, installation, and delivery contracts of our
commercial business. Connected Fitness Product revenue is recognized at the time of delivery, except for extended warranty revenue which is
recognized over the warranty period and service revenue which is recognized over the term, and is recorded net of returns and discounts and
third-party financing program fees, when applicable.
Subscription
Subscription revenue consists of revenue generated from our monthly $39.00 Connected Fitness Subscription and $12.99 Peloton Digital
subscription.
As of June 30, 2021, 98% and 100% of our Connected Fitness Subscription and Peloton Digital subscription bases were paying month-to-month,
respectively.
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If a Connected Fitness Subscription owns both a Bike and Tread product in the same household, the price of the Subscription remains $39.00
monthly. As of June 30, 2021, approximately 3% of our Connected Fitness Subscriptions owned both a Bike and Tread product.
Cost of revenue
Connected Fitness Products
Connected Fitness Product cost of revenue consists of our portfolio of Connected Fitness Products and branded apparel product costs,
including manufacturing costs, duties and other applicable importing costs, shipping and handling costs, packaging, warranty replacement and
service costs, fulfillment costs, warehousing costs, depreciation of property and equipment, and certain costs related to management, facilities,
and personnel-related expenses associated with supply chain logistics. As we launch new Connected Fitness Products and continue to grow our
presence in new regions where we have not yet achieved economies of scale, we expect to incur higher cost of revenue (as a percentage of
sales) for our Connected Fitness Products.
Subscription
Subscription cost of revenue includes costs associated with content creation and costs to stream content to our Members. These costs consist
of both fixed costs, including studio rent and occupancy, other studio overhead, instructor and production personnel-related expenses,
depreciation of property and equipment as well as variable costs, including music royalty fees, content costs for past use, third-party platform
streaming costs, and payment processing fees for our monthly subscription billings. While our fixed costs currently represent the majority of
these costs, music royalty fees are our largest subscription variable cost. As we have grown the number of licensing agreements with music
rights holders, music royalty fees as a percent of our subscription revenue has increased. However, unlike music streaming services where
having an exhaustive music catalog is vital to be able to compete for customers, we have control over what music we select for our classes. As a
result, we expect to be able to manage music expense such that, over time, these fees as a percentage of subscription revenue will flatten, or
even decrease.
Operating expenses
Sales and marketing
Sales and marketing expense consists of performance marketing media spend, asset creation, and other brand creative, all showroom expenses
and related lease payments, payment processing fees incurred in connection with the sale of our Connected Fitness Products, sales and
marketing personnel-related expenses, expenses related to Peloton Digital, and depreciation of property and equipment. We intend to continue to
invest in our sales and marketing capabilities in the future and expect this expense to increase in absolute dollars in future periods as we release
new products and expand internationally. Sales and marketing expense as a percentage of total revenue may fluctuate from period to period
based on total revenue and the timing of our investments in our sales and marketing functions as these investments may vary in scope and
scale over future periods.
General and administrative
General and administrative expense includes personnel-related expenses and facilities-related costs primarily for our executive, finance,
accounting, legal, human resources, and IT functions. General and administrative expense also includes fees for professional services principally
comprised of legal, audit, tax and accounting services, depreciation of property and equipment, and insurance, as well as litigation settlement
costs.
We expect to continue to incur additional general and administrative expenses as a result of operating as a public company, including expenses
related to compliance and reporting obligations of public companies, and increased costs for insurance, investor relations expenses, and
professional services. As a result, we expect that our general and administrative expenses will increase in absolute dollars in future periods and
vary from period to period as a percentage of revenue, but we expect to leverage these expenses over time as we grow our revenue and
Connected Fitness Subscription base.
Research and development
Research and development expense primarily consists of personnel and facilities-related expenses, consulting and contractor expenses, tooling
and prototype materials, software platform expenses, and depreciation of property and equipment. We capitalize certain qualified costs incurred
in connection with the development of internal-use software which may also cause research and development expenses to vary from period to
period. We expect our research and development expenses to increase in absolute dollars in future periods and vary from period to period as a
percentage of total revenue as we continue to hire personnel to develop new and enhance existing Connected Fitness Products and interactive
software.
Non-operating income and expenses
Other (expense) income, net
Other (expense) income, net consists of interest (expense) income, realized gains (losses) on investments, amortization of debt issuance costs,
and impacts from foreign exchange transactions.
Income tax provision
The provision for income taxes consists primarily of income taxes related to state and international taxes for jurisdictions in which we conduct
business. We maintain a valuation allowance on the majority of our deferred tax assets as we have concluded that it is more likely than not that
the deferred assets will not be utilized.
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Results of Operations
The following tables set forth our consolidated results of operations in dollars and as a percentage of total revenue for the periods presented.
The period-to-period comparisons of our historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected in the future.
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2020

2021

2019

(in millions)
Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:
Revenue
Connected Fitness Products

$

Subscription
Total revenue

3,149.7

$

1,462.2

$

733.9

872.2

363.7

181.1

4,021.8

1,825.9

915.0

2,239.3

833.5

427.8

330.5

155.7

103.7

2,569.8

989.1

531.4

1,452.0

836.7

383.6

729.7

477.0

324.0

662.4

351.6

207.0

(1)(2)

Cost of revenue

Connected Fitness Products
Subscription
Total cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses
Sales and marketing(1)(2)
(1)(2)

General and administrative

(1)(2)

Research and development

247.8

89.0

54.8

Total operating expenses

1,639.8

917.6

585.8

(187.8)

(80.8)

(202.3)

(10.4)

12.4

(198.2)

(68.4)

Loss from operations
Other (expense) income, net
Loss before provision for income tax
Income tax (benefit) expense

(9.2)

Net loss

$

6.7
(195.6)

3.3

(189.0) $

0.1

(71.6) $

(195.6)

____________________
(1) Includes stock-based compensation expense as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021

2019

2020
(in millions)

Cost of revenue
Connected Fitness Products

$

Subscription
Total cost of revenue
Sales and marketing

12.6

$

3.2

$

0.3

25.9

7.5

3.2

38.5

10.7

3.5

26.2

15.3

8.4

General and administrative

102.1

52.4

70.5

Research and development

27.2

10.4

7.1

Total stock-based compensation expense

$

____________________
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194.0

$

88.8

$

89.5

(2) Includes depreciation and amortization expense as follows:

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021

2019

2020
(in millions)

Cost of revenue
Connected Fitness Products

$

7.7

Subscription
Total cost of revenue

$

3.2

$

1.2

19.0

16.6

11.3

26.7

19.9

12.6

Sales and marketing

14.3

9.3

4.0

General and administrative

13.0

10.6

5.2

Research and development

9.9

Total depreciation and amortization expense

$

63.8

0.3
$

40.2

—
$

21.7

Comparison of the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020
Revenue
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021

2020

% Change

(dollars in millions)
Revenue:
Connected Fitness Products

$

Subscription

3,149.7

$

872.2

Total revenue

$

4,021.8

1,462.2
363.7

$

1,825.9

115.4%
139.8
120.3%

Percentage of revenue
Connected Fitness Products

78.3 %

80.1 %

Subscription

21.7

19.9

100.0 %

100.0 %

Total

Connected Fitness Products revenue increased $1,687.4 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 compared to the fiscal year ended June
30, 2020. This increase was primarily attributable to the significant growth in the number of Connected Fitness Products delivered during the
period, which was the result of investments made in brand and product awareness, compounded by a strong increase in demand driven by the
stay-at-home orders issued by governments around the world in response to the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as incremental deliveries as a
result of significant investments in expedited freight to alleviate backlog demand, all partially offset by the halt of sales and increased returns of
Tread and Tread+ due to the voluntary recall.
Subscription revenue increased $508.5 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 compared to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. This
increase was primarily attributable to the year-over-year growth in our Connected Fitness Subscriptions. The growth of our Connected Fitness
Subscriptions was primarily driven by the increased number of Connected Fitness Products delivered during the period and our low Average Net
Monthly Connected Fitness Churn of 0.61% for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. We believe engagement is a leading indicator of retention.
Our Member engagement continued to grow with 22.0 Average Monthly Workouts per Connected Fitness Subscription during the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2021, compared to 17.9 Average Monthly Workouts per Connected Fitness Subscription for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.
Members with Connected Fitness Subscriptions worked out with us 459.7 million times in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, up from 164.5
million workouts during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, representing year-over-year growth of 180%.
Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit, and Gross Margin
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Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021

2020

% Change

Cost of Revenue:
Connected Fitness Products

$

Subscription

2,239.3

$

330.5

Total cost of revenue

833.5

168.7%

155.7

112.3

$

2,569.8

$

989.1

159.8%

$

910.3

$

628.8

44.8%

$

1,452.0

Gross Profit:
Connected Fitness Products
Subscription

541.7

Total Gross profit

$

208.0

160.4

836.7

73.5%

Gross Margin:
Connected Fitness Products

28.9 %

43.0 %

Subscription

62.1 %

57.2 %

Connected Fitness Products cost of revenue for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 increased $1,405.9 million, or 168.7%, compared to the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. This increase was primarily driven by costs associated with the growth in the number of Connected Fitness
Products delivered during the period, our investments in expedited shipping to alleviate our backlog of demand, and increased shipping and
component part costs that we expect to carry into the next fiscal year.
Our Connected Fitness Product Gross Margin decreased by 1,410 basis points for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 compared to the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2020 primarily driven by the price reduction on our Bike from $2,245 to $1,895 in September 2020, charges associated with
the voluntary recalls of Tread+ and Tread, and expedited shipping investments.
Subscription cost of revenue for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 increased $174.8 million, or 112.3%, compared to the fiscal year ended June
30, 2020. This increase was primarily driven by an increase of $117.1 million in music royalty and streaming delivery fees driven by increased
usage of our platform as our Subscription base and engagement continued to increase, an increase of $18.6 million in personnel-related
expenses excluding stock-based compensation expense, due to increased headcount, an increase of $18.4 million in stock-based compensation
expense driven by increased headcount and bonuses, and an increase of $12.9 million in payment processing fees for our monthly subscription
billing.
Subscription Gross Margin increased by 492 basis points for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 compared to the fiscal year ended June 30,
2020, primarily driven by fixed cost leverage with more Connected Fitness Subscriptions, and relative current period decreases in certain travel
and studio expenditures due to COVID-19 restrictions.
Operating Expenses
Sales and Marketing
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021
Sales and marketing

$

As a percentage of total revenue

729.7
18.1 %

2020
$

477.0

% Change
53.0%

26.1 %

Sales and marketing expense increased $252.6 million, or 53.0% when comparing the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 with the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2020. These increases were primarily due to an increase in spending on advertising and marketing programs of $121.8 million. We
resumed marketing in the second half of the year given our improved order-to-delivery position. The year-over-year increase in sales and
marketing expense was further driven by an increase in personnel-related expenses of $49.9 million, excluding stock-based compensation
expense, due to increased headcount, a volume-based increase in payment processing fees of $38.6 million, and an increase in expenses related
to our showrooms of $16.9 million.
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General and Administrative
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021
General and administrative

$

2020

662.4

As a percentage of total revenue

$

16.5 %

% Change

351.6

88.4%

19.3 %

General and administrative expense increased $310.8 million, or 88.4% when comparing the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 with the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2020. This increase was primarily due to an increase in professional services fees and system implementation costs of $117.9
million related primarily to the upgrading of our back-office systems and infrastructure as well as various acquisitions and related integration
costs, an increase in personnel-related expenses of $97.2 million, excluding stock-based compensation expense, due to increased headcount as
a result of being a public company, an increase in stock-based compensation expense of $49.7 million driven by increased headcount and
bonuses, and an increase in business operations costs of $14.4 million primarily driven by higher recruitment agency fees and relocation
expense.
Research and Development
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021
Research and development

$

2020

247.8

As a percentage of total revenue

$

% Change

89.0

6.2 %

178.5%

4.9 %

Research and development expense increased $158.8 million, or 178.5% when comparing the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 with the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2020. This increase was primarily due to an increase in personnel-related expenses, which, excluding stock-based
compensation expense, increased $67.1 million, due to increased headcount, an increase of $49.4 million in product development and research
costs associated with development of new software features and products, an increase in stock-based compensation expense of $16.8 million
driven by increased headcount and bonuses, and an increase of $12.5 million in software expense.
Other (Expense) Income, Net and Income Tax (Benefit) Expense
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021

2020

% Change

Other (expense) income, net

$

(10.4) $

12.4

NM

Income tax (benefit) expense

$

(9.2) $

3.3

NM

___________________________
*NM - not meaningful

Other (expense) income, net, was comprised of the following for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021:
•

Interest expense primarily related to the amortization of the convertible notes discount and deferred financing costs of $(14.8) million

•

Interest income from cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments of $7.9 million; and

•

Foreign exchange losses of $(3.5) million.

Other (expense) income, net, was comprised of the following for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020:
•

Interest expense primarily related to the secured revolving credit facility of $(2.0) million

•

Interest income from cash, cash equivalents, and short-term investments of $18.2 million; and

•

Foreign exchange losses of $(3.8) million.

Income tax benefit for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 of $(9.2) million was primarily due to adjustments to the valuation allowance resulting
from acquisitions during the period, partially offset by state and international taxes.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures
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In addition to our results determined in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, or GAAP, we believe the
following non-GAAP financial measures are useful in evaluating our operating performance.
Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin
We calculate Adjusted EBITDA as net (loss) income adjusted to exclude: other expense (income), net; income tax (benefit) expense; depreciation
and amortization expense; stock-based compensation expense; transaction and integration costs; certain litigation expenses, consisting of legal
settlements and related fees for specific proceedings that arise outside of the ordinary course of our business; product recall costs; specific nonrecurring costs associated with COVID-19; short-term purchase accounting adjustments; impairment charges for fixed assets; and restructuring
costs. Adjusted EBITDA Margin is calculated by dividing Adjusted EBITDA by total revenue.
We use Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin as measures of operating performance and the operating leverage in our business. We
believe that these non-GAAP financial measures are useful to investors for period-to-period comparisons of our business and in understanding
and evaluating our operating results for the following reasons:
•

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin are widely used by investors and securities analysts to measure a company’s operating
performance without regard to items such as stock-based compensation expense, depreciation and amortization expense, other
(income) expense, net, and provision for income taxes that can vary substantially from company to company depending upon their
financing, capital structures, and the method by which assets were acquired;

•

Our management uses Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin in conjunction with financial measures prepared in accordance
with GAAP for planning purposes, including the preparation of our annual operating budget, as a measure of our core operating results
and the effectiveness of our business strategy, and in evaluating our financial performance; and

•

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin provide consistency and comparability with our past financial performance, facilitate
period-to-period comparisons of our core operating results, and also facilitate comparisons with other peer companies, many of which
use similar non-GAAP financial measures to supplement their GAAP results.

Our use of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin have limitations as analytical tools, and you should not consider these measures in
isolation or as substitutes for analysis of our financial results as reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are, or may in the future be, as
follows:
•

Although depreciation and amortization expense are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be
replaced in the future, and Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin do not reflect cash capital expenditure requirements for such
replacements or for new capital expenditure requirements;

•

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin exclude stock-based compensation expense, which has recently been, and will continue
to be for the foreseeable future, a significant recurring expense for our business and an important part of our compensation strategy;

•

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin do not reflect: (1) changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs; (2)
interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments on our debt, which reduces cash
available to us; or (3) tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available to us;

•

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin do not reflect certain litigation expenses, consisting of legal settlements and related
fees for specific proceedings that we have determined arise outside of the ordinary course of business based on the following
considerations which we assess regularly: (i) the frequency of similar cases that have been brought to date, or are expected to be
brought within two years, (ii) the complexity of the case, (iii) the nature of the remedy(ies) sought, including the size of any monetary
damages sought, (iv) offensive versus defensive posture of us, (v) the counterparty involved, and (vi) our overall litigation strategy;

•
•

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin do not reflect transaction and integration costs related to acquisitions;
Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin do not reflect incremental costs associated with COVID-19, which consist of hazard pay
for field operations employees;

•

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin do not reflect impairment charges, and gains (losses) on disposals for fixed assets;

•

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin do not reflect the impact of purchase accounting adjustments to inventory related to the
Precor acquisition;

•

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin do not reflect the impact of restructuring costs;

•

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin do not reflect costs associated with Tread and Tread+ product recalls including
increases to the return reserves, Tread+ inventory write-downs, logistics costs associated with Member requests on Tread and Tread+,
the cost to move the Tread+ for those that elect the option, subscription waiver costs of service, and recall-related hardware
development and repair costs; and

•

The expenses and other items that we exclude in our calculation of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin may differ from the
expenses and other items, if any, that other companies may exclude from Adjusted EBITDA when they report their operating results and
we may, in the future, exclude other significant, unusual or non-recurring expenses or other items from these financial measures.

Because of these limitations, Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin should be considered along with other operating and financial
performance measures presented in accordance with GAAP.
The following table presents a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net loss, the most directly comparable financial measure prepared in
accordance with GAAP, for each of the periods indicated:
Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA Margin
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Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021
Net loss

$

2020

(189.0)

$

2019

(71.6)

$

(195.6)

Adjusted to exclude the following:
Other expense (income), net

10.4

(12.4)

(6.7)

Income tax (benefit) expense

(9.2)

3.3

0.1

Depreciation and amortization expense

63.8

40.2

21.7

194.0

88.8

89.5

Stock-based compensation expense
(1)

100.0

—

—

Litigation and settlement expenses (2)

35.8

60.1

12.1

Transaction and integration costs (3)

28.9

0.9

0.4

Product recalls

Other adjustment items

(4)

18.9

Adjusted EBITDA

$

Adjusted EBITDA Margin

253.7
6.3 %

8.5
$

117.7
6.4 %

7.2
$

(71.3)
(7.8)%

______________________
(1) Represents adjustments and charges associated with the Tread and Tread+ product recall, as well as accrual adjustments. These include a reduction to connected fitness products
revenue for actual and estimated future returns of $81.1 million and recorded costs in connected fitness products cost of revenue associated with inventory write-downs, logistic costs,
and repair costs of $15.7 million and operating expenses of $3.2 million associated with subscription wavers and recall-related hardware development.
(2) Includes litigation fees for certain ongoing patent infringement litigation, consumer arbitration, and product recalls for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, and confidential
settlements and associated legal fees relating to two previously disclosed legal matters—“Downtown Music Publishing LLC et. al v. Peloton Interactive” and “Flywheel Sports, Inc.” for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2020.
(3) Includes transaction and integration costs primarily associated with the acquisition and integration of Precor Fitness for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.
(4) Includes incremental costs associated with COVID-19 of $5.9 million, short-term purchase accounting adjustments of $4.6 million, asset impairment charges of $4.5 million, and
restructuring costs of $4.0 million for fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. Includes $8.5 million of incremental costs associated with COVID-19 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, and
$7.2 million of ground lease expense related to build-to-suit lease obligations under ASC 840 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019.

Subscription Contribution and Subscription Contribution Margin
We define Subscription Contribution as subscription revenue less cost of subscription revenue, adjusted to exclude from cost of subscription
revenue, depreciation and amortization expense, and stock-based compensation expense. Subscription Contribution Margin is calculated by
dividing Subscription Contribution by subscription revenue.
We use Subscription Contribution and Subscription Contribution Margin to measure our ability to scale and leverage the costs of our Connected
Fitness Subscriptions. We believe that these non-GAAP financial measures are useful to investors for period-to-period comparisons of our
business and in understanding and evaluating our operating results because our management uses Subscription Contribution and Subscription
Contribution Margin in conjunction with financial measures prepared in accordance with GAAP for planning purposes, including the preparation
of our annual operating budget, as a measure of our core operating results and the effectiveness of our business strategy, and in evaluating our
financial performance.
The use of Subscription Contribution and Subscription Contribution Margin as analytical tools has limitations, and you should not consider these
in isolation or as substitutes for analysis of our financial results as reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are as follows:
•

Although depreciation and amortization expense are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be
replaced in the future, and Subscription Contribution and Subscription Contribution Margin do not reflect cash capital expenditure
requirements for such replacements or for new capital expenditure requirements; and

•

Subscription Contribution and Subscription Contribution Margin exclude stock-based compensation expense, which has recently been,
and will continue to be for the foreseeable future, a significant recurring expense for our business and an important part of our
compensation strategy.

Because of these limitations, Subscription Contribution and Subscription Contribution Margin should be considered along with other operating
and financial performance measures presented in accordance with GAAP.
The following table presents a reconciliation of Subscription Contribution to Subscription Gross Profit, the most directly comparable financial
measure prepared in accordance with GAAP, for each of the periods indicated:
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Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021

2020

2019

(dollars in millions)
Subscription Revenue

$

Less: Cost of Subscription

872.2

$

330.5

Subscription Gross Profit

$

Subscription Gross Margin

541.7

363.7

$

155.7
$

62.1 %

208.0

181.1
103.7

$

57.2 %

77.4
42.7 %

Add back:
Depreciation and amortization expense

$

19.0

$

586.5

Stock-based compensation expense

$

16.6

$

232.1

25.9

Subscription Contribution
Subscription Contribution Margin

67.2 %

$

11.3

$

91.9

7.5
63.8 %

3.2
50.8 %

The continued growth of our Connected Fitness Subscription base will allow us to improve our Subscription Contribution Margin. While there are
variable costs, including music royalties, associated with our Connected Fitness Subscriptions, a significant portion of our content creation costs
are fixed given that we operate with a limited number of production studios and instructors. The fixed nature of those expenses should scale
over time as we grow our Connected Fitness Subscription base.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Our operations have been funded primarily through net proceeds from the sales of our equity and convertible debt securities, as well as cash
flows from operating activities. As of June 30, 2021, we had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $1.1 billion and marketable securities
of $472.0 million.
As of June 30, 2021, our marketable securities portfolio primarily consists of U.S. government notes and investment grade corporate debt
securities.
We believe our existing cash and cash equivalent balances, cash flow from operations, marketable securities portfolio, and amounts available for
borrowing under our Amended Credit Agreement (described below) will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital expenditure needs
for at least the next 12 months. Our future capital requirements may vary materially from those currently planned and will depend on many
factors, including our rate of revenue growth, timing and amount of spending related to acquisitions, the timing and amount of spending on
research and development and manufacturing initiatives, the timing and financial impact of recently announced product recalls, growth in sales
and marketing activities, the timing of new Connected Fitness Product introductions, market acceptance of our Connected Fitness Products,
timing and investments needed for international expansion, and overall economic conditions. Further, we may use cash to satisfy exercise
payments and/or tax withholdings in connection with the settlement of equity awards, or other stock buyback programs. To the extent that
current and anticipated future sources of liquidity are insufficient to fund our future business activities and requirements, we may be required to
seek additional equity or debt financing. The sale of additional equity would result in additional dilution to our stockholders. The incurrence of
debt financing would result in debt service obligations and the instruments governing such debt could provide for operating and financing
covenants that would restrict our operations. There can be no assurances that we will be able to raise additional capital. The inability to raise
capital would adversely affect our ability to achieve our business objectives.
Convertible Notes
In February 2021, we issued $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of 0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 (the "Notes") in a private offering,
including the exercise in full of the over-allotment option granted to the initial purchasers of $125.0 million. The Notes were issued pursuant to
an Indenture (the "Indenture") between us and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee. The Notes are our senior unsecured obligations and do
not bear regular interest, and the principal amount of the Notes does not accrete. The net proceeds from this offering were approximately $977.2
million, after deducting the initial purchasers' discounts and commissions and our offering expenses. For additional details, refer to Note 12 –
Debt - 'Convertible Senior Notes' included in the “Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements” in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form
10-K.
Amended Credit Agreement
In June 2019, we entered into an amended and restated loan and security agreement, or the Amended Credit Agreement, with JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, lead arranger and bookrunner and Bank of America, N.A., Barclays Bank PLC, Goldman Sachs Lending
Partners LLC and Silicon Valley Bank, as joint syndication agents, which amended and restated our prior secured revolving credit facility.
On February 8, 2021, we entered into a First Amendment (the “First Amendment”) to the Amended Credit Agreement to revise certain covenants
that restricted the incurrence of indebtedness to permit the Capped Call Transactions and issuance of the Notes.
On March 18, 2021, we entered into a Joinder Agreement (the "Joinder") to the Amended Credit Agreement, as amended by the First
Amendment, to add Citibank, N.A. as a lender under the Amended Credit Agreement and to provide for an increase of the commitments available
under the revolving credit facility by $35.0 million from $250.0 million to $285.0 million.
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The Amended Credit Agreement provides for a $285.0 million secured revolving credit facility, including up to the lesser of $150.0 million and the
aggregate unused amount of the facility for the issuance of letters of credit. Interest on the Amended Credit Agreement is paid based on LIBOR
plus 2.75% or an Alternative Base Rate plus 1.75%. We are required to pay an annual commitment fee of 0.375% on a quarterly basis based on
the unused portion of the revolving credit facility. The principal amount, if any, is payable in full in June 2024. As of June 30, 2021, we had not
drawn on the credit facility and did not have outstanding borrowings under the Amended Credit Agreement. As of June 30, 2021, we had
outstanding letters of credit totaling $4.8 million issued primarily to cover security deposits for an operating lease obligation.
We have the option to repay our borrowings under the Amended Credit Agreement without premium or penalty prior to maturity. The Amended
Credit Agreement contains customary affirmative covenants, such as financial statement reporting requirements and delivery of borrowing base
certificates, as well as customary covenants that include limitations on our ability to, among other things, incur additional indebtedness, sell
certain assets, guarantee obligations of third parties, declare dividends or make certain distributions, and undergo a merger or consolidation or
certain other transactions. The Amended Credit Agreement also contains certain financial condition covenants, including maintaining a total
level of liquidity of not less than $125.0 million and maintaining certain minimum total revenue ranging from $725.0 million to $1,985.0 million
depending on the applicable date of determination.
Cash Flows
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities

2020

2019

(in millions)
(239.7) $
376.4

$

Net cash used in investing activities

(585.1)

Net cash provided by financing activities

$

(741.3)

916.8

(108.6)
(297.5)

1,240.2

417.2

Operating Activities
Net cash used in operating activities of $239.7 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 was primarily due to a net loss of $189.0 million
and a decrease in net change in operating assets and liabilities of $400.6 million, partially offset by non-cash adjustments of $349.9 million. The
decrease in net operating assets and liabilities was primarily due to a $587.2 million increase in inventory levels as we ramped up supply to meet
increased demand and prepare for the relaunch of Tread in the U.S., Canada, U.K. and Germany and a $212.7 million decrease in customer
deposits and deferred revenue driven by reduced order-to-delivery timeframes, partially offset by a $439.8 million increase in accounts payable
and accrued expenses related to increased inventory and other expenditures to support general business growth. Non-cash adjustments
primarily consisted of stock-based compensation expense, depreciation and amortization, and non-cash operating lease expense.
Investing activities
Net cash used in investing activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 of $585.1 million was primarily related to $556.3 million relating to
acquisitions, purchases of marketable securities of $449.1 million, and $241.0 million used for capital expenditures primarily related to the
continued build out of our New York City headquarters, our new Peloton studios in London, our new manufacturing facilities in Taiwan, and new
showrooms, partially offset by maturities of marketable securities of $665.9 million.
Financing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities of $916.8 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 was primarily related to proceeds from the
issuance of convertible debt of $977.2 million, partially offset by $81.3 million of capped call transactions entered into concurrently with the
convertible debt issuance.
Commitments
As of June 30, 2021, our contractual obligations were as follows:

Payments due by period
Less than

Total

Contractual obligations:

1-3 years

1 year

More than

3-5 years

5 years

(in millions)

Lease obligations (1)

$
(2)

Minimum guarantees
Unused credit facility fee payments (3)
Other purchase obligations (4)
Convertible senior notes
Total

(5)

$

1,211.3

$

108.7

$

268.0

$

240.3

$

26.8

11.2

15.7

3.1

1.1

2.1

111.1

55.8

52.3

3.0

—

1,000.0

—

—

1,000.0

—

2,352.3

$
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176.7

$

338.0

—

594.3
—
—

$

1,243.3

$

594.3

(1) Lease obligations relate to our office space, warehouses, production studios, equipment, and retail showrooms and microstores. As of June 30, 2021, the Company has additional
operating leases for real estate that have not yet commenced of $263.9 million which has been included above. The Company also has finance lease obligations of $3.3 million, also
included above. The lease terms are between one and twenty-one years, and the majority of the lease agreements are renewable at the end of the lease period.
(2) We are subject to minimum royalty payments associated with our license agreements for the use of licensed content. See "Risk Factors --Our Most Material Financial, Operational, and
Execution Risks— We are a party to many music license agreements that are complex and impose numerous obligations upon us that may make it difficult to operate our business, and a
breach of such agreements could adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition."
(3) The Company is required to pay a commitment fee of 0.375% based on the unused portion of the revolving credit facility. As of June 30, 2021, we were contingently liable for
approximately $4.8 million in standby letters of credit for our operating lease obligations.
(4) Other purchase obligations include all other non-cancelable contractual obligations. These contracts are primarily related to cloud computing costs.
(5) Refer to Note 12 in the "Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements" in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further details regarding our convertible senior notes
obligations.

The commitment amounts in the table above are associated with contracts that are enforceable and legally binding and that specify all
significant terms, including fixed or minimum services to be used, fixed, minimum or variable price provisions, and the approximate timing of the
actions under the contracts.
Purchase orders or contracts for the purchase of certain goods and services are not included in the table. We cannot determine the aggregate
amount of such purchase orders that represent contractual obligations because purchase orders may represent authorizations to purchase
rather than binding agreements. Our purchase orders are based on our current needs and are fulfilled by our suppliers and manufacturers within
short periods of time. We subcontract with other companies to manufacture our products. During the normal course of business, we and our
manufacturers procure components based upon a forecasted production plan. If we cancel all or part of the orders, we may be liable to our
suppliers and manufacturers for the cost of the non-utilized component orders or components purchased by our manufacturers.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We did not have any undisclosed off-balance sheet arrangements as of June 30, 2021.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our consolidated financial statements, which
have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, we make estimates and judgments that affect
the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, stockholders’ equity/deficit, revenue, expenses, and related disclosures. We re-evaluate our estimates
on an on-going basis. Our estimates are based on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under
the circumstances. Because of the uncertainty inherent in these matters, actual results may differ from these estimates and could differ based
upon other assumptions or conditions. The critical accounting policies that reflect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the
preparation of our consolidated financial statements include those noted below.
Revenue Recognition
Our primary source of revenue is from sales of its Connected Fitness Products and related accessories and associated recurring Subscription
revenue, as well as Precor branded fitness products, delivery and installation services.
We determine revenue recognition through the following steps in accordance with ASC 606:
•
•
•
•
•

identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer;
identification of the performance obligations in the contract;
determination of the transaction price;
allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and
recognition of revenue when, or as, we satisfy a performance obligation.

Revenue is recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to our customers, in an amount that reflects the
consideration that we expect to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. Our revenue is reported net of sales returns and
discounts, as a reduction of the transaction price. We estimate our liability for product returns based on historical return trends by product
category, impact of seasonality, and an evaluation of current economic and market conditions and records the expected customer refund liability
as a reduction to revenue, and the expected inventory right of recovery as a reduction of cost of revenue. If actual return costs differ from
previous estimates, the amount of the liability and corresponding revenue are adjusted in the period in which such costs occur.
Some of our contracts with customers contain multiple performance obligations. For customer contracts that include multiple performance
obligations, we account for individual performance obligations if they are distinct. The transaction price is then allocated to each performance
obligation based on its standalone selling price. We generally determine the standalone selling price based on the prices charged to customers.
Deferred revenue is recorded for nonrefundable cash payments received for our performance obligation to transfer, or stand ready to transfer,
goods or services in the future. Deferred revenue consists of subscription fees billed that have not been recognized. Customer deposits
represent payments received in advance before we transfer a good or service to the customer and are refundable.
As described in Note 13 of the consolidated financial statements, the Company announced voluntary recalls of the Company's Tread+ and Tread
products, permitting customers to return the products for a refund. We estimate a returns reserve primarily based on historical and expected
product returns.
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Product Warranty
We offer a standard product warranty that its Connected Fitness Products and Precor branded fitness products will operate under normal,
non-commercial use for a period of one year from the date of original delivery. We have the obligation, at our option, to either repair or replace
the defective product. At the time revenue is recognized, an estimate of future warranty costs, including costs associated with service of
Connected Fitness Products outside of the warranty period, is recorded as a component of cost of revenue. Factors that affect the warranty
obligation include historical as well as current product failure rates, service delivery costs incurred in correcting product failures, and warranty
policies and business practices. Our products are manufactured both in-house and by contract manufacturers, and in certain cases, we may
have recourse to such contract manufacturers.
We also offer the option for customers in some markets to purchase a third-party extended warranty and service contract that extends or
enhances the technical support, parts, and labor coverage offered as part of the base warranty included with the Connected Fitness Product
for an additional period of 12 to 27 months.
Revenue and related fees paid to the third-party provider are recognized on a gross basis as we have a continuing obligation to perform over
the service period. Extended warranty revenue is recognized ratably over the extended warranty coverage period and is included in Connected
Fitness Product revenue in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognized for non-controlling interest, if
any, over the fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination.
Intangible assets other than goodwill are comprised of acquired developed technology, brand name, customer relationships, distributor
relationships, and other definite-lived intangible assets. At initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination or asset
acquisition are recognized at their fair value as of the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at
acquisition date fair value less accumulated amortization and impairment losses, if any, and are amortized on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life of the asset.
We review goodwill for impairment annually on April 1 of each fiscal year or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that an
impairment may exist. In conducting our annual impairment test, we first review qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than
not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If factors indicate that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than
its carrying amount, we perform a quantitative assessment and the fair value of the reporting unit is determined by analyzing the expected
present value of future cash flows. If the carrying value of the reporting unit continues to exceed its fair value, the fair value of the reporting
unit’s goodwill is calculated and an impairment loss equal to the excess is recorded. We assess the impairment of intangible assets whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
Business Combination
To determine whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions of assets or business combinations, we make certain judgments,
which include assessment of the inputs, processes, and outputs associated with the acquired set of activities. If we determine that
substantially all of the fair value of gross assets included in a transaction is concentrated in a single asset (or a group of similar assets), the
assets would not represent a business. To be considered a business, the assets in a transaction need to include an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
We allocate the fair value of the purchase consideration to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values at
the acquisition date. The fair values of intangible assets are determined utilizing information available near the acquisition date based on
expectations and assumptions that are deemed reasonable by management. Given the considerable judgment involved in determining fair
values, we typically obtain assistance from third-party valuation specialists for significant items. Any excess of the purchase price
(consideration transferred) over the estimated fair values of net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Transaction costs are expensed as
incurred. Amounts recorded in a business combination may change during the measurement period, which is a period not to exceed one year
from the date of acquisition, as additional information about conditions that existed at the acquisition date becomes available.
Loss Contingencies
We are involved in legal proceedings, claims, and regulatory, tax, and government inquiries and investigations that arise in the ordinary course of
business. Certain of these matters include claims for substantial or indeterminate amounts of damages. We record a liability when we believe
that it is both probable that a loss has been incurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. If we determine that a loss is reasonably
possible and the loss or range of loss can be reasonably estimated, we disclose the possible loss in the accompanying notes to the consolidated
financial statements. If we determine that a loss is reasonably possible but the loss or range of loss cannot be reasonably estimated, we state
that such an estimate cannot be made.
We review the developments in our contingencies that could affect the amount of the provisions that have been previously recorded, and the
matters and related reasonably possible losses disclosed. We make adjustments to our provisions and changes to our disclosures accordingly
to reflect the impact of negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel, and updated information. Significant judgment is required to
determine both the probability and the estimated amount of loss. These estimates have been based on our assessment of the facts and
circumstances at each balance sheet date and are subject to change based on new information and future events.
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The outcome of litigation is inherently uncertain. Therefore, if one or more of these matters were resolved against us for amounts in excess of
management’s expectations, our results of operations and financial condition, including in a particular reporting period in which any such
outcome becomes probable and estimable, could be materially adversely affected.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2 of the notes to our consolidated financial statements in the section titled “—Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements”
in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a discussion about new accounting pronouncements adopted and not yet
adopted as of the date of this report.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure About Market Risk
Interest Rate Risk
We had cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities of approximately $1.6 billion as of June 30, 2021. The primary objective of
our investment activities is the preservation of capital, and we do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes. We
have not been exposed, nor do we anticipate being exposed, to material risks due to changes in interest rates. A hypothetical 10%
increase in interest rates during any of the periods presented would not have had a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements.
We are primarily exposed to changes in short-term interest rates with respect to our cost of borrowing under our Amended Credit
Agreement. We monitor our cost of borrowing under our facility, taking into account our funding requirements, and our expectations for
short-term rates in the future. A hypothetical 10% change in the interest rate on our Amended Credit Agreement for all periods
presented would not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
Foreign Currency Risk
Our international sales are primarily denominated in foreign currencies and any unfavorable movement in the exchange rate between
U.S. dollars and the currencies in which we conduct sales in foreign countries could have an adverse impact on our revenue. We source
and manufacture inventory primarily in U.S. dollars and Taiwanese dollars. A portion of our operating expenses are incurred outside the
United States and are denominated in foreign currencies, which are also subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency
exchange rates. For example, we purchased Tonic, a contract manufacturer, and our operating expenses incurred in manufacturing our
products in Tonic's facilities in Taiwan are denominated in foreign currencies and not in U.S. dollars. In addition, our suppliers incur
many costs, including labor and supply costs, in other currencies. While we are not currently contractually obligated to pay increased
costs due to changes in exchange rates, to the extent that exchange rates move unfavorably for our suppliers, they may seek to pass
these additional costs on to us, which could have a material impact on our gross margins. Our operating results and cash flows are,
therefore, subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. However, we believe that the exposure to foreign
currency fluctuation from operating expenses is relatively small at this time as the related costs do not constitute a significant portion
of our total expenses. We use derivative instruments, such as foreign currency forwards, and have the ability to use option contracts, to
hedge certain exposures to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. Our exposure to foreign currency exchange rates has
historically been partially hedged as our foreign currency denominated inflows create a natural hedge against our foreign currency
denominated expenses.
Inflation Risk
We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition, or results of operations. If our costs
become subject to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such higher costs through price increases. Our
inability or failure to do so could harm our business, financial condition, and operating results.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Peloton Interactive, Inc.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Peloton Interactive, Inc. (the Company) as of June 30, 2021 and
2020, the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, cash flows and changes in redeemable convertible
preferred stock and stockholders’ (deficit) equity for each of the three years in the period ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly,
in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at June 30, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended June 30, 2021, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB),
the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated
August 26, 2021 expressed an adverse opinion thereon.
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or
fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Critical Audit Matters
The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material
to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of the
critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not,
by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or
disclosures to which they relate.
Tread+ and Tread Returns Reserve
Description of the Matter

As described in Note 13 of the consolidated financial statements, the Company announced on
May 5, 2021 voluntary recalls of the Company’s Tread+ and Tread products, permitting
customers to return the products for a refund. At June 30, 2021, the Company accrued $40.8
million to provide for future returns, which are presented within Accounts payable and accrued
expenses on the consolidated balance sheets. The estimated returns reserve is calculated using
available returns data to project the expected Tread+ and Tread returns.
Auditing management’s estimate of the returns reserve for the Company’s Tread+ and Tread
products was especially challenging due to the Company’s limited history of recalls. The
calculation of the returns reserve involved a high degree of estimation in determining the
expected rate of returns which can fluctuate based on factors such as timing of relaunch of the
products, customer behavior and other market conditions with uncertain future outcomes.

How We Addressed the Matter in
Our Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of
the controls over the process for estimating the returns reserve. For example, we tested
management’s review control over the estimation process to calculate the returns reserve and
the underlying assumptions utilized.
To test the returns reserve, our audit procedures included, among others, determining the
appropriateness of the methodology applied by the Company in estimating the returns reserve
and examining the Company’s key assumptions and judgements. We also performed a lookback
analysis to compare the expected rate of return to the actual returns to date. In addition, we
performed sensitivity analyses on the key assumptions to evaluate the changes in reserve.
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Occurrence of Revenue
Description of the Matter

The Company recognized $3,149.7 million of Connected Fitness Products revenue for the year
ended June 30, 2021. As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Company recognizes revenue when control of the promised goods is transferred to the
Company’s customers, which occurs when the promised Connected Fitness Products are
delivered to the Company’s customers.
Auditing the occurrence of revenue at year-end was especially challenging because it involved
significant auditor judgement to determine the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures
as the Company relies on delivery data from various sources to determine the point in time to
recognize revenue.

How We Addressed the Matter in
Our Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of
the controls over the occurrence of revenue at year-end for Connected Fitness Products
including the monthly reconciliation of revenue recognized to delivery.
To test revenue cut-off, our audit procedures included, among others, comparing revenue
recognized to delivery data from various sources. In addition, we performed analytical
procedures on disaggregated revenue of Connected Fitness Products to identify unusual trends
or patterns.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2017.
New York, New York
August 26, 2021
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Peloton Interactive, Inc.
Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
We have audited Peloton Interactive, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2021, based on criteria established in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013
framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, because of the effect of the material weakness described below on the achievement of
the objectives of the control criteria, Peloton Interactive, Inc. (the Company) has not maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of June 30, 2021, based on the COSO criteria.
A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or
detected on a timely basis. The following material weakness has been identified and included in management’s assessment.
Management has identified a material weakness in the Company’s inventory process.
As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting, management’s assessment of
and conclusion on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal controls of Precor
Incorporated, which is included in the 2021 consolidated financial statements of the Company and constituted approximately 12% and
2% of total assets and revenues, respectively, as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. Our audit of internal control over
financial reporting of the Company also did not include an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of Precor
Incorporated.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB),
the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss, cash flows and changes in redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ (deficit) equity for each of
the three years in the period ended June 30, 2021, and the related notes. This material weakness was considered in determining the
nature, timing and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2021 consolidated financial statements, and this report does not
affect our report dated August 26, 2021, which expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
Basis for Opinion
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control
over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on
our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company
in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission
and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect
on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
New York, New York
August 26, 2021
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PELOTON INTERACTIVE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in millions, except share and per share amounts)
June 30,

June 30,

2021

2020

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Marketable securities

1,134.8

$

472.0

Accounts receivable, net
Inventories, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

1,035.5
719.5

71.4

34.6

937.1

244.5

202.8

124.5

2,818.1

2,158.6

Property and equipment, net

591.9

242.3

Intangible assets, net

247.9

16.0

Goodwill

210.1

39.1

Total current assets

Restricted cash
Operating lease right-of-use assets, net
Other assets
Total assets

$

0.9

1.5

580.1

492.5

36.7

31.8

4,485.6

$

989.1

$

2,981.8

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses

$

Customer deposits and deferred revenue

361.7

164.8

363.6

Operating lease liabilities, current

61.9

36.9

Other current liabilities

27.2

10.0

1,243.0

772.2

Total current liabilities
Convertible senior notes, net

829.8

—

Operating lease liabilities, non-current

620.4

508.2

Other non-current liabilities
Total liabilities

38.3

23.4

2,731.5

1,303.8

Commitments and contingencies (Note 13)
Stockholders’ equity
Common stock, $0.000025 par value; 2,500,000,000 and 2,500,000,000 Class A shares
authorized, 270,855,356 and 237,518,574 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2021
and June 30, 2020, respectively; 2,500,000,000 and 2,500,000,000 Class B shares authorized,
29,291,774 and 50,538,538 shares issued and outstanding as of June 30, 2021 and June 30,
2020, respectively.
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ equity

—

—

2,618.9

2,361.8

18.2

10.1

(883.0)

(693.9)

1,754.1

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.
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4,485.6

1,678.0
$

2,981.8

PELOTON INTERACTIVE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(in millions, except share and per share amounts)

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021

2020

2019

Revenue:
Connected Fitness Products

$

Subscription
Total revenue

3,149.7

$

1,462.2

$

733.9

872.2

363.7

181.1

4,021.8

1,825.9

915.0

2,239.3

833.5

427.8

330.5

155.7

103.7

Cost of revenue:
Connected Fitness Products
Subscription
Total cost of revenue

2,569.8

989.1

531.4

1,452.0

836.7

383.6

Sales and marketing

729.7

477.0

324.0

General and administrative

662.4

351.6

207.0

Gross profit
Operating expenses:

Research and development
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations

247.8

89.0

54.8

1,639.8

917.6

585.8

(187.8)

(80.8)

(202.3)

(14.8)

(2.0)

(1.7)

Other (expense) income, net:
Interest expense
Interest income
Foreign exchange losses
Other income, net
Total other (expense) income, net
Loss before provision for income taxes
Income tax (benefit) expense

7.9

18.2

8.7

(3.5)

(3.8)

(0.3)

0.1

0.1

—

(10.4)

12.4

(198.2)

(68.4)

(9.2)

6.7
(195.6)

3.3

0.1

Net loss

$

(189.0) $

(71.6) $

(195.6)

Net loss attributable to Class A and Class B common stockholders

$

(189.0) $

(71.6) $

(245.7)

Net loss per share attributable to common stockholders, basic and
diluted

$

(0.64) $

(0.32) $

(10.72)

Weighted-average Class A and Class B common shares outstanding,
basic and diluted

293,892,643

220,952,237

22,911,764

Other comprehensive income:
Net unrealized (losses) gains on marketable securities

$

Change in foreign currency translation adjustment
Total other comprehensive income
Comprehensive loss

$

(3.5) $

$

0.2

11.5

6.0

—

8.1

9.9

0.2

(180.9) $

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.
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3.9

(61.7) $

(195.4)

PELOTON INTERACTIVE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in millions)

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021

2020

2019

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net loss

$

(189.0) $

(71.6) $

(195.6)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by
operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense
Stock-based compensation expense
Non-cash operating lease expense
Amortization of premium from marketable securities
Amortization of debt discount and issuance costs

63.8

40.2

21.7

194.0

88.8

89.5

61.5

47.7

—

9.6

1.4

(2.2)

13.0

0.6

0.3

Impairment of long-lived assets

4.5

1.2

0.5

Net foreign currency adjustments

3.4

3.3

—

15.1

11.3

(9.1)

(587.2)

(96.8)

(111.3)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

(32.3)

(33.1)

(30.3)

Other assets

(19.1)

(22.1)

(5.5)

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

439.8

133.4

117.3

Customer deposits and deferred revenue

(212.7)

272.3

2.2

Operating lease liabilities, net

(8.0)

Other liabilities

3.8

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities

(239.7)

(23.6)

—

23.5

13.8

376.4

(108.6)

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchases of marketable securities

(449.1)

Maturities of marketable securities

665.9

Sales of marketable securities

6.7

(1,199.6)
435.4
224.3

(249.8)
36.0
—

Purchases of property and equipment

(241.0)

(153.0)

(83.0)

Business combinations, net of cash acquired

(478.2)

(45.0)

(0.1)

Asset acquisitions, net of cash acquired

(78.1)

—

—

Internal-use software costs and other

(11.2)

(3.5)

(0.6)

(585.1)

(741.3)

(297.5)

Net cash used in investing activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock upon initial public
offering, net of offering costs

—

1,195.7

—

Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes, net of issuance costs

977.2

—

—

Purchase of capped calls

(81.3)

—

—

Repurchase of common and convertible preferred stock, including
issuance costs

—

—

(130.3)

Proceeds from issuance of redeemable convertible preferred stock,
net of issuance costs

—

—

539.1

Proceeds from employee stock purchase plan withholdings

18.0

7.0

—

Proceeds from exercise of stock options

57.6

37.4

9.3

—

—

—

—

(0.9)

(0.8)

—

—

1,240.2

417.2

Taxes withheld and paid on employee stock awards

(53.9)

Debt issuance costs
Principal repayments of finance leases
Net cash provided by financing activities

916.8
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PELOTON INTERACTIVE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in millions)

Effect of exchange rate changes

6.7

Net change in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash — Beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash — End of period

(1.2)

0.2

98.7

874.0

11.3

1,037.0

163.0

151.6

$

1,135.7

$

1,037.0

$

163.0

Cash paid for interest

$

1.3

$

1.9

$

1.1

Cash paid for income taxes

$

3.5

$

4.1

$

—

$

—

$

(941.1) $

—

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:

Supplemental Disclosures of Non-Cash Investing and Financing
Information:
Conversion of convertible preferred stock to common stock
Building - build-to-suit asset

$

—

$

—

$

147.1

Property and equipment accrued but unpaid

$

46.1

$

18.2

$

12.6

Stock-based compensation capitalized for software development
costs

$

6.1

$

2.2

$

0.8

See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.
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—
—

Other comprehensive income

Net loss

—
—
—

Other comprehensive income

Net loss

Cumulative effect adjustment in connection with
adoption of ASU 2016-02

—

—

Other comprehensive income

Balance - June 30, 2021

$

—
—

Purchases of capped calls related to convertible senior
notes

—

—

Equity component of convertible senior notes, net of
issuance costs

Net loss

—

—

Stock-based compensation expense

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

$

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(941.1)

—

941.1

—

—

—

—

(4.3)

539.1

406.3

Issuance of common stock under employee stock
purchase plan

$

$

$

$

Amount

Issuance of common stock pursuant to stock-based
awards, net of withholding taxes

—

—

Issuance of common stock under employee stock
purchase plan

Balance - June 30, 2020

—

(210.6)

—

Activity related to stock-based compensation

Conversion of redeemable convertible preferred stock
to common stock

Initial public offering, net of issuance costs of $6.3
million

210.6

—

Balance - June 30, 2019

—

Stock-based compensation expense

(3.8)

Repurchase of common and preferred stock

Exercise of stock options

38.1

176.3

Issuance of Series F redeemable convertible preferred
stock, net

Balance – June 30, 2018

Shares

Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock

74

300.1

—

—

—

—

—

0.5

11.6

288.1

—

—

—

0.2

8.5

210.6

43.4

25.3

—

—

—

4.2

(4.8)

—

25.9

Shares

$

$

$

$

$

$

Amount

Class A and Class B
Common Stock

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

$

$

$

$

$

$

2,618.9

—

—

(81.3)

160.1

161.2

13.1

4.0

2,361.8

—

—

—

3.7

130.7

941.1

1,195.7

90.7

—

—

62.1

8.2

—

—

20.5

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

$

$

$

$

$

$

18.2

—

8.1

—

—

—

—

—

10.1

—

—

9.9

—

—

—

—

0.2

—

0.2

—

—

—

—

—

Other
Comprehensive
Income

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

$

(883.0) $

(189.0)

—

—

—

—

—

—

(693.9) $

7.2

(71.6)

—

—

—

—

—

(629.5) $

(195.6)

—

—

—

(97.8)

—

1,754.1

(189.0)

8.1

(81.3)

160.1

161.2

13.1

4.0

1,678.0

7.2

(71.6)

9.9

3.7

130.7

941.1

1,195.7

(538.6)

(195.6)

0.2

62.1

8.2

(97.8)

—

(315.6)

Total
Stockholders’
(Deficit)
Equity

(336.1) $

Accumulated
Deficit

PELOTON INTERACTIVE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY
(in millions)
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See accompanying notes to these consolidated financial statements.

PELOTON INTERACTIVE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN REDEEMABLE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY
(in millions)

PELOTON INTERACTIVE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(in millions, except share and per share amounts)

1. Description of Business and Basis of Presentation
Description and Organization
Peloton Interactive, Inc. ("Peloton" or the “Company”) is the largest interactive fitness platform in the world with a loyal community of Members,
which we define as any individual who has a Peloton account through a paid Connected Fitness Subscription or a paid Peloton Digital
Subscription. The Company pioneered connected, technology-enabled fitness with the creation of its interactive fitness equipment ("Connected
Fitness Products") and the streaming of immersive, instructor-led boutique classes to its Members anytime, anywhere. The Company makes
fitness entertaining, approachable, effective, and convenient while fostering social connections that encourage its Members to be the best
versions of themselves.
Basis of Presentation and Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States ("GAAP") and applicable rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). The consolidated financial
statements include the accounts of Peloton Interactive, Inc. and its subsidiaries in which the Company has a controlling financial interest. All
significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.
Certain monetary amounts, percentages, and other figures included elsewhere in these financial statements have been subject to rounding
adjustments. Accordingly, figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be the arithmetic aggregation of the figures that precede them, and
figures expressed as percentages in the text may not total 100% or, as applicable, when aggregated may not be the arithmetic aggregation of the
percentages that precede them.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all cash and short-term investments purchased with maturities of three months or less when acquired to be cash
equivalents. As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company’s cash and cash equivalents were primarily held in money market and operating
accounts. At various times during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the balances of cash at financial institutions exceeded the
federally insured limit. The Company has not experienced any losses in such accounts and believes its cash and cash equivalents are not
subject to any significant credit risk.
Restricted Cash
Restricted cash primarily consists of cash held in reserve accounts related to operating lease obligations.
Accounts Receivable, Net of Allowances
The Company's accounts receivable primarily represent amounts due from third-party sales payment processors. The allowance is based upon a
number of factors, including the length of time accounts receivable are past due, the Company's previous loss history, the specific customer's
ability to pay its obligation and any other forward-looking data regarding customers' ability to pay which may be available.
Revenue Recognition
Revenue is recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to the Company’s customers, in an amount that reflects the
consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. Refer to Note 3, Revenue for additional
information.
Inventories
Inventories consist of finished goods, work-in-process and raw materials. Finished goods are manufactured by us and purchased from contract
manufacturers. Connected Fitness Product, accessories, apparel, and raw material inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable
value on a weighted-average cost basis. The Company assesses the valuation of inventory and periodically adjusts the value for estimated
excess and obsolete inventory based upon estimates of future demand and market conditions, as well as damaged or otherwise impaired
goods. Spare parts are recorded as inventory and recognized in cost of goods sold as consumed.
Marketable Securities
The Company classifies its marketable debt securities as available-for-sale and, accordingly, records them at fair value. Marketable securities
with original maturities of greater than three months and remaining maturities of less than one year are classified as current investments.
Unrealized holding gains and losses are excluded from earnings and are reported net of tax in other comprehensive income until realized.
Dividend and interest income is recognized when earned. Realized gains and losses are included in earnings and are derived using the specific
identification method for determining the cost of securities sold.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment purchased by the Company are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation of property and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. For leasehold improvements, the useful life is the lesser
of the applicable lease term or the expected asset life. Charges for repairs and maintenance that do not improve or extend the lives of the
respective assets are expensed as incurred. The Company capitalizes the cost of pre-production tooling which it owns during a supply
arrangement. Pre-production tooling, including the related engineering costs the Company will not own or will not be used in producing products
under long-term supply arrangements are expensed as incurred.
Internal-Use Software
The Company capitalizes certain qualified costs incurred in connection with the development of internal-use software. The Company evaluates
the costs incurred during the application development stage of internal use software and website development to determine whether the costs
meet the criteria for capitalization. Costs related to preliminary project activities and post implementation activities including maintenance are
expensed as incurred. Capitalized costs related to internal-use software are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of
the software, not to exceed three years. Capitalized costs less accumulated amortization are included within property and equipment, net on the
consolidated balance sheets.
Business Combination
To determine whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions of assets or business combinations, the Company makes certain
judgments, which include assessment of the inputs, processes, and outputs associated with the acquired set of activities. If the Company
determines that substantially all of the fair value of gross assets included in a transaction is concentrated in a single asset (or a group of
similar assets), the assets would not represent a business. To be considered a business, the assets in a transaction need to include an input
and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
The Company allocates the fair value of the purchase consideration to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated
fair values at the acquisition date. The fair values of intangible assets are determined utilizing information available near the acquisition date
based on expectations and assumptions that are deemed reasonable by management. Given the considerable judgment involved in
determining fair values, the Company typically obtains assistance from third-party valuation specialists for significant items. Any excess of the
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purchase price (consideration transferred) over the estimated fair values of net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. Transaction costs are
expensed as incurred. Amounts recorded in a business combination may change during the measurement period, which is a period not to
exceed one year from the date of acquisition, as additional information about conditions that existed at the acquisition date becomes
available.
Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount recognized for non-controlling interest, if any,
over the fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination. The Company has no intangible assets with
indefinite useful lives.
Intangible assets other than goodwill are comprised of acquired developed technology, brand name, customer relationships, distributor
relationships, and other definite-lived intangible assets. At initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a business combination or asset
acquisition are recognized at their fair value as of the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at acquisition
date fair value less accumulated amortization and impairment losses, if any, and are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
life of the asset.
The Company reviews goodwill for impairment annually on April 1 of each fiscal year or whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that an impairment may exist. In conducting its annual impairment test, the Company first reviews qualitative factors to determine whether it is
more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If factors indicate that the fair value of the reporting
unit is less than its carrying amount, the Company performs a quantitative assessment and the fair value of the reporting unit is determined by
analyzing the expected present value of future cash flows. If the carrying value of the reporting unit continues to exceed its fair value, the fair
value of the reporting unit’s goodwill is calculated and an impairment loss equal to the excess is recorded.
The Company assesses the impairment of intangible assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may
not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future
undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated undiscounted net
future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.
Convertible Senior Notes
In February 2021, the Company issued in a private offering $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of 0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 (the
"Notes"), including the initial purchasers’ exercise in full of their option to purchase additional notes. See Note 12 for additional details.
The Notes are accounted for in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”)
Subtopic 470-20, Debt with Conversion and Other Options. Pursuant to ASC Subtopic 470-20, issuers of certain convertible debt instruments, such
as the Notes, that have a net settlement feature and may be settled wholly or partially in cash upon conversion are required to separately
account for the liability (debt) and equity (conversion option) components of the instrument.
The carrying amount of the liability component of the instrument is computed by estimating the fair value of a similar liability without the
conversion option using a market-based approach. The amount of the equity component is then calculated by deducting the fair value of the
liability component from the initial proceeds of the instrument. The difference between the principal amount and the liability component
represents a debt discount that is amortized to interest expense over the respective term of the Notes using the effective interest rate method.
The equity component is not remeasured as long as it continues to meet the conditions for equity classification. In accounting for the issuance
costs related to the Notes, the allocation of issuance costs incurred between the liability and equity components was based on their relative
values.
Simultaneously, the Company entered into privately negotiated capped call transactions with certain counterparties to minimize the impact of
potential dilution upon conversion. See Note 12 for additional details.
Derivative Instruments
The Company measures derivative financial instruments at fair value and recognizes them as either assets or liabilities on our consolidated
balance sheets. The Company evaluates its convertible instruments and other contracts to determine if those contracts or embedded
components of those contracts qualify as derivatives requiring separate recognition in the Company's financial statements in accordance with
the criteria under ASC 815-15. As of June 30, 2021, the Company did not have any material derivative contracts or contracts with material
embedded derivative features requiring bifurcation.
Cost of Revenue
Connected Fitness Products
Connected Fitness Products cost of revenue consists of product costs, including manufacturing costs, duties and other applicable importing
costs, shipping and handling costs, packaging, warranty replacement costs, fulfillment costs, warehousing costs, depreciation of property and
equipment, and certain allocated costs related to management, facilities, and personnel-related expenses associated with supply chain logistics.
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Subscription
Subscription cost of revenue includes costs associated with content creation and cost to stream content to Members across the Company’s
platform. These costs consist of both fixed costs, including studio rent and overhead costs and instructor and production personnel costs,
depreciation of property and equipment, as well as variable costs, including music royalty fees, content costs for past use, third-party platform
streaming costs, and payment processing fees for monthly subscription billings.
Music Royalty Fees
The Company recognizes music royalty fees on all music it streams to Members as these fees are incurred in accordance with the terms of the
relevant license agreement with the music rights holder. The incurrence of the royalties is primarily driven by content usage by the Company’s
Members through the use of a paid subscription or as part of a free-trial offer and it is classified as subscription cost of revenue or sales and
marketing expense, respectively, within the Company’s statement of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company’s license agreements
with music rights holders may include provisions for advance royalty payments as well as minimum guarantees. When a minimum guarantee is
paid in advance, the guarantee is recorded as a cost to fulfill or prepaid asset and amortized over the shorter of the period consumed or the term
of the agreement.
As the Company executes music license agreements with various music rights holders for go-forward usage, the Company may also
simultaneously enter into a settlement agreement whereby the Company is released from all potential licensor claims regarding the Company’s
alleged past use of copyrighted material in exchange for a negotiated payment. These are referred to as “content costs for past use” and are
recorded within subscription cost of revenue. The Company has entered into agreements with music rights holders who represent all the music
catalogs that the Company needs to operate its service, however, given the uncertain and opaque nature of music rights ownership, the
Company’s archived library may continue to include music for which certain rights or fractional interests have not been accurately determined or
fully licensed. Prior to the execution of a music license agreement, the Company estimates and records a charge based upon license
agreements previously entered into and the respective music rights holdings.
Income Taxes
The Company utilizes the asset and liability method for computing its income tax provision. Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the
expected future consequences of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities as well as
operating loss, capital loss, and tax credit carryforwards, using enacted tax rates. Management makes estimates, assumptions, and judgments
to determine the Company’s provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and liabilities, and any valuation allowance recorded against
deferred tax assets. The Company assesses the likelihood that its deferred tax assets will be recovered from future taxable income and, to the
extent the Company believes recovery is not likely, establishes a valuation allowance.
The Company recognizes the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not the tax position will be sustained on
examination by the taxing authorities based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized from such positions are then
measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood of being realized upon settlement. Interest and penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits, which to date have not been material, are recognized within income tax expense.
Advertising Costs
Advertising and other promotional costs to market the Company's products are expensed as incurred. Advertising expenses were $417.6 million,
$302.8 million and $218.8 million for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, and are included within sales and
marketing expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.
Research and Development Costs
Research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel- and facilities-related expenses, consulting and contractor expenses, tooling
and prototype materials software platform expenses, and depreciation of property and equipment. Substantially all of the Company’s research
and development expenses are related to developing new products and services and improving existing products and services. Research and
development expenses are expensed as incurred.
Stock-Based Compensation
In August 2019, the Company's Board of Directors ("Board of Directors") adopted the 2019 Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP"), which was
subsequently approved by the Company’s stockholders in September 2019. The Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense
related to shares issued pursuant to its ESPP on a straight-line basis over the offering period, which is twenty-four months. The ESPP allows
employees to purchase shares of the Company's Class A common stock at a 15 percent discount. The ESPP also includes a look-back provision
for the purchase price if the stock price on the purchase date is less than the stock price on the offering date.
In August 2019, the Board of Directors adopted the 2019 Equity Incentive Plan ("the 2019 Plan"), which was subsequently approved by the
Company’s stockholders in September 2019. Stock-based awards are measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the award and are
recognized as expense, net of actual forfeitures, on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period of
the respective award. For performance-based awards issued, the value of the instrument is measured at the grant date as the fair value of the
award and expensed over the vesting term under an accelerated attribution method when the performance targets are considered probable of
being achieved. The Company estimates the fair value of stock options using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The determination of the
grant date fair value of stock awards issued is affected by a number of variables, including the fair value of the Company’s common stock, the
expected common stock price volatility over the expected life of the awards, the expected term of the stock option, risk-free interest rates, and
the expected dividend yield of the Company’s common stock. Prior to the fourth quarter of fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, the Company derived
its volatility from the average historical stock volatilities of several peer public companies over a period equivalent to the expected term of the
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awards. Beginning in the fourth quarter of fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, the expected volatility is based on a blended average of average
historical stock volatilities of several peer companies over the expected term of the stock options, historical volatility of the Company's stock
price, and implied stock price volatility derived from the price of exchange traded options on the Company's stock. The Company estimates the
expected term based on the simplified method for employee stock options considered to be “plain vanilla” options, as the Company’s historical
share option exercise experience does not provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the expected term. The risk-free interest rate is
based on the United States Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. Expected dividend yield is 0.0% as the Company has not paid and
does not currently anticipate paying dividends on its common stock.
Generally, the 2019 Plan permitted the early exercise of stock options granted prior to the IPO. The unvested portion of shares exercised is
recorded within Other current liabilities on the Company’s balance sheet and reclassified to equity as vesting occurs.
Defined Contribution Plan
The Company maintains a defined contribution retirement plan offered to all of its U.S. employees, as well as plans at certain foreign and
domestic subsidiaries. For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019, the Company's matching contributions totaled $19.6 million,
$8.4 million, and $4.3 million, respectively, and were expensed as contributed.
Commitments and Contingencies
Liabilities for loss contingencies arising from claims, assessments, litigation, fines and penalties, and other sources are recorded when it is
probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of the assessment can be reasonably estimated. If a loss is reasonably possible and
the loss or range of loss can be reasonably estimated, the Company discloses the possible loss or states that such an estimate cannot be made.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments
Fair value is the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most
advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. Subsequent
changes in fair value of these financial assets and liabilities are recognized in earnings or other comprehensive income when they occur. When
determining the fair value measurements for assets and liabilities which are required to be recorded at fair value, the Company considers the
principal or most advantageous market in which the Company would transact and the market-based risk measurement or assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing the assets or liabilities, such as inherent risk, transfer restrictions, and credit risk.
The Company applies the following fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value into three levels and bases the
categorization within the hierarchy upon the lowest level of input that is available and significant to the fair value measurement:
•
•

•

Level 1 inputs are based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2 inputs are based on observable inputs other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted
prices in markets with insufficient volume or infrequent transactions (less active markets), or model-derived valuations in which all
significant inputs are observable or can be derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full
term of the assets or liabilities.
Level 3 inputs are based on unobservable inputs to the valuation methodology that are significant to the measurement of fair value of
assets or liabilities, and typically reflect management’s estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the
asset or liability.

The Company’s material financial instruments consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, accounts receivable,
accounts payable, accrued expenses, and the convertible senior notes. The carrying values of the Company’s accounts receivable, accounts
payable and accrued expenses approximated their fair values at June 30, 2021 and 2020, due to the short period of time to maturity or
repayment.
Earnings (Loss) Per Share
The Company computes earnings (loss) per share using the two-class method required for participating securities. The two-class method
requires income available to common stockholders for the period to be allocated between common stock and participating securities based
upon their respective rights to receive dividends as if all income for the period had been distributed. The Company’s redeemable convertible
preferred stock, restricted stock awards, and common stock issued upon early exercise of stock options are participating securities. The
Company considers any shares issued upon early exercise of stock options, subject to repurchase, to be participating securities because holders
of such shares have non-forfeitable dividend rights in the event a cash dividend is declared on common stock. These participating securities do
not contractually require the holders of such shares to participate in the Company’s losses. As such, net losses for the periods presented were
not allocated to the Company’s participating securities.
Basic earnings (loss) per share is computed using the weighted-average number of outstanding shares of common stock during the period.
Diluted earnings (loss) per share is computed using the weighted-average number of outstanding shares of common stock and, when dilutive,
potential shares of common stock outstanding during the period. Potential shares of common stock consist of incremental shares issuable
upon the assumed exercise of stock options, ESPP shares to be issued, and vesting of restricted stock awards. During the fiscal year ended June
30, 2019, the excess of the repurchase price of preferred stock over its carrying value (see Note 18) has been recorded as an increase to net loss
to determine net loss attributable to common stockholders.
Use of Estimates
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The preparation of these financial statements requires the Company to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, revenue, expenses, and related disclosures. On an ongoing basis, the Company evaluates its estimates, including, among
others, those related to revenue related reserves, the realizability of inventory, content costs for past use reserve, fair value measurements, the
incremental borrowing rate associated with lease liabilities, useful lives of long lived assets, including property and equipment and finite lived
intangible assets, product warranty, goodwill, accounting for income taxes, stock-based compensation expense, transaction price estimates, the
fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in business combinations and asset acquisitions, valuation of the debt component of
convertible senior notes, contingent consideration, and commitments and contingencies. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
Accounting Pronouncements Recently Adopted
ASU 2016-13
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments. This standard changes the impairment model for most financial assets. The new model uses a forward-looking expected loss
method, which may result in earlier recognition of allowances for losses, and require expected credit losses to be reflected as allowances rather
than reductions in the amortized cost of available-for-sale debt securities. The Company adopted this standard and related amendments on July
1, 2020. The adoption of this standard did not materially impact the Company's consolidated financial statements.
ASU 2019-12
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes, which amends ASC
Topic 740, Income Taxes. This ASU simplifies the accounting for income taxes by modifying the treatment of intraperiod tax allocation in certain
circumstances, eliminating an exception to recognizing deferred tax liabilities for outside basis differences for foreign equity method
investments and foreign subsidiaries when ownership or control changes, and modifying interim period tax calculations when a loss is
forecasted. In addition, this ASU also requires that enacted changes in tax laws or rates be included in the annual effective rate determination in
the period that includes the enactment date and clarifies the tax accounting of a step up in tax basis of goodwill. The Company adopted this
standard on July 1, 2020. The adoption of this standard did not materially impact the Company's consolidated financial statements.
Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted
ASU 2020-01
In January 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-01, Investments-Equity Securities (Topic 321), Investments-Equity Method and Joint Ventures (Topic
323), and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Clarifying the Interactions between Topic 321, Topic 323, and Topic 815. This guidance clarifies the
interaction of the accounting for equity investments under Topic 321 and investments accounted for under the equity method of accounting in
Topic 323 and the accounting for certain forward contracts and purchased options accounted for under Topic 815. This standard is effective for
public companies for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2020. The Company has
completed its assessment and adopted this standard on July 1, 2021. The standard did not materially impact the Company's consolidated
financial statements.
ASU 2020-04 and ASU 2021-01
In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on
Financial Reporting. This guidance provides temporary optional expedients and exceptions to accounting guidance on contract modifications
and hedge accounting to ease entities' financial reporting burdens as the market transitions from the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) and
other interbank offered rates to alternative reference rates. In January 2021, the FASB issued ASU No. 2021-01, Reference Rate Reform (Topic
848), which refines the scope of Topic ASC 848 and clarifies some of its guidance. The amendments in ASU 2021-01 are elective and apply to all
entities that have derivative instruments that use an interest rate for margining, discounting, or contract price alignment that is modified as a
result of reference rate reform. The guidance in both updates was effective upon issuance and generally can be applied through December 31,
2022. The Company plans to adopt this standard when LIBOR is discontinued. The Company is currently evaluating the potential impact of
adopting this new accounting guidance, but does not expect the adoption of the standard to have a material impact on its consolidated financial
statements.
ASU 2020-06
In August 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-06, Debt - Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and HedgingContracts in Entity's Own Equity (Subtopic 815-40): Accounting for Convertible Instruments and Contracts in an Entity's Own Equity. The guidance
will simplify the accounting for convertible instruments by reducing the number of accounting models for convertible debt instruments and
convertible preferred stock, thereby limiting the accounting results in fewer embedded conversion features being separately recognized from the
host contract as compared with current GAAP. Convertible instruments that continue to be subject to separation models are (1) those with
embedded conversion features that are not clearly and closely related to the host contract, that meet the definition of a derivative, and that do
not qualify for a scope exception from derivative accounting and (2) convertible debt instruments issued with substantial premiums for which
the premiums are recorded as paid-in capital. ASU 2020-06 also amends the guidance for the derivatives scope exception for contracts in an
entity’s own equity to reduce form-over-substance-based accounting conclusions. In addition, the guidance eliminates the treasury stock method
to calculate diluted earnings per share for convertible instruments and requires the use of the if-converted method. ASU 2020-06 will be effective
for public companies for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is
permitted, but no earlier than fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Upon adoption,
the Company expects a decrease to Additional paid-in capital to remove the equity component separately recorded for the conversion features
associated with the Convertible Senior Notes, an increase in the carrying value of its Convertible Senior Notes to reflect the full principal amount
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of the Notes outstanding net of issuance costs, and an increase to Accumulated deficit. After adoption, the Company expects a reduction in its
reported Interest expense.
3. Revenue
The Company’s primary source of revenue is from sales of its Connected Fitness Products and associated recurring Subscription revenues.
The Company determines revenue recognition through the following steps:
•

Identification of the contract, or contracts, with a customer;

•

Identification of the performance obligations in the contract;

•

Determination of the transaction price;

•

Allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and

•

Recognition of revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation.

Revenue is recognized when control of the promised goods or services is transferred to the Company’s customers, in an amount that reflects the
consideration the Company expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. The Company's revenue is reported net of sales
returns, discounts, incentives, and rebates to commercial distributors as a reduction of the transaction price. Certain contracts include
consideration payable that is accounted for as a payment for distinct goods or services. The Company estimates its liability for product returns
and concessions based on historical trends by product category, impact of seasonality, and an evaluation of current economic and market
conditions and records the expected customer refund liability as a reduction to revenue, and the expected inventory right of recovery as a
reduction of cost of revenue. If actual return costs differ from previous estimates, the amount of the liability and corresponding revenue are
adjusted in the period in which such costs occur.
Some of the Company’s contracts with customers contain multiple performance obligations. For customer contracts that include multiple
performance obligations, the Company accounts for individual performance obligations if they are distinct. The transaction price is then
allocated to each performance obligation based on its standalone selling price. The Company generally determines the standalone selling price
based on the prices charged to customers.
The Company applies the practical expedient as per ASC 606-10-50-14 and does not disclose information related to remaining performance
obligations due to their original expected terms being one year or less.
The Company expenses sales commissions on its Connected Fitness Products when incurred because the amortization period would have been
less than one year. These costs are recorded in Sales and marketing in the Company's consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive loss.
Connected Fitness Products
Connected Fitness Products include the Company’s portfolio of Connected Fitness Products and related accessories, Precor branded fitness
products, delivery and installation services, Peloton branded apparel, extended warranty agreements, and commercial service contracts. The
Company recognizes Connected Fitness Product revenue net of sales returns and discounts when the product has been delivered to the
customer, except for extended warranty revenue which is recognized over the warranty period and service revenue which is recognized over the
term. The Company allows customers to return products within thirty days of purchase, as stated in its return policy.
The Company records fees paid to third-party financing partners in connection with its consumer financing program as a reduction of revenue,
as it considers such costs to be a customer sales incentive. The Company records payment processing fees for its credit card sales for
Connected Fitness Products within Sales and marketing in the Company's consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
Subscription
The Company’s subscriptions provide unlimited access to content in its library of live and on-demand fitness classes. The Company’s
subscriptions are offered on a month-to-month basis.
Amounts paid for subscription fees are included within customer deposits and deferred revenue on the Company's consolidated balance sheets
and recognized ratably over the subscription term. The Company records payment processing fees for its monthly subscription charges within
cost of subscription revenue in the Company's consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
Sales tax collected from customers and remitted to governmental authorities is not included in revenue and is reflected as a liability on the
Company's consolidated balance sheets.
Standard Product Warranty
The Company offers a standard product warranty that its Connected Fitness Products will operate under normal, non-commercial use for a
period of one year covering the touchscreen and most original Bike, Bike+, Tread, and Tread+ components from the date of original delivery. The
Company has the obligation, at its option, to either repair or replace the defective product. At the time revenue is recognized, an estimate of
future warranty costs are recorded as a component of cost of revenue. Factors that affect the warranty obligation include historical as well as
current product failure rates, service delivery costs incurred in correcting product failures, and warranty policies and business practices. The
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Company’s products are manufactured both in-house and by contract manufacturers, and in certain cases, the Company may have recourse to
such contract manufacturers.
Activity related to the Company's accrual for our estimated future product warranty obligation was as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021

2020
(in millions)

Balance at beginning of period

$

34.2

Provision for warranty accrual
Warranty claims
Balance at end of period

$

$

10.5

71.1

38.8

(53.9)

(15.0)

51.5

$

34.2

The Company also offers the option for customers in some markets to purchase an extended warranty and service contract that extends or
enhances the technical support, parts, and labor coverage offered as part of the base warranty included with the Connected Fitness Product for
an additional period of 12 to 27 months.
Revenue related to the fees paid to the third-party provider are recognized on a gross basis as the Company has a continuing obligation to
perform over the service period. Extended warranty revenue is recognized ratably over the extended warranty coverage period and is included in
Connected Fitness Product revenue in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
Disaggregation of Revenue
The Company's revenue from contracts with customers disaggregated by major product lines, excluding sales-based taxes, are included in Note
19 under the heading "Segment Information".
The Company's revenue disaggregated by geographic region, were as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021

2020

2019

(in millions)
North America

$

International

3,738.9

$

283.0

Total revenue

$

4,021.8

1,743.6

$

82.3
$

1,825.9

897.9
17.1

$

915.0

The Company's revenue attributable to the United States represented 89%, 93%, and 97% of total revenue for the fiscal years ended June 30,
2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively.
Customer Deposits and Deferred Revenue
Deferred revenue is recorded for nonrefundable cash payments received for the Company’s performance obligation to transfer, or stand ready to
transfer, goods or services in the future. Customer deposits represent payments received in advance before the Company transfers a good or
service to the customer and are refundable.
As of June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, customer deposits of $92.2 million and $341.5 million, respectively, and deferred revenue of $72.6
million and $22.1 million, respectively, were included in customer deposits and deferred revenue on the Company's consolidated balance sheets.
In the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized revenue of $22.1 million and $9.5 million, respectively, that was
included in the deferred revenue balance as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
4. Investments in Marketable Securities
The following table summarizes the Company's investments in marketable securities:
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June 30, 2021
Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Amortized Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair Value

(in millions)
Corporate bonds

$

367.7

$

0.2

$

—

$

367.9

U.S. treasury securities

64.9

0.2

—

65.1

Commercial paper

49.5

—

—

49.5

Supranational securities

31.1

—

—

31.1

Certificate of deposits

7.8
$

521.1

—
$

0.4

—
$

—

Less: Restricted marketable securities (1)
Total marketable securities

7.8
$

521.5

$

49.5

$

472.0

_________________________
(1) The Company is required to pledge or otherwise restrict a portion of cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities as collateral for standby letters of credit. The Company
classifies marketable securities with use restrictions of less than twelve months as "Prepaid expenses and other current assets" and of twelve months or longer as non-current "Other
assets" on its consolidated balance sheets.

June 30, 2020
Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Amortized Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair Value

(in millions)
Corporate bonds

$

U.S. treasury securities

397.7

$

300.5

2.1

$

(0.2) $

399.6

1.9

—

302.4

Commercial paper

17.4

—

—

17.4

Certificate of deposits

38.6

0.1

—

38.7

$
Less: Restricted marketable securities

(1)

Total marketable securities

754.2

$

4.1

$

(0.2) $

758.1

$

38.5

$

719.5

_________________________
(1) The Company is required to pledge or otherwise restrict a portion of cash, cash equivalents, and marketable securities as collateral for standby letters of credit. The Company
classifies marketable securities with use restrictions of less than twelve months as "Prepaid expenses and other current assets" and of twelve months or longer as non-current "Other
assets" on its consolidated balance sheets.

84

5. Fair Value Measurements
The following table summarizes the Company's assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis, by level, within the fair
value hierarchy:
As of June 30, 2021
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

(in millions)
Assets
Marketable securities

$

521.5

$

525.1

$

—

$

Contingent consideration

$

—

$

—

Deferred compensation accrual rabbi trust

$

3.6

$

—

$

3.6

$

—

Deferred compensation plan held in a rabbi trust
Total

$

—

3.6

$

—

$

521.5

—

$

525.1

$

2.5

$

2.5

$

—

$

3.6

$

4.7

—

—

3.6

Liabilities
Other current liabilities:

Other non-current liabilities:
Contingent consideration
Total

—

—

2.3

2.3
$

8.3

As of June 30, 2020
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

(in millions)
Assets
Marketable securities

$

758.1

$

758.1

$

—

$

$

—

$

—

$

Cost-method investments
Total

$

—

—

$

—

—

$

758.1

0.7

$

758.8

2.5

$

2.5

0.7

0.7

Liabilities
Other current liabilities:
Contingent consideration
Other non-current liabilities:
Contingent consideration
Total

—
$

—

—
$

—

4.6
$

7.1

4.6
$

7.1

All investments classified as available-for-sale are recorded at fair value within marketable securities in the consolidated balance sheets. The
Company’s investments classified as Level 1 are based on quoted prices that are available in active markets.
The contingent consideration represents the estimated fair value of cash consideration payable in connection with an acquisition that is
contingent upon the achievement of certain performance milestones. The Company estimated the fair value using expected future cash flows
over the period in which the obligation is expected to be settled, and applied a discount rate that appropriately captures a market participant's
view of risk associated with the obligation, which are considered to be Level 3 inputs. The fair value of the contingent consideration arrangement
is sensitive to change in the expected achievement of the applicable milestones and changes in discount rate. The Company remeasures the fair
value of the contingent consideration arrangement each reporting period, including the accretion of the discount, if applicable, and changes are
recognized in general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
The Company's rabbi trust was acquired as part of the Precor acquisition, and consists primarily of index funds from which supplemental
executive retirement plan benefits and deferred compensation obligations can be paid. The deferred compensation plan held in a rabbi trust is
recorded at fair value within Prepaid expenses and other current assets. The deferred compensation plan accrual rabbi trust is recorded at fair
value within Other current liabilities.

85

Fair Value Measurements of Other Financial Instruments
The following table presents the estimated fair values of the Company's financial instruments that are not recorded at fair value on the
consolidated balance sheets:
As of June 30, 2021
Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

(in millions)
Convertible Senior Notes

$

—

$

972.8

$

—

$

972.8

The fair value of the Notes is determined based on the closing price on the last trading day of the reporting period.
6. Inventory
Inventories were as follows:
June 30,
2021

2020
(in millions)

Raw materials

$

Work-in-process

109.8

$

17.8

7.9

4.6

Finished products

879.5

232.5

Total inventories

997.2

254.9

(1)

Less: Reserves

(60.1)

Total inventories, net

$

937.1

(10.5)
$

244.5

_________________________
(1) Includes $249.9 million and $71.6 million of inventory in transit, products owned by the Company that have not yet been received at a Company distribution center, as of June 30,
2021 and June 30, 2020, respectively

7. Acquisitions
Business Combinations
Aiqudo, Inc.
On February 9, 2021, the Company acquired Aiqudo, Inc. and its subsidiaries (collectively, "Aiqudo") for a purchase price of approximately $57.7
million, net of cash acquired, which was paid in cash. Upon completion of the transaction, Aiqudo became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company. The Company acquired Aiqudo to bolster product research and development capabilities.
The operating results of Aiqudo have been included in the Company's consolidated statements of operations since the acquisition date. Actual
and pro forma revenue and results of operations for the acquisition have not been presented because they do not have a material impact to the
consolidated revenue and results of operations, either individually or in the aggregate.
The Company recognized $1.0 million of acquisition-related costs that were expensed as incurred during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.
These costs are included in general and administrative expense in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss.
The acquisition was accounted for under the acquisition method in accordance with ASC 805. The following table summarizes the initial
estimate of the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the closing date:
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As of February 9, 2021
(in millions)
Developed technology

$

Goodwill

44.2
25.0

Other assets

3.3

Total assets
Current liabilities

$

72.5

$

(3.3)

Deferred tax liability

(11.5)

Total liabilities

$

(14.8)

Net assets acquired

$

57.7

The purchase price allocation resulted in the recognition of $25.0 million of goodwill. Goodwill represents the future economic benefits expected
to arise from other intangible assets acquired that do not qualify for separate recognition, including an experienced workforce that will help
accelerate product development and go to market strategy, as well as expected future synergies. The Company allocated the goodwill to its
Connected Fitness segment. None of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.
The Company expects to finalize its purchase price allocation after management has further analyzed and assessed a number of the factors
used in establishing the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date including, but not limited to, the working
capital acquired. The final fair value determination could result in material adjustments to the values presented in the preliminary purchase price
allocation.
Precor Incorporated
On April 1, 2021, the Company acquired the Precor business, which consisted of 15 legal entities ("Precor") from Amer Sports Corporation
("Amer") for a purchase price of approximately $412.0 million, net of cash acquired, which was paid in cash. Upon completion of the transaction,
Precor became wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company. The Company acquired Precor to establish its U.S. manufacturing capacity, boost
research and development capabilities with Precor's highly-skilled team, and accelerate Peloton's penetration of certain commercial markets.
The operating results of Precor have been included in the Company's consolidated statements of operations since the acquisition date. Actual
and pro forma revenue and results of operations for the acquisition have not been presented because they do not have a material impact to the
consolidated revenue and results of operations, either individually or in the aggregate.
The Company recognized $6.0 million of acquisition-related costs that were expensed as incurred during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.
These costs are included in general and administrative expense in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss.
The acquisition was accounted for under the acquisition method in accordance with ASC 805. The following table summarizes the initial
estimate of the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the closing date:
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As of April 1, 2021
(in millions)
Current assets:
Accounts receivable

$

50.2

Inventories

99.1

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

6.5

Total current assets

155.8

Property and equipment

23.8

Intangible assets

180.1

Goodwill

135.0

Operating lease right-of-use assets

20.3

Deferred tax asset

0.9

Other assets

0.7

Total assets

$

516.6

$

(60.1)

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Customer deposits and deferred revenue

(11.5)

Operating lease liabilities, current

(6.2)

Other current liabilities

(2.8)

Total current liabilities

(80.6)

Operating lease liabilities, non-current

(13.6)

Other non-current liabilities

(10.4)

Total liabilities

$

(104.6)

Net assets acquired

$

412.0

The preliminary purchase price allocation resulted in the recognition of $180.1 million in intangible assets and $135.0 million was assigned to
goodwill. Goodwill represents the future economic benefits expected to arise from other intangible assets acquired that do not qualify for
separate recognition, including an experienced workforce and expected future synergies. The Company allocated the goodwill to its Connected
Fitness segment. Of the total goodwill, $83.3 million is deductible for tax purposes.
The following values and useful lives were assigned to the intangible assets acquired:

Brand

Assigned Value

Assigned Useful Life

(in millions)

(years)
94.0

9

Acquired developed technology

$

39.0

7

Distributor relationships

24.0

16

Customer relationships

18.0

10

5.1

6

Service contracts
Total acquired intangible assets

$

180.1

These acquired assets are recorded in Intangible assets, net on the Company's consolidated balance sheets.
The Company expects to finalize its purchase price allocation after management has further analyzed and assessed a number of the factors
used in establishing the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date including, but not limited to, the working
capital acquired. The final fair value determination could result in material adjustments to the values presented in the preliminary purchase price
allocation.
Other business combinations
In addition to the above acquisitions, on April 5, 2021 the Company acquired Latitude 32 Engineering LLC ("Latitude32") for a purchase price of
approximately $8.5 million, all of which was assigned to goodwill, which is fully deductible for tax purposes. Goodwill represents the future
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economic benefits expected to arise from other intangible assets acquired that do not qualify for separate recognition, including an experienced
workforce that will help accelerate product development and go to market strategy, as well as expected future synergies.
Asset Acquisitions
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, the Company completed three separate transactions to acquire certain software, developed
technology, and an assembled workforce for use in the development of the Company's connected fitness products and services, for total net
cash consideration paid of approximately $78.1 million, inclusive of $2.4 million of direct transaction costs. The Company accounted for each
transaction as an asset acquisition in accordance with ASC 805, as each of the acquisitions met the practical screen test.
Total aggregate consideration allocated for the three transactions was $84.0 million, inclusive of the deferred tax liability of $5.9 million. The
Company allocated the consideration based on the relative fair values of the assets acquired in each transaction, resulting in $57.4 million being
allocated to developed software, $22.7 million being allocated to developed technology, and $3.9 million being allocated to the assembled
workforce.
The developed software acquired was assigned a useful life of 5 years, and is recorded in Property and equipment, net. The developed
technology assets acquired were assigned a useful life of 3 years and the assembled workforce was assigned a useful life of 4 years. Both of
these acquired assets are recorded in Intangible assets, net of the Company's consolidated balance sheets.
8. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consisted of the following:
June 30,
2021

2020
(in millions)

Land

$

Buildings
Leasehold Improvements

14.0

$

7.1

22.2

9.2

253.7

115.4

Machinery

31.1

10.1

Equipment

55.4

24.9

Furniture and Fixtures

26.8

9.8

Software

152.6

32.7

Construction in Progress

129.1

97.1

684.9

306.2

(93.0)

(64.0)

(1)

Total property and equipment
Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Total property and equipment, net

$

591.9

$

242.3

_________________________
(1) Includes $108.3 million of software under development as of June 30, 2021

As of June 30, 2021, 78% and 13% of the Company's total property and equipment, net was attributable to the United States and the United
Kingdom, respectively. As of June 30, 2020, 79% and 11% of the Company's total property and equipment, net was attributable to the United
States and the United Kingdom, respectively.
The estimated useful lives of property and equipment are as follows:
Buildings

40 years

Leasehold Improvements

Shorter of remaining lease term or useful life

Machinery

Five to ten years

Equipment

Two to five years

Furniture and Fixtures

Two to ten years

Software

Two to three years

Depreciation and amortization expense amounted to $44.6 million, $35.1 million, and $16.7 million for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021,
2020 and 2019, respectively, of which $8.7 million, $6.8 million, and $3.3 million related to amortization of capitalized software costs for the
fiscal years ended June 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively.
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9. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
The changes in the carrying value of goodwill are as follows:
Amount
(in millions)
June 30, 2019

$

4.3

Acquisition

32.3

Foreign currency translation

2.6

June 30, 2020

39.1

Acquisitions

168.1

Foreign currency translation

2.8

June 30, 2021

$

210.1

The gross carrying amount and accumulated amortization of the Company's intangible assets, net, as of June 30, 2021 were as follows:

Gross Carrying
Value
Acquired developed technology

$

Accumulated
Amortization

130.8

$

Weighted Average
Remaining Useful
Life (Years)

Net Carrying Value

24.8

$

106.0

4.4

Brand

94.0

2.6

91.4

8.7

Distributor relationships

24.0

0.4

23.6

15.7

Customer relationships

18.0

0.5

17.5

9.7

9.3

4.6

Other definite-lived intangibles
Total intangible assets

10.5
$

277.5

1.3
$

29.6

$

247.9

The gross carrying amount and accumulated amortization of the Company's intangible assets, net, as of June 30, 2020 were as follows:

Gross Carrying
Value
Acquired developed technology

$

24.8

$

26.4

Definite-lived intangibles
Total intangible assets

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Carrying Value

$

10.3

$

10.4

1.6

Weighted Average
Remaining Useful
Life (Years)

$

14.5

3.0

1.5

4.7

$

16.0

0.1

The Company recognized intangible asset amortization in the consolidated statements of operations in the amount of $19.2 million, $5.1 million,
and $5.0 million for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively.
As of June 30, 2021, estimated amortization related to the Company's identifiable acquisition-related intangible assets in future periods were as
follows:
Fiscal Year Ending June 30,

Amount
(in millions)

2022

$

42.9

2023

42.6

2024

33.0

2025

29.6

2026

25.5

Thereafter

74.2

Total

$

90

247.9

10. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Accounts payable and accrued expenses consisted of the following:
June 30,
2021

2020
(in millions)

Accounts payable

$

364.4

Inventory received but not billed

134.2

Employee-related liabilities

$

135.8
88.6

107.3

35.1

Accrued music licensing royalties

70.9

37.9

Accrued marketing

59.9

5.8

Return reserve liability

50.2

11.5

Accrued capital expenditures

40.9

14.4

Product warranty

34.2

10.6

Accrued professional services

31.9

4.5

Other

95.2

17.4

Total accounts payable and accrued expenses

$

989.1

$

361.7

11. Leases
The Company leases facilities under operating leases with various expiration dates through 2039. The Company leases space for its corporate
headquarters and the operation of its production studio facilities, showrooms, distribution facilities, warehouses, factories, and other office
spaces.
Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are established on the consolidated balance sheets for leases with an expected term greater than one
year. As the rate implicit in the lease is not determinable, the Company uses its secured incremental borrowing rate to determine the present
value of the lease payments.
Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company recognizes lease expense
for these leases on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The Company has elected to not separate lease and non-lease components.
The Company's lease terms include options to extend or terminate the underlying lease when it is reasonably certain that the Company will
exercise that option. The operating lease arrangements included in the measurement of lease liabilities do not reflect options to extend or
terminate, as management does not consider the exercise of these options to be reasonably certain.
Variable lease payments include, but are not limited to, percentage of sales, common area charges, taxes paid by the landlord that are charged to
the Company, and changes to the consumer price index. Variable lease payments are expensed as incurred.
As of June 30, 2021, the total remaining lease payments included in the measurement of lease liabilities for operating leases were as follows:
Future Minimum
Payments

Fiscal Year Ending June 30,

(in millions)

2022

(1)

$

96.3

2023

98.2

2024

92.3

2025

81.8

2026

76.4

Thereafter

498.9

Total

$

_________________________
(1) Includes $7.0 million in tenant improvement receivable.
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944.0

Supplemental information related to leases was as follows:
Reconciliation of Lease Liabilities

As of June 30,
2021

2020

(dollars in millions)
Weighted-average remaining lease term (years)
Weighted-average discount rate
Total Undiscounted Lease Liability

$

Less: Imputed interest

11.4

12.7

5.35 %

5.84 %

944.0

$

817.3

(261.6)

Total Discounted Lease Liability

$

Current portion of lease liability
Non-current portion of lease liability

(272.1)

682.3

$

545.1

$

61.9

$

36.9

$

620.4

$

508.2

Supplemental cash flow and other information related to leases was as follows:
Cash Paid For Amounts Included In Measurement of Liabilities

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021

2020
(in millions)

Operating cash flows from operating leases

$

47.3

$

45.2

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for operating lease liabilities (non-cash)

$

149.2

$

356.2

For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, total operating lease expense was $122.4 million and $89.9 million, respectively, of which
$17.2 million and $11.8 million was attributable to variable lease expense, and $4.2 million and $1.7 million was attributable to short-term lease
expense, respectively. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, rent expense was $35.8 million.
12. Debt
Convertible Notes and the Indenture
In February 2021, the Company issued $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of 0% Convertible Senior Notes due February 15, 2026 (the
"Notes") in a private offering, including the exercise in full of the over-allotment option granted to the initial purchasers of $125.0 million. The
Notes were issued pursuant to an Indenture (the "Indenture") between the Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee. The Notes
are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and do not bear regular interest, and the principal amount of the Notes does not accrete. The
net proceeds from this offering were approximately $977.2 million, after deducting the initial purchasers' discounts and commissions and the
Company's offering expenses.
Each $1,000 principal amount of the Notes is initially convertible into 4.1800 shares of the Company's Class A Common Stock, which is
equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $239.23 per share. The conversion rate is subject to customary adjustments under
certain circumstances in accordance with the terms of the Indenture. In addition, if certain corporate events that constitute a make-whole
fundamental change occur, then the conversion rate will, in certain circumstances, be increased for a specified period of time.
The Notes will mature on February 15, 2026, unless earlier converted, redeemed, or repurchased. The Notes will be convertible at the option of
the holders at any time prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding August 15, 2025, only under the following
circumstances: (1) during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter ending on June 30, 2021, if the last reported sale price of
the Company’s Class A common stock, par value $0.000025 per share exceeds 130% of the conversion price for each of at least 20 trading days
(whether or not consecutive) during a period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of the immediately
preceding calendar quarter on each applicable trading day; (2) during the five consecutive business day period after any ten consecutive trading
day period (such ten consecutive trading day period, the “measurement period”) in which the trading price (as defined in the Indenture) per
$1,000 principal amount of Notes for each trading day of the measurement period was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale
price per share of the Class A Common Stock on such trading day and the conversion rate on such trading day; (3) if the Company calls such
Notes for redemption, at any time prior to the close of business on the business day immediately preceding the redemption date; (4) upon the
occurrence of specified corporate events or distributions on the Class A Common Stock.
On or after August 15, 2025, until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date, holders
may convert all or any portion of their Notes, in multiples of $1,000 principal amount, at the option of the holder regardless of the foregoing
circumstances. Upon conversion, the Company may satisfy its conversion obligation by paying and/or delivering, as the case may be, cash,
shares of the Class A Common Stock or a combination of cash and shares of the Class A Common Stock, at the Company’s election, in the
manner and subject to the terms and conditions provided in the Indenture. It is the Company's current intent to settle the principal amount of the
Notes with cash.
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The Company may redeem for cash all or any portion of the Notes, at its option, on or after February 20, 2024 and on or before the 20th
scheduled trading day immediately before the maturity date, if the last reported sale price per share of the Class A Common Stock exceeds 130%
of the conversion price then in effect on (1) each of at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during the 30 consecutive trading days
ending on, and including, the trading day immediately preceding the date on which the Company provides notice of redemption and (2) the
trading day immediately before the date the Company sends such notice at a redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the
Notes to be redeemed, plus any accrued and unpaid special interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date. No sinking fund is provided for
the Notes, which means that the Company is not required to redeem or retire the Notes periodically.
Upon the occurrence of a fundamental change (as defined in the Indenture), subject to certain conditions, holders may require the Company to
repurchase all or a portion of the Notes for cash at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the Notes to be repurchased, plus any
accrued and unpaid special interest, if any, to, but excluding, the fundamental change repurchase date.
The Notes are the Company’s senior unsecured obligations and rank senior in right of payment to any of the Company’s existing and future
indebtedness that is expressly subordinated in right of payment to the Notes; equal in right of payment to any of the Company’s existing and
future unsecured indebtedness that is not so subordinated; effectively subordinated in right of payment to any of the Company’s existing and
future secured indebtedness to the extent of the value of the collateral securing such indebtedness; and structurally subordinated to all existing
and future indebtedness and other liabilities of current or future subsidiaries of the Company (including trade payables and to the extent the
Company is not a holder thereof, preferred equity, if any, of the Company's subsidiaries).
In accounting for the issuance of the Notes, the Company separated the Notes into liability and equity components, using an effective interest
rate of 3.69% to determine the fair value of the liability component. The carrying amount of the equity component representing the conversion
option was $163.8 million and was determined by deducting the fair value of the liability component from the initial proceeds ascribed to the
Notes as a whole. The equity component is not remeasured as long as it continues to meet the conditions for equity classification. The excess
of the principal amount of the liability component over its carrying amount ("debt discount") is amortized to interest expense using the effective
interest method over the contractual term of the Notes.
In accounting for the transaction costs related to the Notes, the Company allocated the total amount incurred to the liability and equity
components of the Notes based on the proportion of the proceeds allocated to the debt and equity components. Issuance costs attributable to
the liability component recorded as additional debt discount were $19.0 million and will be amortized to interest expense using the effective
interest method over the contractual terms of the Notes. Issuance costs attributable to the equity component of $3.7 million were netted with
the equity component in stockholders' equity.
The net carrying amount of the liability component of the Notes was as follows:
June 30, 2021
(in millions)
Principal

$

Unamortized debt discount

1,000.0
(152.4)

Unamortized debt issuance costs

(17.8)

Net carrying amount

$

829.8

The net carrying amount of the equity component of the Notes was as follows:
June 30, 2021
(in millions)
Proceeds allocated to the conversion option (debt discount)

$

163.8

Issuance costs

(3.7)

Net carrying amount

$

160.1

The following table sets forth the interest expense recognized related to the Notes:
June 30, 2021
(in millions)
Amortization of debt discount

$

11.5

Amortization of debt issuance costs

$

1.2

Total interest expense related to the Notes

$

12.6

Capped Call Transactions
In connection with the offering of the Notes, the Company entered into privately negotiated capped call transactions with certain counterparties
(the "Capped Call Transactions"). The Capped Call Transactions have an initial strike price of approximately $239.23 per share, subject to
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adjustments, which corresponds to the approximate initial conversion price of the Notes. The cap price of the Capped Call Transactions will
initially be approximately $362.48 per share. The Capped Call Transactions cover, subject to anti-dilution adjustments substantially similar to
those applicable to the Notes, 6.9 million shares of Class A Common Stock. The Capped Call Transactions are expected generally to reduce
potential dilution to the Class A Common Stock upon any conversion of Notes and/or offset any potential cash payments the Company would be
required to make in excess of the principal amount of converted Notes, as the case may be, with such reduction and/or offset subject to a cap
based on the cap price. If, however, the market price per share of Class A Common Stock, as measured under the terms of the Capped Call
Transactions, exceeds the cap price of the Capped Call Transactions, there would be dilution and/or there would not be an offset of such
potential cash payments, in each case, to the extent that the then-market price per share of the Class A Common Stock exceeds the cap price of
the Capped Call Transactions.
For accounting purposes, the Capped Call Transactions are separate transactions, and are not part of the terms of the Notes. The net cost of
$81.3 million incurred to purchase the Capped Call Transactions was recorded as a reduction to Additional paid-in capital on the Company's
consolidated balance sheets.
Amended and Restated Credit Agreement
In 2019, the Company entered into an amended and restated loan and security agreement (“Amended Credit Agreement”). The Amended Credit
Agreement provided for a $250.0 million secured revolving credit facility, including up to the lesser of $150.0 million and the aggregate unused
amount of the facility for the issuance of letters of credit. Interest on the Amended Credit Agreement is paid based on LIBOR plus 2.75% or an
Alternative Base Rate plus 1.75%. The Company is required to pay an annual commitment fee of 0.375% on a quarterly basis based on the
unused portion of the revolving credit facility.
On February 8, 2021, the Company entered into a First Amendment (the “First Amendment”) to the Amended Credit Agreement to revise certain
covenants that restricted the incurrence of indebtedness to permit the Capped Call Transactions and issuance of the Notes.
On March 18, 2021, the Company entered into a Joinder Agreement (the "Joinder") to the Amended Credit Agreement, as amended by the First
Amendment, to provide for an increase of the commitments available under the revolving credit facility by $35.0 million from $250.0 million to
$285.0 million.
During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, the Company incurred total commitment fees of $1.0 million, and $0.9 million,
respectively, which are included in interest expense in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
The outstanding balance, if any, is payable in full in June 2024. As of June 30, 2021, the Company has not drawn on the credit facility and did not
have outstanding borrowings under the Amended Credit Agreement.
In connection with the execution of the Amended Credit Agreement, the Company incurred debt issuance costs of $0.9 million, which are
capitalized and presented as other assets on the Company's consolidated balance sheets. These costs are being amortized to interest expense
using the effective interest method over the term of the Amended Credit Agreement.
The Company has the option to repay its borrowings under the Amended Credit Agreement without premium or penalty prior to maturity. The
Amended Credit Agreement contains customary affirmative covenants, such as financial statement reporting requirements and delivery of
borrowing base certificates, as well as customary covenants that include limitations on the Company's ability to, among other things, incur
additional indebtedness, sell certain assets, guarantee obligations of third parties, declare cash dividends in the entirety or make certain other
distributions, and undergo a merger or consolidation or certain other transactions. The Amended Credit Agreement also contains certain
financial condition covenants, including maintaining a total level of liquidity of not less than $125.0 million and maintaining certain minimum
total revenue ranging from $725.0 million to $1,985.0 million depending on the applicable date of determination. As of June 30, 2021, the
Company was in compliance with the covenants under the Amended Credit Agreement. At June 30, 2021, the Company was contingently liable
for approximately $4.8 million in standby letters of credit as security for an operating lease obligation.
13. Commitments and Contingencies
Commitments
The Company is subject to minimum guarantee royalty payments associated under certain music license agreements.
The following represents the Company's minimum annual guarantee payments under music license agreements for the next three years:
Future Minimum
Payments
(in millions)
2022

$

11.2

2023

14.8

2024

0.8

Total

$

94

26.8

Content Costs for Past Use Reserve
To secure the rights to stream music on the Peloton platform, the Company must obtain licenses from, and pay royalties to, copyright owners of
both sound recordings and musical compositions. The Company has entered into negotiations with various music rights holders, to pay for any
and all uses of musical compositions and sound recordings to date and, at the same time, enter into go-forward license agreements for the use
of music in the future.
Prior to the execution of go-forward music license agreements, the Company estimates and records expenses inclusive of estimated content
costs for past use as well as normal and recurring music royalty expenses. The Company includes both of these components in its reserve. As
of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company recorded reserves of $11.5 million and $25.1 million, respectively, included in Accounts payable and
accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
Product Recall Reserves
On May 5, 2021, the Company announced separate, voluntary recalls of its Tread+ and Tread products in collaboration with the U.S. Consumer
Product Safety Commission ("CPSC") and halted sales of these products to work on product enhancements. As a result of these recalls, the
Company accrued for a reduction to connected fitness products revenue for actual and estimated future returns of $81.1 million for the year
ended June 30, 2021, and a return reserve of $40.8 million is included within Accounts payable and accrued expenses in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets related to the impacts of the recall. The estimated returns reserve is primarily based on historical and expected
product returns. The Company recorded costs in connected fitness products cost of revenue associated with inventory write-downs, logistic
costs, and recall-related hardware development and repair costs of $15.7 million.
Legal and Regulatory Proceedings
The Company is, or may become, a party to legal and regulatory proceedings with respect to a variety of matters in the ordinary course of
business.
Recently, we received reports of a number of injuries associated with our Tread+ product, one of which led to the death of a child. As a result of
the aforementioned injuries associated with these reported Tread+ incidents, in April 2021, the CPSC unilaterally issued a warning to consumers
about the safety hazards associated with the Tread+ and is continuing to investigate the matter. In addition to the CPSC investigation and other
regulatory investigations, we are presently subject to class action litigation and private personal injury claims related to these perceived defects
in the Tread+ and incidents reported to result from its use. On April 20, 2021, purported Peloton Member Shannon Albright filed a putative class
action lawsuit against the Company in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California captioned Albright v. Peloton
Interactive, Inc., Case No. 3:21-02858 (N.D. Cal.) (the "Albright Action"). The Albright Action alleges violations of various California state laws
related to the Tread+ and the matters contained in the CPSC warning, including violation of the Consumer Legal Remedies Act, breach of the
Implied Warranty of Merchantability, and violations of California Business and Professions Code Sections 17200, et seq., and 17500, et seq.
In addition, on April 29, 2021, Ashley Wilson ("Plaintiff Wilson") filed a putative securities class action lawsuit against the Company, our Chief
Executive Officer, and our Chief Financial Officer (collectively, the "Defendants") captioned Wilson v. Peloton Interactive, Inc., et al., Case No.
1:21-cv-02369-CBA-PK, in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York, purportedly on behalf of a class consisting of
those individuals who purchased or otherwise acquired our common stock between September 11, 2020 and April 16, 2021 (the "Wilson Action").
Plaintiff Wilson amended her lawsuit on May 6, 2021 to expand the purported class to those who purchased or acquired our common stock
between September 11, 2020 and May 5, 2021. On May 24, 2021, Leigh Drori (“Plaintiff Drori”) filed a putative securities class action lawsuit
against the Company, our Chief Executive Officer, and our Chief Financial Officer (collectively, the “Defendants”) captioned Drori v. Peloton
Interactive, Inc., et al., Case No. 1:21-cv-02925-CBA-PK, in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York, purportedly on
behalf of a class consisting of those individuals who purchased or otherwise acquired our common stock between September 11, 2020 and May
5, 2021 (the “Drori Action”). The complaints in the Wilson and Drori Actions allege that the Defendants made false and/or misleading statements
in violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. Plaintiffs Wilson and
Drori do not quantify any damages in their complaints but, in addition to attorneys' fees and costs, they seek to recover damages on behalf of
themselves and other persons who purchased or otherwise acquired our stock during the putative class period at allegedly inflated prices and
purportedly suffered financial harm as a result. On June 28, 2021, several purported shareholders filed motions to consolidate the Wilson and
Drori Actions and to be appointed lead plaintiff in the consolidated action. A decision on those motions has not yet been entered.
On May 20, 2021, Alan Chu (“Plaintiff Chu”) filed a verified shareholder derivative action lawsuit purportedly on behalf of the Company against
certain of our executive officers and the members of our board of directors captioned Chu v. Foley, et al., Case No. 1:21-cv-02862-CBA-PK, in the
United States District Court for Eastern District of New York (the “Chu Action”). Plaintiff Chu alleges breaches of fiduciary duties, unjust
enrichment, abuse of control, gross mismanagement, waste, and violations of Section 14(a) of the Exchange Act, as well as a claim for
contribution under Sections 10(b) and 21D of the Exchange Act against our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Plaintiff Chu does
not quantify any alleged damages in the complaint but, in addition to attorneys’ fees and costs, seeks policies and guidelines for our board of
directors, to permit shareholders to appoint at least four members to the board of directors, to ensure the establishment of effective oversight of
compliance with laws, rules, and regulations, and restitution from the individual defendants in the Chu Action. On July 22, 2021, the court granted
the parties’ stipulated extension of time for defendants to respond to Plaintiff Chu’s complaint.
On August 13, 2021, Moshe Genack (“Plaintiff Genack”) filed a verified shareholder derivative action lawsuit purportedly on behalf of the
Company against certain of our executive officers and the members of our board of directors captioned Genack v. Foley, et al., Case No. 1:21cv-04583, in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of New York (the “Genack Action”). Plaintiff Genack alleges breaches of
fiduciary duties, unjust enrichment, abuse of control, gross mismanagement, waste, and violations of Section 14(a) of the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934, as well as a claim for contribution under Sections 10(b) and 21D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 against our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer. Plaintiff Genack does not quantify any alleged damages in the complaint, but in addition to
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attorneys’ fees and costs, seeks return of salaries, restitution, and proceeds from insider stock sales from the individual defendants in the
Genack Action. The Company is vigorously defending this litigation and will likely file a motion to dismiss the anticipated amended complaint.
On August 19, 2021, Xingqi Liu (“Plaintiff Liu”) filed a verified shareholder derivative action lawsuit purportedly on behalf of the Company against
certain of our executive officers and the members of our board of directors captioned Liu v. Foley, et al., Case No. 1:21-cv-04687, in the United
States District Court for the Eastern District of New York (the “Liu Action”). Plaintiff Liu alleges breaches of fiduciary duties and violations of
Section 14(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934. Plaintiff Liu does not quantify any alleged damages in the complaint, but in addition to
attorneys’ fees and costs, seeks reforms and improvements to the Company’s corporate governance and internal procedures to comply with
applicable laws, shareholder input into policies and guidelines of the Board, to permit shareholders to appoint at least four members of the board
of directors, to ensure the establishment of effective oversight of compliance with laws, rules, and regulations, and restitution from the individual
defendants in the Liu Action. The Company is vigorously defending this litigation and will likely file a motion to dismiss the anticipated amended
complaint.
We dispute the allegations in the above-referenced matters, intend to defend the matters vigorously, and believe that the claims are without
merit. Some of our legal and regulatory proceedings, such as the above-referenced matters and litigation that centers around intellectual
property claims, may be based on complex claims involving substantial uncertainties and unascertainable damages. Accordingly, it is not
possible to determine the probability of loss or estimate damages for any of the above matters, and therefore, the Company has not established
reserves for any of these proceedings. When the Company determines that a loss is both probable and reasonably estimable, the Company
records a liability, and, if the liability is material, discloses the amount of the liability reserved. Given that such proceedings are subject to
uncertainty, there can be no assurance that such legal proceedings, either individually or in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect
on our business, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.
14. Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
Common Stock
In August 2019, the Company implemented a dual class common stock structure by reclassifying all existing shares of common stock into Class
B common stock and authorizing a new class of common stock, the Class A common stock. The Class A common stock is entitled to one vote
per share and the Class B common stock is entitled to twenty votes per share. The Class A and Class B common stock have the same dividend
and liquidation rights, and the Class B common stock converts to Class A common stock at any time at the option of the holder, or automatically
upon the date that is the earliest of (i) the date specified by a vote of the holders of 66 2/3% of the then outstanding shares of Class B common
stock, (ii) 10 years from the closing date of the IPO, and (iii) the date that the total number of shares of Class B common stock outstanding
cease to represent at least 1% of all outstanding shares of the Company's common stock. In addition, each share of Class B common stock will
convert automatically into one share of Class A common stock upon any transfer, except for certain transfers described in the Company's
restated certificate of incorporation. Upon the creation of the dual class common stock structure, all outstanding options and the warrant to
purchase common stock became options and a warrant, respectively, to purchase an equivalent number of shares of Class B common stock.
The Board of Directors authorized the issuance of Class A common stock and Class B common stock, each with a par value of $0.000025 per
share. As of June 30, 2021, there were 2,500,000,000 shares of Class A common stock and 2,500,000,000 shares of Class B common stock
authorized and 270,855,356 shares of Class A common stock and 29,291,774 shares of Class B common stock outstanding.
Preferred Stock
Effective September 2019, the Board of Directors authorized the issuance of undesignated preferred stock, with a par value of $0.000025 per
share. As of June 30, 2021, there were 50,000,000 shares of preferred stock authorized and zero shares of preferred stock outstanding.
15. Equity-Based Compensation
2019 Equity Incentive Plan
In August 2019, the Board of Directors adopted the 2019 Plan, which was subsequently approved by the Company’s stockholders in September
2019. The 2019 Plan serves as the successor to the 2015 Stock Plan (the "2015 Plan"). The 2015 Plan continues to govern the terms and
conditions of the outstanding awards previously granted thereunder. Any reserved shares not issued or subject to outstanding grants under the
2015 Plan on the effective date of the 2019 Plan became available for grant under the 2019 Plan and will be issued as Class A common stock.
The number of shares reserved for issuance under the 2019 Plan will increase automatically on July 1 of each of 2020 through 2029 by the
number of shares of the Company’s Class A common stock equal to 5% of the total outstanding shares of all of the Company’s classes of
common stock as of each June 30 immediately preceding the date of increase, or a lesser amount as determined by the Board of Directors. On
July 1, 2020, the number of shares of Class A common stock available for issuance under the 2019 Plan was automatically increased according
to its terms by 14,401,954 shares. As of June 30, 2021, the number of shares of Class A common stock available for future award under the
2019 Plan is 49,545,873.
Stock Options
The following summary sets forth the stock option activity under the 2019 Plan:
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Options Outstanding

Number of
Stock Options
Outstanding — June 30, 2020
Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Term (years)

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price

66,818,860

$

10.57

4,863,406

$

102.36

(12,005,603) $

7.80

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value (in
millions)

8.0 $

3,153.6

$

1,216.6

(1,730,055) $

23.28

Outstanding — June 30, 2021

57,946,608

$

18.47

7.3 $

6,119.2

Vested and Exercisable— June 30, 2021

29,786,574

$

8.38

6.5 $

3,444.6

Unvested option activity is as follows:
Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair
Value

Options
Unvested - June 30, 2020
Granted

39,674,590

$

7.41

4,863,406

$

43.76

(59,430) $

3.17

Early exercised unvested
Vested
Forfeited or expired
Unvested - June 30, 2021

(14,600,175) $

7.41

(1,718,357) $

10.46

28,160,034

13.52

$

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, 1,263,245 shares of common stock were issued upon cashless exercise of 1,888,570 options.
The aggregate intrinsic value of options outstanding and vested and exercisable, were calculated as the difference between the exercise price of
the options and the fair value of the Company’s common stock as of June 30, 2021. The fair value of the common stock is the closing stock
price of the Company's Class A common stock as reported on the Nasdaq Global Select Market. The aggregate intrinsic value of exercised
options was $1,216.6 million, $274.0 million, and $40.2 million for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019, respectively
As part of the 2015 Plan and 2019 Plan (collectively, the "Plans"), the Company issued options to certain key management that vest upon the
achievement of certain performance milestones. During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019, the Company recorded stockbased compensation expense related to the performance-based options of $0.6 million, $5.2 million, and $0.8 million, respectively.
For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019, the weighted-average grant date fair value per option was $43.76, $12.17, and $6.71,
respectively. The fair value of each option was estimated at the grant date using the Black-Scholes method with the following assumptions:
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021
Weighted average risk-free interest rate
Weighted average expected term (in years)
Weighted average expected volatility
Expected dividend yield

2020
0.7 %

1.1 %

2.5 %

6.2

6.2

6.3

43.5 %

44.9 %

45.0 %

—

—

—

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units
The following table summarizes the activity related to the Company's restricted stock and restricted stock units:
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2019

Restricted Stock Units Outstanding
Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair
Value

Number of Awards
Outstanding — June 30, 2020
Granted
Vested and converted to shares
Cancelled
Outstanding — June 30, 2021

616,113

$

32.02

1,787,215

$

104.89

(580,020) $

95.95

(37,362) $

99.63

1,785,946

$

99.43

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
In August 2019, the Board of Directors adopted, and in September 2019, the ESPP, through which eligible employees may purchase shares of the
Company's Class A common stock at a discount through accumulated payroll deductions. The ESPP became effective on the date the
registration statement, in connection with the Company’s IPO, was declared effective by the SEC (the "Effective Date"). The number of shares of
the Company's Class A common stock that will be available for issuance and sale to eligible employees under the ESPP will increase
automatically on the first day of each fiscal year of the Company beginning on July 1, 2020 through 2029, equal to 1% of the total number of
outstanding shares of all classes of the Company's common stock on the immediately preceding June 30, or such lesser number as may be
determined by the Board of Directors or applicable committee in its sole discretion. On July 1, 2020, the number of shares of Class A common
stock available for issuance under the ESPP was automatically increased according to its terms by 2,880,390 shares. As of June 30, 2021, a total
of 7,860,684 shares of Class A common stock are available for sale to employees under the ESPP.
Unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors, each offering period will consist of four six-month purchase periods, provided that the
initial offering period commenced on the Effective Date and will end on August 31, 2021, and the initial purchase period ended February 28, 2020.
Thereafter, each offering period and each purchase period will commence on September 1 and March 1 and end on August 31 and February 28
of each two-year period or each six-month period, respectively, subject to a reset provision. If the closing stock price on the first day of an
offering period is higher than the closing stock price on the last day of any applicable purchase period, participants will be withdrawn from the
ongoing offering period immediately following the purchase of ESPP shares on the purchase date and would automatically be enrolled in the
subsequent offering period ("ESPP reset"), resulting in a modification under ASC 718.
Unless otherwise determined by the Board of Directors, the purchase price for each share of Class A common stock purchased under the ESPP
will be 85% of the lower of the fair market value per share on the first trading day of the applicable offering period or the fair market value per
share on the last trading day of the applicable purchase period.
The Black-Scholes option pricing model assumptions used to calculate the fair value of shares estimated to be purchased at the
commencement of the ESPP offering periods were as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended June
30, 2021
Weighted average risk-free interest rate

0.9%

Weighted average expected term (in years)

1.2

Weighted average expected volatility

62.1%

Expected dividend yield

—

The expected term assumptions were based on each offering period's respective purchase date. The expected volatility was derived from the
blended average of historical stock volatilities of several unrelated public companies that the Company considers to be comparable to its
business over a period equivalent to the expected terms of the stock options and the historical volatility of the Company's stock price. The riskfree rate assumptions were based on the U.S. treasury yield curve in effect at the time of the grants. The dividend yield assumption was zero as
the Company has not historically paid any dividends and does not expect to declare or pay dividends in the foreseeable future.
During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company recorded stock-based compensation expense associated with the ESPP of
$9.5 million and $3.3 million, respectively.
In connection with the offering period which ended on August 31, 2020, employees purchased approximately 216,094 shares of Class A common
stock at a weighted-average price of $23.73 under the ESPP. In connection with the offering period which ended February 28, 2021, employees
purchased approximately 242,697 shares of Class A common stock at a weighted average price of $33.62 under the ESPP. As of June 30, 2021,
total unrecognized compensation cost related to the ESPP was $15.7 million, which will be amortized over a weighted-average remaining period
of 1.3 years.
Stock-Based Compensation Expense
The Company's total stock-based compensation expense was as follows:
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Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021

2020

2019

(in millions)
Cost of revenue
Connected Fitness Products

$

12.6

Subscription

$

25.9

Total cost of revenue
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Research and development
Total stock-based compensation expense

$

3.2 $

0.3

7.5

3.2

38.5

$

10.7

3.5

26.2

$

15.3

8.4

102.1

$

52.4

70.5

27.2

$

10.4

7.1

194.0

$

88.8

89.5

As of June 30, 2021, the Company had $520.1 million of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested stock-based
awards that is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.1 years.
16. Concentration of Credit Risk and Major Customers and Vendors
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash
equivalents. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are maintained with high-quality financial institutions, the compositions and maturities of
which are regularly monitored by management.
For the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021, 2020, and 2019, there were no customers representing greater than 10% of the Company’s total
revenue.
The Company's top two vendors accounted for approximately 46% of inventory purchased for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.
The Company’s top four vendors accounted for approximately 61% and 91% of inventory purchased for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2020 and
2019, respectively.
The Company procures components from a broad group of suppliers. Some of the products manufactured by the Company require one or more
components that are available from only a single source.

17. Income Taxes
The components of loss before income taxes are as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021

2020

2019

(in millions)
United States

$

Foreign

(120.0) $
(78.2)

Loss from operations before income taxes

$

The components of income tax (benefit) expense are as follows:

99

(198.2) $

(15.6) $
(52.8)
(68.4) $

(164.4)
(31.2)
(195.6)

Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021

2020

2019

(in millions)
Current:
Federal

$

—

State

$

—

$

—

0.4

1.2

0.1

11.5

3.0

0.3

11.9

4.2

0.4

(14.1)

—

—

State

(3.2)

—

—

Foreign

(3.8)

(0.9)

(0.3)

(21.1)

(0.9)

(0.3)

Foreign
Deferred:
Federal

Total

$

(9.2) $

3.3

$

0.1

A reconciliation from the U.S. statutory federal income tax rate to the effective income tax rate is as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021

2020

2019

Federal income tax rate

21.0 %

21.0 %

21.0 %

Permanent differences

(0.6)

(1.8)

(4.2)

Share based compensation

99.6

34.2

—

1.5

(3.8)

(0.4)

Effects of rates different than statutory

(1.3)

—

(0.3)

State and local income taxes, net of federal benefit

24.1

8.6

3.0

(1.2)

—

Return to provision

Franchise tax

—

Change in valuation allowance

(65.6)

(21.0)

Rate change

(150.2)
8.0

(0.5)

(0.4)

Federal credits

2.5

4.4

2.3

Other

—

Effective income tax rate

4.6 %

(0.1)

—

(4.8)%

—%

The primary differences from the U.S. statutory rate and the Company’s effective tax rate for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 are due to the
change in valuation allowance, share based compensation including excess tax benefits, state and international taxes. The primary differences
from the U.S. statutory rate and the Company’s effective tax rate for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020 were due to the change in valuation
allowance and permanent differences related to stock compensation. The primary differences from the U.S. statutory rate and the Company’s
effective tax rate for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019 were due to the change in valuation allowance and permanent differences related to
stock compensation.
On March 11, 2021, the American Rescue Plan was enacted, which extends the period companies can claim an Employee Retention Credit,
expands the IRC Section 162(m) limit on deductions for publicly traded companies, and repeals the election that allows US affiliate groups to
allocate interest expense on a worldwide basis, among other provisions. The Company reviewed the provisions of the new law and determined it
has no material impact for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.
On December 21, 2020, Congress passed the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021. The act includes the Taxpayer Certainty and Disaster Tax
Relief Act of 2020 and the COVID-related Tax Relief Act of 2020, both of which extend many credits and other COVID-19 relief, among other
extensions. The Company evaluated the provisions of the Consolidated Appropriations Act, including but not limited to the Employee Retention
Credit extension, the extension for the IRC Section 45S credit for paid family and medical leave, and the provision allowing a full deduction for
certain business meals, and determined that there was no material impact for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.
On March 27, 2020, The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the "CARES Act") was signed into law in the United States. The
CARES Act and related notices include several significant provisions. The Company has utilized the Qualified Improvement Property “QIP”
provision and has correctly filed an accounting method change to capture this, but has determined the CARES Act does not have a material
impact on its financial results for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.
On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act ("TCJA") was signed into law making significant changes to the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended. Changes include, but are not limited to, a federal corporate tax rate decrease from 35% to 21% for tax years beginning after
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December 31, 2017, a one-time transition tax on the mandatory deemed repatriation of foreign earnings, and numerous domestic and
international-related provisions effective in 2018. The Company has estimated its provision for income taxes specifically related to the reduction
of the federal corporate tax rate in accordance with TCJA and guidance available as of the date of this filing and as a result has recorded $18.0
million of income tax expense, which was offset by a corresponding adjustment for the same amount to the Company’s valuation allowance, for
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018.
On December 22, 2017, Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 was issued to address the application of GAAP in situations when a company does not
have the necessary information available, prepared, or analyzed (including computations) in reasonable detail to complete the accounting for
certain income tax effects of TCJA. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, the Company recorded $18.0 million of the income tax expense in
connection with the re-measurement of certain deferred tax assets and liabilities. As of June 30, 2019, the Company has completed the
accounting for all the impacts of the Act with no material changes to the provisional estimate recorded in the prior period.
As of June 30, 2021 and June 30, 2020, the Company’s deferred tax assets were primarily the result of U.S. federal and state net operating
losses (“NOLs”), accruals and reserves, non-qualified stock options, lease liability, §263A UNICAP, and research and development tax credits. A
valuation allowance was maintained on the U.S. and U.K. gross deferred tax asset balances as of June 30, 2021 and 2020. As of each reporting
date, the Company’s management considers new evidence, both positive and negative, that could impact management’s view with regard to
future realization of deferred tax assets. The realization of deferred tax assets was based on the evaluation of current and estimated future
profitability of the operations, reversal of deferred tax liabilities and the likelihood of utilizing tax credit and/or loss carryforwards. As of June 30,
2021 and June 30, 2020, the Company continued to maintain that it is not at the more likely than not standard, wherein deferred taxes will be
realized in the United States and United Kingdom due to the recent history of losses and management’s expectation of continued tax losses.
Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets (liabilities) are
as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021

2020
(in millions)

Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss

$

337.9

$

63.9

Accruals and reserves

45.3

R&D credit

16.1

9.2

3.3

5.3

Non-qualified stock options

39.6

20.8

Restricted stock options

10.9

2.5

Inventory capitalization

23.1

8.8

Accrued legal and professional fees

Lease liability

13.7

150.4

129.6

Deferred revenue

6.0

8.4

Other

2.4

1.1

635.0

263.3

(413.8)

(128.5)

(7.8)

(3.1)

Property and equipment

(48.3)

(10.6)

Intangibles

(14.4)

(2.1)

(125.7)

(116.4)

Total deferred tax assets:
Valuation allowance
Deferred tax liabilities:
Prepaid Expenses

Right-of-use assets
Convertible securities

(18.7)

Other

—

—

Total deferred tax liabilities:

(1.0)

(214.9)

Deferred tax assets, net

$

6.3

(133.2)
$

1.6

As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company had federal NOLs of approximately $1,086.5 million and $191.1 million, respectively, of which $64.8
million will begin to expire in 2036 and the remainder will be carried forward indefinitely. The Company has undergone three ownership changes
on November 30, 2015, April 18, 2017, and February 24, 2020 and its NOLs are subject to a Section 382 limitation. The total NOLs subject to a
382 limitation are $193.8 million as of June 30, 2021. The resulting Section 382 limitations are large enough to avail the Section 382 limited
NOLs by June 30, 2022. Additionally, the Company acquired $16.5 million of NOLs through acquisition, all of which is subject to a 382 limitation.
As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company had state NOLs of approximately $706.2 million and $99.6 million, respectively, which will begin to
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expire at various dates beginning in 2021 if not utilized. As of June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company had foreign NOLs of approximately $274.6
million and $94.2 million, respectively, generated from its operations in the United Kingdom, which will be carried forward indefinitely. As of June
30, 2021 and 2020, the Company had $16.1 million and $9.2 million, respectively, of U.S. research and development credit carryovers that will
begin to expire in 2036.
As of June 30, 2021, the Company did not have material undistributed foreign earnings. The Company has not recorded a deferred tax liability for
foreign withholding or other foreign local tax on the undistributed earnings from the Company’s international subsidiaries as such earnings are
considered to be indefinitely reinvested.
The Company utilizes a two-step approach to recognize and measure unrecognized tax benefits. The first step is to evaluate the tax position for
recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the position will be sustained upon tax
authority examination, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step is to measure the tax benefit as the
largest amount that is more than 50% likely to be realized upon ultimate settlement.
The Company’s policy is to include interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits, if any, within income tax expense (benefit) in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss).
At June 30, 2021 and 2020, the Company had $0.7 million and zero of unrecognized tax benefits, included as a component of income taxes
payable within accrued expenses within the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, respectively. Approximately $0.5 million of the
unrecognized tax benefit would impact the effective tax rate, if recognized. The Company has the following activity relating to unrecognized tax
benefits:
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021

2020
(in millions)

Gross increase - acquired unrecognized tax benefits

$

0.70

$

—

Ending balance

$

0.70

$

—

Although it is possible that unrecognized tax benefits may increase or decrease within the next twelve months due to tax examination changes,
settlement activities, expirations of statute of limitations, or the impact on recognition and measurement considerations related to the results of
published tax cases or other similar activities, we do not anticipate any significant changes to unrecognized tax benefits over the next 12
months.
The Company is subject to taxation in the United States, various state and local jurisdictions, as well as foreign jurisdictions where the Company
conducts business. Accordingly, on a continuing basis, the Company cooperates with taxing authorities for the various jurisdictions in which it
conducts business to comply with audits and inquiries for tax periods that are open to examination. The tax years ended June 30, 2018 and later
remain open to examination by tax authorities in the United States and United Kingdom.
18. Loss Per Share
The computation of loss per share is as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021

2020

2019

(in millions, except share and per share amounts)
Basic loss per share:
Net loss

$

(189.0) $
—

—

(50.1)

$

(189.0) $

(71.6) $

(245.7)

Less: Premium on repurchase of convertible preferred stock
Net loss attributable to common stockholders

(71.6) $

(195.6)

Shares used in computation:
Weighted-average common shares outstanding

293,892,643

Basic loss per share

$

(0.64) $

220,952,237
(0.32) $

22,911,764
(10.72)

Basic and diluted loss per share are the same for each class of common stock because they are entitled to the same liquidation and dividend
rights.

The following potentially dilutive shares were not included in the calculation of diluted shares outstanding as the effect would have been antidilutive:
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Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021
Employee stock options

2020

2019

54,076,445

41,476,591

20,609,654

Restricted stock units and awards

546,687

41,855

—

Shares estimated to be purchased under ESPP

363,741

66,019

—

Warrants

—

—

234,527

Redeemable convertible preferred stock

—

—

210,640,629

The Company expects to settle the principal amount of the Notes in cash upon conversion, and therefore, the Company uses the treasury stock
method for calculating any potential dilutive effect of the conversion option on diluted net income per share, if applicable. The conversion option
will have a dilutive impact on net loss per share of common stock when the average market price per share of the Company's Class A common
stock for a given period exceeds the conversion price of the Notes of $239.23 per share. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, the
weighted average price per share of the Company's Class A common stock was below the conversion price of the Notes.
The denominator for basic loss per share does not include any effect from the Capped Call Transactions the Company entered into concurrently
with the issuance of the Notes as this effect would be anti-dilutive. In the event of conversion of the Notes, if shares are delivered to the
Company under the Capped Call Transactions, they will offset the dilutive effect of the shares that the Company would issue under the Notes.
19. Segment Information
The Company applies ASC 280, Segment Reporting, in determining reportable segments. The Company has two reportable segments: Connected
Fitness Products and Subscription. Segment information is presented in the same manner that the chief operating decision maker ("CODM")
reviews the operating results in assessing performance and allocating resources. The CODM reviews revenue and gross profit for both of the
reportable segments. Gross profit is defined as revenue less cost of revenue incurred by the segment.
No operating segments have been aggregated to form the reportable segments. The Company does not allocate assets at the reportable
segment level as these are managed on an entity wide group basis and, accordingly, the Company does not report asset information by segment.
The Connected Fitness Product segment derives revenue from sale of the Company's portfolio of Connected Fitness Products and related
accessories, delivery and installation services, branded apparel, and extended warranty agreements. The Subscription segment derives revenue
from monthly Subscription fees. There are no internal revenue transactions between the Company’s segments.
Key financial performance measures of the segments including Revenue, Cost of revenue, and Gross profit are as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2021

2020

2019

(in millions)
Connected Fitness Products:
Revenue

$

Cost of revenue

3,149.7

$

2,239.3

Gross profit

$

1,462.2

$

833.5

910.3

$

872.2

$

733.9
427.8

628.8

$

363.7

$

306.2

Subscription:
Revenue

$

Cost of revenue

330.5

Gross profit

$

155.7

181.1
103.7

541.7

$

208.0

$

4,021.8

$

1,825.9

$

77.4

Consolidated:
Revenue

$

Cost of revenue

2,569.8

Gross profit

$

Reconciliation of Gross Profit
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1,452.0

989.1
$

836.7

915.0
531.4

$

383.6

Operating expenditures, interest income and other expense, and taxes are not allocated to individual segments as these are managed on an
entity wide group basis. The reconciliation between reportable Segment Gross Profit to consolidated (loss) income before tax is as follows:
Fiscal Year Ended June 30,
2020

2021

2019

(in millions)
Segment Gross Profit

$

1,452.0

$

836.7

$

383.6

Sales and marketing

(729.7)

(477.0)

(324.0)

General and administrative

(662.4)

(351.6)

(207.0)

Research and development

(247.8)

(89.0)

(54.8)

(10.4)

12.4

6.7

Total other (expense) income, net
Loss before provision for income taxes

$

(198.2) $

(68.4) $

(195.6)

20. Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

Selected summarized quarterly financial information for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 was as follows:
Year ended

Three months ended

Jun. 30, 2021

Jun. 30, 2021

Mar. 31, 2021

Dec. 31, 2020

Sept. 30, 2020

(in millions)
Revenue

$

Gross profit

4,021.8

$

936.9

1,452.0

(Loss) income from operations

(1)

$

1,262.3

$

1,064.8

253.6

444.9

424.8

(13.7)

58.8

$

757.9
328.7

(187.8)

(301.7)

Net (loss) income

$

(189.0) $

(313.2) $

(8.6) $

63.6

$

68.9
69.3

Net (loss) income per share attributable to
common stockholders, basic (2)

$

(0.64) $

(1.05) $

(0.03) $

0.22

$

0.24

Net (loss) income per share attributable to
common stockholders, diluted (2)

$

(0.64) $

(1.05) $

(0.03) $

0.18

$

0.20

___________________
(1)(Loss) from operations for the three months ended June 30, 2021 reflects a $100.0 million unfavorable impact relating to Tread and Tread+ product recalls.
(2) The sum of the (loss) income per share for the four quarters may differ from annual (loss) income per share due to the required method of computing the weighted average shares in
interim periods.

Year ended

Three months ended

Jun. 30, 2020

Jun. 30, 2020

Mar. 31, 2020

Dec. 31, 2019

Sept. 30, 2019

(in millions)
Revenue

$

Gross profit
Income (loss) from operations

(1)

1,825.9

$

607.1

836.7

288.8

$

524.6

$

466.3

$

228.0

245.8

197.1

105.1

(80.8)

90.0

(58.4)

(61.5)

(50.9)

Net income (loss)

$

(71.6) $

89.1

$

(55.6) $

(55.4) $

(49.8)

Net income (loss) per share attributable to
common stockholders, basic (2)

$

(0.32) $

0.31

$

(0.20) $

(0.20) $

(1.29)

Net income (loss) per share attributable to
common stockholders, diluted (2)

$

(0.32) $

0.27

$

(0.20) $

(0.20) $

(1.29)

____________________
(1) Net income from operations for the three months ended June 30, 2020, reflects strong demand due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic coupled with the pause on the majority of
marketing spend.
(2) The sum of the (loss) income per share for the four quarters may differ from annual (loss) income per share due to the required method of computing the weighted average shares in
interim periods.

21. Subsequent Events
Peloton Output Park
On May 24, 2021, the Company announced its plans to build a state-of-the-art manufacturing facility, in Troy Township, Ohio, leveraging highvolume, efficient production across our multiple product lines. On July 26, 2021, the Company purchased approximately 223 acres of land for
approximately $6.2 million.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosures
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Under the supervision of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of June 30, 2021. As described
below, we identified a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting. Solely as a result of this material weakness, our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of June
30, 2021. As permitted by related SEC staff interpretive guidance for newly acquired businesses, the internal control over financial
reporting of Precor, Inc. was excluded from the evaluation of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of June 30,
2021. Precor, Inc., which we acquired in April 2021, represented approximately 12% and 2% of our total assets and revenues,
respectively, as of and for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021.
Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting for the company. With
the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, management conducted an evaluation of the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2021 based on the guidelines established in the Internal
Control—Integrated Framework (2013 framework) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO). We have excluded from the scope of our assessment of internal control over financial reporting the operations and related
assets of Precor, Inc. Precor, Inc. represented approximately 12% and 2% of Peloton's total assets and revenues, respectively, as of and
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. Management identified the material weakness in internal control over financial reporting
described below.
Solely as a result of this material weakness, management has concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was not
effective as of June 30, 2021. The material weakness did not result in any identified material misstatements in the current period
consolidated financial statements, nor in any restatements of consolidated financial statements previously reported by us, and there
were no changes in previously released financial results. We have begun to develop remediation plans for the material weakness,
described below.
The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered
public accounting firm, and as part of the audit, has issued an adverse opinion on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial
reporting as of June 30, 2021, which is included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Material Weakness
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting such that there is a
reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim consolidated financial statements will not be prevented or
detected on a timely basis. Management has concluded that a material weakness existed as of June 30, 2021 with respect to
identification and valuation of inventory:
•

Controls were not effectively designed, documented, and maintained to verify that the existence of all inventories subject to
physical inventory counts were correctly counted, and our process for compiling and communicating inventory data to ensure
accurate reporting in our financial statements was not effective, including inadequate verification for completeness and
accuracy of key reports used to review and monitor inventory balances.

This material weakness did not result in any material misstatement in our financial statements or disclosures. Based on additional
procedures and post-closing review, management concluded that the consolidated financial statements included in this report present
fairly, in all material respects, our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows for the periods presented, in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
In order to remediate this material weakness, we are implementing the following measures:
•
•
•
•

Evaluating the effectiveness of our current cycle count program and controls, including IT general controls over systems
facilitating cycle counts, to automate inventory count and reporting.
Implementing a global inventory count policy and standard operating procedures to ensure consistent communication of the
inventory count process and adherence to these policies at facilities managed by us and third party logistics service providers.
Providing training of standard operating procedures and internal controls to key stakeholders within the supply chain, logistics,
and inventory processes.
Implementing enhanced documentation associated with management review controls and validation of the completeness and
accuracy of key reports used across the inventory process.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange
Act) during the quarter ended June 30, 2021 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting. After June 30, 2021, we began the remediation steps described above.
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Limitations on the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and
procedures or internal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed
and implemented, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. Further, the
design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and the benefits of controls must be considered
relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute
assurance that all control issues within a company are detected. The inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in
decision-making can be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple errors or mistakes. Controls can also be circumvented
by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the controls. Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a
cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and may not be detected.
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Ernst & Young LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm that audited the consolidated financial statements, has issued an
audit report on our internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2021, which is included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.
Item 9B. Other Information
None.
Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections
Not applicable.
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Part III
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Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Governance
The information required by this item will be included in our Proxy Statement for the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed
with the SEC, within 120 days of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 11. Executive Compensation
The information required by this item will be included in our Proxy Statement for the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed
with the SEC, within 120 days of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 12. Securities Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
The information required by this item will be included in our Proxy Statement for the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed
with the SEC, within 120 days of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
The information required by this item will be included in our Proxy Statement for the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed
with the SEC, within 120 days of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, and is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The information required by this item will be included in our Proxy Statement for the 2021 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be filed
with the SEC, within 120 days of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021, and is incorporated herein by reference.

Part IV
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Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:
1.Financial Statements
Our consolidated financial statements are listed in the “Index to Consolidated Financial Statements” under Part II, Item 8, of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.
2.Financial Statement Schedules
All financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not required or are not applicable, or the required information is shown in
our consolidated financial statements or the notes thereto.
3.Exhibits

Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit
Number
2.1

Exhibit Title

Form

File No.

Exhibit

Filing Date

Stock and Asset Purchase Agreement, dated December
21, 2020, by and between Peloton Interactive, Inc. and
Amer Sports Corporation

10-Q

001-39058

2.1

02/04/2021

3.1

Restated Certificate of Incorporation

10-Q

001-39058

3.1

11/06/2019

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws

8-K

001-39058

3.1

04/27/2020

4.1

Form of Class A common stock certificate

S-1/A

333-233482

4.1

09/10/2019

4.2

Fourth Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights
Agreement by and between the Registrant and certain
security holders of the Registrant, dated April 5, 2019

S-1

333-233482

4.2

08/27/2019

4.3

Indenture, dated as of February 11, 2021, between the
Registrant and U.S. Bank National Association, as
trustee

8-K

001-39058

4.1

02/11/2021

4.4

Form of 0.00% Convertible Senior Notes due 2026
(included in Exhibit 4.1)

8-K

001-39058

4.2

02/11/2021

4.5

Description of Class A Common Stock Registered Under 10-K
Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended

001-39058

4.3

09/11/2020

10.1

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between
S-1
Peloton and each of its directors and executive officers.

333-233482

10.1

08/27/2019

10.2†

2015 Stock Plan and forms of award agreements
thereunder

S-1

333-233482

10.2

08/27/2019

10.3†

2019 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of award
agreements thereunder

S-1/A

333-233482

10.3

09/10/2019

109

Filed or
Furnished
Herewith

10.4†

2019 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and form of
subscription agreement thereunder

S-8

333-233941

4.8

09/26/2019

10.5†

Offer Letter by and between John Foley and the
Registrant, dated September 9, 2029

S-1/A

333-233482

10.5

09/10/2019

10.6†

Offer Letter by and between William Lynch and the
Registrant, dated January 28, 2017

S-1/A

333-233482

10.6

09/10/2019

10.7†

Offer Letter by and between Jill Woodworth and the
Registrant, dated December 8, 2017

S-1/A

333-233482

10.7

09/10/2019

10.8†

Offer Letter by and between Thomas Cortese and the
Registrant, dated February 6, 2017

10-K

001-39058

10.8

09/11/2020

10.9†

Severance and Change in Control Plan and form of
participation agreement thereunder

10-K

001-39058

10.9

09/11/2020

10.10

Agreement of Lease by and between the Registrant and S-1/A
Maple West 25th Owner, LLC, dated November 11, 2015,
as amended.

333-233482

10.9

09/10/2019

10.11

Agreement of Lease by and between the Registrant and
CBP 441 Ninth Avenue Owner LLC, dated November 16,
2018.

333-233482

10.10

09/10/2019

10.12

Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement by S-1
and between the Registrant and the Lenders party
thereto, JP Morgan Chase Bank, Bank of America, N.A.,
Barclays Bank PLC, Goldman Sachs Lending Partners
LLC
Sili Capped
V ll Call
B Transaction
k d d J Confirmation
20 2019
Form ofdBase
8-K

333-233482

10.11

08/27/2019

001-39058

10.1

02/11/2021

10.14

Form of Additional Capped Call Transaction
Confirmation

8-K

001-39058

10.2

02/11/2021

10.15

First Amendment to the Amended and Restated
8-K
Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of February 8,
2021, by and among the Registrant, JPMorgan Chase
Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and the other parties
thereto

001-39058

10.3

02/11/2021

10.16

Joinder Agreement, by and between the Registrant,
Citibank, N.A., and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., dated
March 18, 2021

10-Q

001-39058

10.4

05/07/2021

21.1

List of Subsidiaries

S-1

333-233482

21.1

08/27/2019

23.1

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent registered
public accounting firm

10.13

S-1/A

X
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24.1

Power of Attorney (reference is made to the signature
page thereto)

X

31.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to
Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Exchange Act,
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002.

X

31.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to
Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Exchange Act,
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002.

X

32.1*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

X

32.2*

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section
906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

X

101.INS

Inline XBRL Instance Document - the instance document
does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its
XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL
d
Inline
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.

X

Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase
Document.
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase
Document.
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase
Document.
Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
Document.

X

Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted in iXBRL and
contained in Exhibit 101)

X

101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE
104

X

X
X
X

† Indicates a management or compensatory plan or arrangement in which directors or executive officers are eligible to participate.
* The certifications furnished in Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 hereto are deemed to accompany this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are not deemed
“filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liability of that section, nor shall they be deemed incorporated by
reference into any filing under the Securities Act of the Exchange Act.
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Item 16. Form 10-K Summary
None.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
PELOTON INTERACTIVE, INC.

Date: August 26, 2021

By:

/s/ John Foley
John Foley
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below hereby constitutes and appoints John Foley, Jill
Woodworth, and Allen Klingsick and each of them, as his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact, proxies, and agents, each with full power of
substitution, for him or her in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same,
with all exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said
attorneys-in-fact, proxies, and agents full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done
in connection therewith, as fully for all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said
attorneys-in-fact, proxies, and agents, or their or his or her substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, this report has been signed below by the following persons
on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
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Signature

By:

Title

Date

Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief
Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

August 26, 2021

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

August 26, 2021

Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

August 26, 2021

Director

August 26, 2021

Director

August 26, 2021

Director

August 26, 2021

Director

August 26, 2021

/s/ Jay Hoag

Director

August 26, 2021

/s/ William Lynch

Director

August 26, 2021

Director

August 26, 2021

/s/ John Foley

John Foley

By:

/s/ Jill Woodworth

Jill Woodworth

By:

/s/ Allen Klingsick

Allen Klingsick
By:

/s/ Erik Blachford

Erik Blachford
By:

/s/ Karen Boone

Karen Boone
By:

/s/ Jon Callaghan

Jon Callaghan
By:

/s/ Howard Draft

Howard Draft
By:
Jay Hoag
By:

William Lynch

By:

/s/ Pamela Thomas-Graham

Pamela Thomas-Graham
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